JUNIPER NETWORKS INC Form 10-Q March 09, 2007

## UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549 Form 10-Q

(Mark One)

**Table of Contents** 

# QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

## For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2006

OR

## • TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

## Commission file number 0-26339 JUNIPER NETWORKS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

**1194 North Mathilda Avenue Sunnyvale, California 94089** (Address of principal executive offices, (408) 745-2000 (Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

77-0422528

(IRS Employer

Identification No.)

including zip code)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filings requirements for the past 90 days. Yes o No b

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of accelerated filer and large accelerated filer in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large Accelerated Filer b Accelerated Filer o Non-Accelerated Filer o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes o No b

There were approximately 569,234,000 shares of the Company s Common Stock, par value \$0.00001, outstanding as of February 28, 2007.

EXPLANATORY NOTE	3
PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION	4
Item 1. Financial Statements	4
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations	4
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets	5
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	6
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	7
Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	33
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	52
Item 4. Controls and Procedures	52
PART II OTHER INFORMATION	54
Item 1. Legal Proceedings	54
Item 1A. Risk Factors	56
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	65
Item 6. Exhibits	66
SIGNATURES EXHIBIT 31.1 EXHIBIT 31.2 EXHIBIT 32.1 EXHIBIT 32.2	67

## 2

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **EXPLANATORY NOTE**

In this Form 10-Q, we are restating our condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2005, the related consolidated statements of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, and the related consolidated statement of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2005 as a result of an independent stock option investigation commenced by our Board of Directors and Audit Committee. This restatement is more fully described in Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and in Item 2, Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. In our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 to be filed with the SEC (the 2006 Form 10-K ), we are restating our audited consolidated financial statements and related disclosures for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, and our selected consolidated statement of operations and consolidated balance sheet data for the years ended December 31, 2005. In addition, we are restating the unaudited quarterly financial information and financial statements for interim periods of 2005 and unaudited condensed financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2006.

Financial information included in the reports on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q and Form 8-K filed by Juniper Networks prior to August 10, 2006, and the related opinions of its independent registered public accounting firm, and all earnings press releases and similar communications issued by the Company prior to August 10, 2006 should not be relied upon and are superseded in their entirety by this Report and other reports on Form 10-Q and Form 8-K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or after August 10, 2006.

3

## PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

#### Item 1. Financial Statements

## Juniper Networks, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (in thousands, except per share amounts) (unaudited)

	Three Months Ended June 30,				nths Ended ne 30,			
		2006	-	2005 As estated(1)		2006	-	2005 As estated(1)
Net revenues:								
Product	\$	468,790	\$	423,732	\$	942,915	\$	816,012
Service		98,679		69,296		191,268		126,128
Total net revenues		567,469		493,028	1	,134,183		942,140
Cost of revenues:								
Product(2)		139,439		121,502		280,434		234,171
Service(2)		49,484		34,213		93,436		65,470
Total cost of revenues		188,923		155,715		373,870		299,641
Gross margin		378,546		337,313		760,313		642,499
Operating expenses:		11( 000		04.004		220.010		160.050
Research and development(2)		116,222		84,094		229,910		162,950
Sales and marketing(2)		136,001		103,865		265,430		196,696
General and administrative(2)		24,166		15,678		47,265		31,469
Amortization of purchased intangibles	1	23,187		19,909	1	46,408		38,450
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets	1	,283,421		1 000	1	,283,421		1 000
In-process research and development		4 250		1,900		5 751		1,900
Other charges, net		4,350		(6,560)		5,754		(6,560)
Total operating expenses	1	,587,347		218,886	1	,878,188		424,905
Operating (loss) income	(1	,208,801)		118,427	(1	,117,875)		217,594
Interest and other income		23,989		13,418		44,756		24,495
Interest and other expense		(813)		(1,095)		(1,902)		(1,874)
(Loss) income before income taxes	(1	,185,625)		130,750	(1	,075,021)		240,215
Provision for income taxes	× ×	20,831		42,590	× ×	55,672		77,867
Net (loss) income	\$(1	,206,456)	\$	88,160	\$(1	,130,693)	\$	162,348
Net (loss) income per share: Basic	\$	(2.13)	\$	0.16	\$	(2.00)	\$	0.30
Diluted	\$	(2.13)	\$	0.15	\$	(2.00)	\$	0.28

Shares used in computing net (loss) income per share:				
Basic	566,098	546,662	566,013	544,622
Diluted	566,098	592,231	566,013	591,251

(1) See Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Amortization of stock-based compensation relates to the following cost and expense categories by period:

Cost of revenues Product Cost of revenues Service Research and development Sales and marketing General and administrative	\$ 510 1,458 9,407 8,486 3,315	\$ 178 316 2,856 1,585 283	\$ 997 2,854 19,420 16,113 6,857	\$ 367 858 5,584 2,988 607
Total	\$ 23,176	\$ 5,218	\$ 46,241	\$ 10,404

See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

## 4

## Juniper Networks, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands, except par values) (unaudited)

	June 30, 2006	December 31, 2005 As Restated (1)
ASSETS		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents(2)	\$ 1,087,614	\$ 918,401
Short-term investments(2)	548,345	510,364
Accounts receivable, net	250,818	268,907
Deferred tax assets, net	127,840	144,439
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	42,432	46,676
Total current assets	2,057,049	1,888,787
Property and equipment, net	328,953	319,885
Long-term investments(2)	611,663	618,342
Restricted cash	47,196	66,074
Goodwill	3,627,255	4,879,701
Purchased intangible assets, net	217,354	269,920
Long-term deferred tax assets, net	120,964	111,236
Other long-term assets	29,837	29,666
Total assets	\$ 7,040,271	\$ 8,183,611
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 136,614	\$ 165,172
Accrued compensation	92,726	97,738
Accrued warranty	27,841	28,187
Deferred revenue	260,150	213,482
Income taxes payable	61,682	56,360
Other accrued liabilities	84,582	66,462
Total current liabilities	663,595	627,401
Long-term deferred revenue	49,102	39,330
Other long-term liabilities	26,040	28,687
Long-term debt	399,944	399,959
Commitments and contingencies		
Stockholders equity: Convertible preferred stock, \$0.00001 par value; 10,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding Common stock, \$0.00001 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized; 567,098	6	6
and 568,243 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2006 and		

December 31, 2005, respectively		
Additional paid-in capital	7,571,493	7,458,662
Deferred stock compensation		(17,700)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(8,418)	(8,324)
Accumulated deficit	(1,661,491)	(344,410)
Total stockholders equity	5,901,590	7,088,234
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 7,040,271	\$ 8,183,611

 (1) The condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2005 has been restated to reflect the adjustments discussed in Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Total cash, cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments were \$2,247.6 million and \$2,047.1 million as of June 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.

See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

5

## Juniper Networks, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (in thousands) (unaudited)

	Six Months F 2006	Ended June 30, 2005 As		
		Restated(1)		
Operating Activities:	¢ (1 120 602)	¢ 160.240		
Net (loss) income Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash from operating activities:	\$(1,130,693)	\$ 162,348		
Depreciation and amortization	84,992	63,183		
Stock-based compensation	46,241	10,404		
In-process research and development	-10,2-11	1,900		
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets	1,283,421	1,700		
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation	1,203,421	63,732		
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation	(3,789)	05,752		
Other non-cash charges	750	726		
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:	750	720		
Accounts receivable, net	18,558	(13,142)		
Prepaid expenses and other assets	13,261	(13,142) (23,390)		
Accounts payable	(28,847)	2,181		
Accrued compensation	(5,013)	(9,265)		
Accrued warranty	(95)	(2,849)		
Other accrued liabilities	21,236	(22,155)		
Deferred revenue	56,440	66,836		
Defende fevenue	30,440	00,830		
Net cash provided by operating activities	356,462	300,509		
Investing Activities:				
Purchases of property and equipment	(43,415)	(40,637)		
Purchases of available-for-sale investments	(325,760)	(426,810)		
Maturities and sales of available-for-sale investments	292,451	398,859		
Changes in restricted cash	18,878	(7,164)		
Minority equity investments	(3,090)	(968)		
Payment for business acquisitions, net of cash and cash equivalents	(13,063)	(155,256)		
Net cash used in investing activities	(73,999)	(231,976)		
Financing Activities:				
Proceeds from issuance of common stock	69,349	75,346		
Purchases and subsequent retirement of common stock	(186,388)			
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation	3,789			
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities	(113,250)	75,346		
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	169,213	143,879		
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	918,401	713,182		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	,,	, 10,102		

Edgar Filing: JUNIPER NETWORKS INC - F	orm 10-Q	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 1,087,614	\$ 857,061
<b>Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing Activities:</b> Stock options assumed in connection with business combinations	\$	\$ 28,806
<ul> <li>(1) See Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.</li> <li>See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated H 6</li> </ul>	Financial Statements	

## Juniper Networks, Inc. Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)

#### Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

#### **Description of Business**

Juniper Networks, Inc. ( Juniper Networks or the Company ) designs and sells products and services that together provide its customers with Internet Protocol ( IP ) networking solutions. The Company is organized into the following three operating segments: Infrastructure, Service Layer Technologies ( SLT ), and Service. The Company s Infrastructure segment primarily offers scalable router products that are used to control and direct network traffic. The Company s SLT segment offers solutions that meet a broad array of its customers priorities, from securing the network and the data on the network, to maximizing existing bandwidth and acceleration of applications across a distributed network. Together, its secure networking solutions help enable its customers to convert networks that provide commoditized best efforts services into more valuable assets that provide differentiation, value and increased reliability and security to end users. The Company s Service segment delivers world-wide services, including technical support, professional services, as well as a number of education and training programs, to customers of the Infrastructure and SLT segments.

#### **Basis of Presentation**

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. The preparation of the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, including normal recurring accruals, considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ended December 31, 2006. The information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Risk Factors, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk and the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in the Company s 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K (the 2006 Form 10-K ) to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC ).

## Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), *Share-Based Payment*, (SFAS 123R) which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all stock-based awards made to employees and directors including employee stock options, restricted stock units (RSUs) and purchases under the Company s Employee Stock Purchase Plan based on estimated fair values. SFAS 123R supersedes the previous accounting under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees* (APB 25), as allowed under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation* (SFAS 123), for periods beginning in 2006. In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (SAB 107) relating to SFAS 123R. The Company has applied the provisions of SAB 107 in conjunction with its adoption of SFAS 123R.

The Company adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective transition method, which requires the application of the accounting standard as of January 1, 2006, the first day of the Company s fiscal year 2006. The Company s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 reflect the impact of SFAS 123R. In accordance with the modified prospective transition method, the Company s condensed consolidated financial statements for periods prior to 2006 have not been restated to reflect, and do not include, the impact of SFAS 123R.

SFAS 123R requires companies to estimate the fair value of stock-based awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The Company uses the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options under SFAS 123R, consistent with that used for pro forma disclosures under SFAS 123. The fair

value of a RSU is equivalent to the market price of the Company s common stock on the grant date. The value of the portion of the stock-based award that is ultimately expected to vest is

recognized as expense over the requisite service periods, or in the period of grant if the requisite service period has been provided, in the Company s Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Company s consolidated statement of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 included (i) compensation expense for stock-based awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, December 31, 2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123 and (ii) compensation expense for the stock-based awards granted subsequent to December 31, 2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. In conjunction with the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company changed its accounting policy of attributing the fair value of stock-based compensation to expense from the accelerated multiple-option approach provided by APB 25, as allowed under SFAS 123, to the straight-line single-option approach, as allowed under SFAS 123R. Compensation expense for all expected-to-vest stock-based awards that were granted on or prior to December 31, 2005 will continue to be recognized using the accelerated attribution method. Compensation expense for all expected-to-vest stock-based awards that were granted or modified subsequent to December 31, 2005 is recognized on a straight-line basis provided that the amount of compensation cost recognized at any date is no less than the portion of the grant-date value of the award that is vested at that date. SFAS 123R requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. In the Company s stock-based compensation expense required under APB 25 and the pro forma information required under SFAS 123 for the periods prior to 2006, the Company accounted for forfeitures as they occurred.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, stock-based compensation expense was recognized in the Company s consolidated statement of operations under the provisions of APB 25. In accordance with APB 25, no compensation expense was required for the employee stock purchases under the Company s Employee Stock Purchase Plan under APB 25. Stock-based compensation expense of \$5.2 million and \$10.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively, was related to employee stock-based awards and stock options assumed from acquisitions. As a result of adopting SFAS 123R, stock-based compensation expense recorded for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 was \$23.2 million and \$46.2 million, respectively, or \$19.5 million and \$37.7 million higher than which would have been reported had the Company continued to account for stock-based compensation under APB 25. Net income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 was approximately \$13.5 million and \$26.0 million, respectively, lower than that which would have been reported had the Company continued to account for stock-based compensation under APB 25. Unamortized deferred compensation associated with stock options assumed from past acquisitions and employee stock-based awards of \$17.7 million has been reclassified to additional paid-in capital in the Company s condensed consolidated balance sheet upon the adoption of SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006. Additional information is discussed in Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, and Note 6, Stockholders Equity.

In accordance with SFAS 123R, the Company has presented as financing cash flows the tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized for those options beginning in 2006. Tax benefits from employee stock plans of \$3.8 million, which related to tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized, were presented as financing cash flows for the first six months of 2006. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, tax benefits from employee stock plans were presented as operating cash flows.

The following table summarizes the pro forma net income and earnings per share, net of related tax effect, had the Company applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to employee stock benefits (in millions, except per share amounts):

Three	
Months	Six Months
Ended	Ended
June 30,	June 30,
2005	2005
As	As
Restated(1)	Restated(1)

Net income	\$	88.2	\$ 162.3
Add: amortization of deferred stock compensation included in reported net income, net of tax		3.3	6.7
Deduct: total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method, net of tax		(34.3)	(65.0)
Pro forma net income	\$	57.2	\$ 104.0
Basic net income per share:			
As reported	\$	0.16	\$ 0.30
Pro forma	\$ \$	0.10	\$ 0.19
Diluted net income per share:			
As reported	\$	0.15	\$ 0.28
Pro forma	\$	0.10	\$ 0.17
<ul> <li>(1) See Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated</li> <li>Financial Statements, to Condensed</li> <li>Consolidated</li> <li>Financial Statements.</li> </ul>			
0			

#### **Revenue Recognition**

Juniper Networks sells products and services through its direct sales force and through its strategic distribution relationships and value-added resellers. The Company s products are integrated with software that is essential to the functionality of the equipment. Additionally, the Company provides unspecified upgrades and enhancements related to the integrated software through its maintenance contracts for most of its products. Accordingly, the Company accounts for revenue in accordance with Statement of Position No. 97-2, *Software Revenue Recognition*, and all related interpretations. The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery or performance has occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. Evidence of an arrangement generally consists of customer purchase orders and, in certain instances, sales contracts or agreements. Shipping terms and related documents, or written evidence of the product, system or solution is specified by the customer, revenue is deferred until all acceptance criteria have been met. The Company assesses whether the sales price is fixed or determinable based on payment terms and whether the sales price is subject to refund or adjustment. Collectibility is assessed based on the creditworthiness of the customer as determined by credit checks and the customer s payment history to the Company. Accounts receivable are recorded net of allowance for doubtful accounts, estimated customer returns and pricing credits.

For arrangements with multiple elements, the Company allocates revenue to each element using the residual method based on vendor specific objective evidence of fair value of the undelivered items. Under the residual method, the amount of revenue allocated to delivered elements equals the total arrangement consideration less the aggregate fair value of any undelivered elements. Vendor specific objective evidence of fair value is based on the price charged when the element is sold separately.

For sales to direct end-users and value-added resellers, the Company recognizes product revenue upon transfer of title and risk of loss, which is generally upon shipment. For the end-users and value-added resellers, the Company has no significant obligations for future performance such as rights of return or pricing credits. A portion of the Company s sales are made through distributors under agreements allowing for pricing credits and/or rights of return. Product revenue on sales made through these distributors is recognized upon sell-through as reported by the distributors to the Company. Deferred revenue on shipments to distributors reflects the effects of distributor pricing credits and the amount of gross margin expected to be realized upon sell through.

Sales and transfers of financial instruments are accounted for under Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 140, *Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities* (SFAS 140). The Company sells interests in accounts receivables as part of a distributor accounts receivable financing arrangement which was established by the Company with a major financing company. Receivables sold under such arrangements are removed from the balance sheet and the related transaction fees are recorded in the statement of operations at the time they are sold in accordance with SFAS 140. Specifically, the receivables are legally isolated from the Company, the purchasers have the right to pledge or exchange the receivables and the purchasers obtain effective control over the receivables.

The Company records reductions to revenue for estimated product returns and pricing adjustments, such as rebates and price protection, in the same period that the related revenue is recorded. The amount of these reductions is based on historical sales returns and price protection credits, specific criteria included in rebate agreements, and other factors known at the time.

Shipping charges billed to customers are included in product revenue and the related shipping costs are included in cost of product revenues. Costs associated with cooperative advertising programs are estimated and recorded as a reduction of revenue at the time the related sales are recognized.

Services include maintenance, training and professional services. In addition to providing unspecified upgrades and enhancements on a when and if available basis, the Company s maintenance contracts include 24-hour technical support, and hardware repair and replacement parts. Maintenance is offered under renewable contracts. Revenue from maintenance contracts is deferred and recognized ratably over the contractual support period, generally one year. Revenue from training and professional services is recognized as the services are completed or ratably over the contractual period.

## Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identified net assets acquired in a business combination accounted for under the purchase method. Goodwill is not subject to amortization but is assessed annually, or as impairment indicators exist, for impairment by applying a fair-value based test. Goodwill impairment tests could result in further charges to earnings.

Purchased intangibles with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their respective estimated useful lives.

#### Impairment

The Company evaluates goodwill, at a minimum, on an annual basis and whenever events and changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Impairment of goodwill is tested at the reporting unit level by comparing the reporting unit s carrying value, including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit. The fair values of the reporting units are estimated using a combination of the income, or discounted cash flows, approach and the market approach, which utilizes comparable companies data, if any. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value, goodwill is considered impaired and a second step is performed to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any.

The Company evaluates long-lived assets held-for-use for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An asset is considered impaired if its carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted future net cash flow the asset is expected to generate. If an asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair market value. The Company assesses the recoverability of its long-lived and intangible assets by determining whether the unamortized balances can be recovered through undiscounted future net cash flows of the related assets. The amount of impairment, if any, is measured based on projected discounted future net cash flows.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, the Company recognized non-cash impairment charges of \$1,280.0 million relating to goodwill and \$3.4 million relating to intangible assets. Additional information is discussed in Note 3.

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, (FIN 48). FIN 48 applies to all tax positions related to income taxes subject to SFAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, including uncertain tax positions. Under FIN 48 a company will recognize the benefit from a tax position only if it is more-likely-than-not that the position would be sustained upon audit based solely on the technical merits of the tax position. FIN 48 clarifies how a company would measure the income tax benefits from the tax positions that are recognized, provides guidance as to the timing of the de-recognition of previously recognized tax benefits and describes the methods for classifying and disclosing the liabilities within the financial statements for any unrecognized tax benefits. FIN 48 also addresses when a company should record interest and penalties related to tax positions and how the interest and penalties may be classified within the income statement and presented in the balance sheet. Differences between the amounts recognized in the statements of financial position prior to and after the adoption of FIN 48 would be accounted for as a cumulative-effect adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings. The Company is currently evaluating FIN 48 and its possible impacts on the Company s financial statements. Upon adoption, there is a possibility that the cumulative effect would result in an adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings. In addition, the application of FIN 48 may increase the Company s future effective tax rates and its future intra-period effective tax rate volatility. The Company is required to adopt FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of the adoption of FIN 48 on its consolidated financial statements and is not yet in a position to determine such effects.

In September 2006, the SEC Staff published Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 108, *Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements*, (SAB 108). SAB 108 addresses quantifying the financial statement effects of misstatements and considering the effects of prior year uncorrected errors affect on the income statements as well as the balance sheets. SAB 108 does not change the requirements under SAB 99 regarding qualitative considerations in assessing the materiality of misstatements. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006. The Company does not expect any material impact on its financial statements from the adoption of this guidance.

In September 2006, the FASB issued FASB Statement (SFAS) No. 157, *Fair Value Measurement*, (SFAS 157). SFAS 157 provides enhanced guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities. The guidance clarifies the principle for assessing fair value based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability. In support of this principle, the guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those assumptions. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active

markets and the lowest priority to unobservable data such as companies own data. Under this guidance, fair value measurements would be separately disclosed by level within the fair value hierarchy. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating SFAS 157 and expects to adopt this guidance beginning on January 1, 2008.

## Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year balances in order to conform to the current year s presentation.

#### Note 2. Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

#### **Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements**

In this Form 10-Q, Juniper Networks is restating its condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2005, the related consolidated statements of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, and the related consolidated statement of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2005 as a result of an independent stock option investigation commenced by our Board of Directors and Audit Committee. In the Company s 2006 Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 to be filed with the SEC (the 2006 Form 10-K ), the Company is restating its consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders equity, and cash flows for each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. The 2006 Form 10-K will also reflect the restatement of Selected Consolidated Financial Data in Item 6 for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, 2003, and 2002. In addition, we are restating the unaudited quarterly financial information and financial statements for interim periods of 2005, and unaudited condensed financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2006.

Financial information included in the reports on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q and Form 8-K filed by Juniper Networks prior to August 10, 2006, and the related opinions of its independent registered public accounting firm, and all earnings press releases and similar communications issued by the Company, prior to August 10, 2006 should not be relied upon and are superseded in their entirety by this Report and other reports on Form 10-Q and Form 8-K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or after August 10, 2006.

## **Stock Option Investigation**

On May 22, 2006, the Company issued a press release and Form 8-K announcing that it had received a request for information relating to the Company s stock option granting practices from the U.S. Attorney s Office for the Eastern District of New York. In the same press release and Form 8-K, the Company announced that its Board of Directors (the Board ) had directed the Board s Audit Committee, comprised of outside directors, to conduct a review of the Company s stock option granting practices. On May 24, 2006, Company counsel received a letter from the SEC indicating that the SEC was conducting an inquiry regarding Juniper Networks.

The investigation was conducted with the assistance of independent counsel and forensic accountants (collectively the Investigative Team ). The investigation focused on all stock option grants made to all employees, officers, directors and consultants during the period following the Company s initial public offering (IPO) on June 24, 1999 to May 23, 2006 (the relevant period). In addition, the Audit Committee investigation involved testing and analyses of the Company s hiring, termination, leave of absence, grant notification and exercise practices regarding stock options and certain issues regarding grants made before the IPO. The scope of the investigation did not include a review of options granted by companies acquired by Juniper Networks. All of the companies acquired by Juniper Networks, with one exception, were privately held companies. None of the acquisitions were accounted for as a pooling of interests. All of the acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase method as provided by Statement of Financial Standards No. 141, *Business Combinations* and its predecessor Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 16, *Business Combinations*.

Consistent with the accounting literature and recent guidance from the SEC, the Company organized the grants during the relevant period into categories based on grant type and the process by which the grant was finalized. The Company analyzed the evidence from the Audit Committee s investigation related to each category including, but not limited to, physical documents, electronic documents, underlying electronic data about documents, and witness interviews. Based on the relevant facts and circumstances, the Company applied the then appropriate accounting standards to determine, for every grant within each category, the proper measurement date. If the measurement date is not the originally assigned grant date, accounting adjustments were made as required, resulting in stock-based compensation expense and related tax effects.

#### Grants made by the Board of Directors or Compensation Committee to Officers or Directors

The Company has concluded that the measurement dates of several grants to executive officers who were reporting persons as that term is defined under Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (Officers) and members of the Board of Directors made between June 1999 and June 2003 were incorrect. In general, during the relevant period, the Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board made grants to Officers and directors. Grants

were sometimes approved at meetings of these bodies or by action by unanimous written consent. There were several instances in which grants to Officers or directors were given grant dates (and corresponding exercise prices) prior to the date on which formal corporate action making the grant was taken. In general, this appears to have been done to make the grant date coincide with either a specific event, such as the appointment or re-election of a director or with the purported date options were granted to non-Officers. In these cases, the Company has determined that

the correct measurement date is the date on which the Board or Compensation Committee took the action to approve the grant. The Company also identified instances in which grants to Officers were granted effective upon a future event, such as the commencement of employment or closing of an acquisition. In these cases, the Company has determined that the date of the future event is the correct measurement date for such grants. In connection with the application of these measurement principles, and after accounting for forfeitures, the Company has adjusted the measurement of compensation cost for options covering 5.6 million shares of common stock resulting in an incremental stock-based compensation expense of \$80.3 million on a pre-tax basis over the respective awards vesting terms. Juniper Networks CEO, Scott Kriens, received two stock option awards whose measurement dates for financial accounting purposes differ from the recorded grant dates for such awards. However, both options were exchanged and cancelled unexercised in 2001 as part of a company-wide option re-pricing program. Mr. Kriens has not exercised any stock options since 1998, approximately nine months before the Company s IPO.

In addition, there was one other grant to an Officer where approval of such grant was not reflected in minutes of a meeting or an action by unanimous written consent of the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee. For this grant, the measurement date was determined based on the terms of the Officer s offer letter and the date his employment commenced. With respect to that grant, the Company has adjusted the measurement of compensation cost for options covering 1.5 million shares of common stock resulting in an incremental stock-based compensation expense of \$6.5 million on a pre-tax basis over the award s vesting terms after accounting for forfeitures.

## Grants to Non-Officers

The Company has concluded that the measurement dates of a large number of grants to non-Officers during the period between June 1999 and December 2004 were incorrect. The Company s practice has been to grant stock options, except where prohibited, to nearly all full-time employees in connection with joining the Company. To facilitate the granting of options to Juniper Networks rapidly growing workforce, the Board of Directors established a Stock Option Committee to grant options to non-Officer employees. Between June 1999 and June 2003, the dates for a large number of grants made by the Stock Option Committee were chosen with the benefit of hindsight as to the price of the Company s stock, so as to give favorable exercise prices. Moreover, the Stock Option Committee s process for finalizing and documenting these grants was often completed after the originally assigned grant date. Beginning with grants dated June 20, 2003, the Company implemented a number of new procedures and policies regarding the granting of options to non-Officer employees. After that, the pattern of consciously looking back for the most favorable dates for the employees ceased. However, the documentation and written approvals of grant dates still generally trailed the recorded grant dates. Based on all available facts and circumstances, the originally recorded measurement dates for the grants made by the Stock Option Committee during the period from July 1999 through December 2004 can not be relied upon in isolation as the correct measurement dates. In 2005, the Company made additional changes to its procedures. No grants in 2005 and 2006 required new measurement dates.

APB 25 defines the measurement date for determining stock-based compensation expense as the first date on which both (1) the number of shares that an individual employee is entitled to receive and (2) the option or purchase price, are known. Throughout the relevant period, the Company s stock administration department entered the option grant information for grants made by the Stock Option Committee into its Equity Edge stock administration system. This system was used to monitor and administer the Company s stock option program. The data in Equity Edge were sent on a regular basis to designated brokers, allowing grantees to view their options information in their accounts via the Internet.

For grants made by the Stock Option Committee between June 1999 and December 2004, where there is no other reliable objective evidence pointing to an earlier single specific date that the number of shares and the individuals entitled to receive them and the price had become final, the Company has determined the Equity Edge entry date to be the most reliable measurement date for calculating additional stock-based compensation expense under APB 25. Using this measurement date, and after accounting for forfeitures, the Company has adjusted the measurement of compensation cost for options covering 74.2 million shares of common stock resulting in an incremental stock-based compensation expense of \$636.7 million on a pre-tax basis over the respective awards vesting terms.

In many of the cases where the Equity Edge entry date was used as the measurement date, the formal Stock Option Committee granting documentation (consisting of unanimous written consents or minutes and related lists of

recipients, amounts and types of awards) was not created or completed until a later date. Because the awards listed in the formal granting documentation did not differ from the grants entered into Equity Edge, the notice of the awards was made available to employees prior to the creation or completion of the granting documents, and because the completion of the documentation was treated as perfunctory, the Company determined that the Equity Edge entry date was the proper measurement date under APB 25 rather than the date the Stock Option Committee granting documentation was completed.

In a number of cases, there was reliable objective evidence pointing to a single specific date that the number of shares and the individuals entitled to receive them and the price had become final. Such evidence primarily consisted of electronic data indicating

that the granting instrument and schedule were created prior to the Equity Edge entry date. The Company also relied on other evidence such as emails or written agreements to determine the date certain options became final. Such evidence was used to determine the measurement dates for options for which the Company has adjusted the measurement of compensation cost for options covering 27.9 million shares of common stock resulting in an incremental stock-based compensation expense of \$141.2 million on a pre-tax basis over the respective awards vesting terms.

The Company also concluded that there were instances in which clerical errors or omissions regarding the persons to receive an award or the number of options to be granted were corrected after the date of award. In the case of most additions made to correct omissions and other corrections that were not reflected on the grant documentation at the time of the applicable grant date or in documentation existing at the time of grant, the Company has determined that a new measurement date should be established. The Company considered whether certain of such changes or additions should give rise to variable accounting treatment and concluded that such treatment was not appropriate because the grants represented independent decisions or events rather than a continuation or modification of the other grants. The Company believes that the correct measurement date for these grants is the date Stock Administration entered the correction was approved. After accounting for forfeitures, the Company has adjusted the measurement of compensation cost for options covering 1.3 million shares of common stock resulting in an incremental stock-based compensation of \$11.9 million on a pre-tax basis over the respective awards vesting terms.

#### Stock Option Grant Modifications Connected with Terminations or Leaves of Absences and Other

Compensation expense was also recognized as a result of modifications that were made to certain employee option grant awards in connection with certain employees terminations or leaves of absence. Typically such modifications related to extensions of the time employees could exercise options following their termination of employment or that enabled the employee to vest in additional shares in relation to a leave of absence. For example, in connection with reductions in work force in 2001 and 2002, the Company increased the period for affected employees to exercise their options from 30 days to 90 days. The Company has incremental stock-based compensation expense associated with such terminations or leaves of absence of \$20.0 million on a pre-tax basis in the period of modification.

Compensation expense of \$0.2 million on a pre-tax basis was also recognized as a result of non-employee grants to consultants in exchange for services and other matters.

#### Judgment

In light of the significant judgment used in establishing revised measurement dates, alternate approaches to those used by the Company could have resulted in different compensation expense charges than those recorded in the restatement. The Company considered various alternative approaches. For example, in those cases where the formal documentation of a grant was completed after the date the grant was entered in Equity Edge, an alternative measurement date to using the Equity Edge entry date could be the creation date of the documentation. The Company believes that the approaches used by it were the most appropriate under the circumstances.

#### Summary of Stock-Based Compensation Adjustments

The Company adjusted the measurement dates for options covering a total of 110.5 million, or 76%, of the 146.0 million shares of common stock covered by options granted during the relevant period.

The incremental impact on the condensed consolidated statement of operations from recognizing stock-based compensation expense through December 31, 2005 resulting from the investigation is summarized as follows (in millions):

	Pre-Tax	After Tax
Fiscal Year	Expense	Expense
1998	\$	\$
1999	15.3	15.3
2000	283.3	201.6
2001	513.1	488.1
2002	48.0	48.0

2003 2004 2005		19.4 10.9 4.7	8.6 7.5 3.3
Total		\$ 894.7	\$ 772.4
	13		

In addition to the \$894.7 million recognized through fiscal 2005, \$2.1 million of unamortized deferred compensation remained as of December 31, 2005, bringing the total incremental impact from the investigation to approximately \$896.8 million. As required by SFAS 123R which was adopted on January 1, 2006, the unamortized deferred compensation of \$2.1 million has been reclassified to additional paid-in capital, along with the unamortized deferred compensation for stock options assumed from past acquisitions, in the Company s consolidated balance sheet. Beginning in 2006, the incremental amortization resulting from the investigation is included in stock-based compensation expense under the provisions of SFAS 123R. The incremental expense from the restatement of employee stock options is insignificant for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006.

Additionally, the Company has restated the pro forma amortization of deferred stock compensation included in reported net income, net of tax, and total stock-based employee compensation expenses determined under fair value based method, net of tax, under SFAS 123 in Note 1 to reflect the impact of the stock-based compensation expense resulting from the correction of these past stock options grants. The Company also determined that the previously reported pro forma compensation expense for options assumed in a 2004 acquisition was inadvertently based on an incorrect fair value. The amount of pro forma stock-based compensation expense reported in the table below has been revised to reflect the proper fair value for options assumed from the 2004 acquisition. Such adjustment was previously disclosed in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

The following table presents the effect of the related adjustments on the pro forma calculation of the net income and net income per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively (in millions, except per share amounts):

	Three n As previously	nonths	ended Jur	ne 30,	2005	Six mo As previously	onths e	ended June	e 30, 2	2005
	reported	Adiu	stments	re	As stated	reported	Adiı	istments	re	As stated
Net income Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income, net	\$ 89.0	\$	(0.8)	\$	88.2	\$ 164.4	\$	(2.1)	\$	162.3
of tax Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method	2.5		0.8		3.3	4.6		2.1		6.7
for all awards, net of tax	(24.9)		(9.4)		(34.3)	(49.8)		(15.2)		(65.0)
Pro forma net income (loss)	\$ 66.6	\$	(9.4)	\$	57.2	\$ 119.2	\$	(15.2)	\$	104.0
Net income per share basic, as reported	\$ 0.16	\$		\$	0.16	\$ 0.30	\$		\$	0.30
Net income (loss) per share basic, pro forma	\$ 0.12	\$	(0.02)	\$	0.10	\$ 0.21	\$	(0.02)	\$	0.19

Net income per share diluted, as reported	\$ 0.15	\$	\$ 0.15	\$ 0.28	\$	\$ 0.28
Net income (loss) per share diluted, pro forma	\$ 0.11	\$ (0.01)	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.20	\$ (0.03)	\$ 0.17

#### **Other Matters**

After considering all available evidence, primarily the then current 2005 operating projections of future income, which remain appropriate, management has concluded that the previously recorded valuation allowance related to the tax benefit of stock options deductions should have been reversed in the fourth quarter of 2005. Accordingly, the Company decreased the valuation allowance as of December 31, 2005 by \$158.0 million with a corresponding credit to additional paid in capital. The remaining valuation allowance balance of \$40.6 million relates to capital losses that will carry forward to offset future capital gains.

Additionally, the Company misclassified the tax benefit from deductions from stock options assumed in acquisitions. Accordingly, the Company has reduced additional paid-in capital for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 by \$6.0 million and \$18.5 million, respectively, with a corresponding decrease to goodwill. The total reduction to both additional paid-in capital and goodwill as of December 31, 2005 was \$24.5 million.

Because virtually all holders of options issued by the Company were not involved in or aware of the incorrect pricing, the Company intends to take actions to deal with certain adverse tax consequences that may be incurred by the holders of certain incorrectly priced options. The primary adverse tax consequences are that incorrectly priced stock options vesting after December 31, 2004 may subject the option holder to a penalty tax under IRC Section 409A (and, as applicable, similar penalty taxes under California and other state tax laws). The Company expects to incur future charges to resolve the adverse tax consequences of incorrectly priced options.

14

The Company misclassified the losses from the retirement of its treasury shares in fiscal 2004. Accordingly, the Company reduced its retained earnings (accumulated deficit) as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 by \$63.6 million with a corresponding increase to additional paid-in capital.

## **Effects of the Restatement Adjustments**

The following table presents the effect of the restatement adjustments upon the Company s previously reported condensed consolidated statements of operations (in millions):

	As					Six months ended June 30, 2005 As					
	previously Reported (1)	Adjust	ments	re	As stated	previously Reported (1)	Adju	stments	re	As estated	
Net revenues:											
Product	\$ 423.7	\$		\$	423.7	\$816.0	\$		\$	816.0	
Service	69.3				69.3	126.1				126.1	
Total net revenues	493.0				493.0	942.1				942.1	
Cost of revenues:											
Product(2)	121.4		0.1		121.5	234.0		0.2		234.2	
Service(2)	34.1		0.1		34.2	65.2		0.2		65.4	
Total cost of revenues	155.5		0.2		155.7	299.2		0.4		299.6	
Gross margin	337.5		(0.2)		337.3	642.9		(0.4)		642.5	
Operating expenses:											
Research and											
development(2)	83.7		0.4		84.1	161.8		1.1		162.9	
Sales and marketing(2)	103.4		0.5		103.9	195.5		1.2		196.7	
General and											
administrative(2)	15.6		0.1		15.7	31.3		0.2		31.5	
Amortization of purchased											
intangibles	19.9				19.9	38.5				38.5	
In-process research and											
development	1.9				1.9	1.9				1.9	
Other charges	(6.6)				(6.6)	(6.6)				(6.6)	
Total operating expenses	217.9		1.0		218.9	422.4		2.5		424.9	
Operating income	119.6		(1.2)		118.4	220.5		(2.9)		217.6	
Interest and other income	13.4				13.4	24.5				24.5	
Interest and other expense	(1.1)				(1.1)	(1.9)				(1.9)	
Income before income											
taxes	131.9		(1.2)		130.7	243.1		(2.9)		240.2	
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	42.9		(0.4)		42.5	78.7		(0.8)		77.9	
Net income	\$ 89.0	\$	(0.8)	\$	88.2	\$ 164.4	\$	(2.1)	\$	162.3	

Net income per share: Basic	\$ 0.16	\$	\$ 0.16	\$ 0.30	\$	\$ 0.30
Diluted	\$ 0.15	\$	\$ 0.15	\$ 0.28	\$	\$ 0.28
Shares used in computing net income per share: Basic	\$ 546.7	\$	\$ 546.7	\$ 544.6	\$	\$ 544.6
Diluted	\$ 591.1	\$ 1.1	\$ 592.2	\$ 589.9	\$ 1.3	\$ 591.2

(1) Prior period amounts have been reclassified in order to conform to the current year presentation.

(2) Amortization of stock-based compensation included in the following cost and expense categories by period:

Cost of revenues Product Cost of revenues Service Research and development Sales and marketing General and administrative	\$ 0.1 0.2 2.4 1.1 0.2	\$ 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.5 0.1	\$	0.2 0.3 2.8 1.6 0.3	\$ 0.2 0.6 4.4 1.8 0.5	\$ 0.2 0.2 1.1 1.2 0.2	\$ 0.4 0.8 5.5 3.0 0.7
Total	\$ 4.0	\$ 1.2	\$ 15	5.2	\$ 7.5	\$ 2.9	\$ 10.4

The following table presents the effect of the restatement adjustments upon the Company s previously reported condensed consolidated balance sheet (in millions):

	As	December 31, 2005					
	previously reported	Adjustments	As re	stated			
ASSETS							
Current assets:	<b>•</b> • • • • •						
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 918.4	\$	\$	918.4			
Short-term investments	510.4			510.4			
Accounts receivable, net Deferred tax assets, net	268.9 74.1	70.3		268.9 144.4			
	74.1 46.7	70.5	(E)	46.7			
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	40.7			40.7			
Total current assets	1,818.5	70.3		1,888.8			
Property and equipment, net	319.9			319.9			
Long-term investments	618.3			618.3			
Restricted cash	66.1			66.1			
Goodwill	4,904.2	(24.5)	(D)	4,879.7			
Purchased intangible assets, net	269.9			269.9			
Long-term deferred tax assets, net		111.2	(E)	111.2			
Other assets	29.7			29.7			
Total assets	\$ 8,026.6	\$ 157.0	\$	8,183.6			
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY							
Current liabilities:							
Accounts payable	\$ 165.2	\$	\$	165.2			
Accrued compensation	97.7			97.7			
Accrued warranty	28.2			28.2			
Deferred revenue	213.5			213.5			
Income taxes payable	56.4			56.4			
Other accrued liabilities	66.4			66.4			
Total current liabilities	627.4			627.4			
Long-term deferred revenue	39.3			39.3			
Other long-term liabilities	60.2	(31.5)	(E)	28.7			
Long-term debt	400.0			400.0			
Commitments and contingencies							
Stockholders equity: Common stock							
			(A)(B)(C)				
Additional paid-in capital	6,432.0	1,026.6	(D)(E)	7,458.6			
Deferred stock compensation	(15.6)	(2.1)	(C)	(17.7)			
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) gain	(8.3)			(8.3)			
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)	491.6	(836.0)	(A)(B)	(344.4)			

	igar i mig. oortii Ert			
Total stockholders equity		6,899.7	188.5	7,088.2
Total liabilities and stockholder	s equity	\$ 8,026.6	\$ 157.0	\$ 8,183.6
<ul> <li>(A) Includes impact of \$772.4 million, net of tax, increase in additional paid-in capital with corresponding decrease in retained earnings (accumulated deficit) related stock-based compensation from the investigation.</li> </ul>				
<ul> <li>(B) Includes impact of a \$63.6 million increase in additional paid-in capital with a corresponding decrease in retained earnings (accumulated deficit) related to misclassified</li> </ul>				

losses from the retirement of the Company s treasury shares.

(C) Includes impact of \$2.1 million increase in additional paid-in capital with a corresponding

increase in deferred compensation related to unamortized stock-based compensation. (D) Includes impact of \$24.5 million decrease in additional paid-in capital with corresponding decrease in goodwill related to misclassified tax benefit from deductions from stock options assumed in acquisitions. (E) Includes impact \$158.0 million and \$55.0 million increase in additional paid-in capital with a corresponding decrease in the valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets from stock options deductions and on stock-based compensation from the investigation, respectively. Amounts impact current and long-term net deferred tax assets.

The effect of restatement adjustments on each component of stockholders equity at the end of each year is summarized as follows (in millions):

	Common Stock & Additional Paid-In	Defer Stoc	k		umulated	t Impact to ockholders
Fiscal Year	Capital	Compen	sation	D	Deficit	Equity
1998	\$	\$		\$		\$
1999	215.3	(2	200.0)		(15.3)	
2000	479.6	(2	278.0)		(201.6)	
2001	74.9	4	413.2		(488.1)	
2002	21.5		26.5		(48.0)	
2003	(10.6)		19.2		(8.6)	
2004	41.3		11.3		(71.1)	(18.5)
2005	204.6		5.7		(3.3)	207.0
Total	\$ 1,026.6	\$	(2.1)	\$	(836.0)	\$ 188.5

The following table presents the effects of the restatement adjustments on the Company s previously reported condensed consolidated statements of cash flows (in millions):

		onths e	nded June	30, 20	05
	As previously				
	reported	Adju	stments	re	As stated
Operating Activities					
Net Income	\$ 164.4	\$	(2.1)	\$	162.3
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating					
activities:					(2.2
Depreciation and amortization	63.2		• •		63.2
Stock-based compensation	7.4		3.0		10.4
In-process research and development	1.9				1.9
Non-cash portion of debt issuance costs and disposal of property					
and equipments					
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation	64.6		(0.9)		63.7
Other non-cash charges	0.7				0.7
Changes in operation assets and liabilities					
Accounts receivable, net	(13.1)				(13.1)
Prepaid expenses, other current assets and other long-term assets	(23.4)				(23.4)
Accounts payable	2.2				2.2
Accrued compensation	(9.3)				(9.3)
Accrued warranty	(2.8)				(2.8)
Other accrued liabilities	(22.1)				(22.1)
Deferred revenue	66.8				66.8
Net cash provided by operating activities	300.5				300.5

#### **Investing Activities**

in to string i to the string i			
Purchases of property and equipment	(40.6)		(40.6)
Purchases of available-for-sale investments	(426.8)		(426.8)
Maturities and sales of available-for-sale investments	398.9		398.9
Increase in restricted cash	(7.1)		(7.1)
Minority equity investments	(1.0)		(1.0)
Payments for business acquisitions, net of cash and cash			
equivalents	(155.3)		(155.3)
Net cash used in investing activities	(231.9)		(231.9)
Financing Activities			
Proceeds from issuance of common stock	75.3		75.3
Purchases and subsequent retirement of common stock			
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation			
Net cash provided by financing activities	75.3		75.3
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	143.9		143.9
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	713.2		713.2
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 857.1	\$ \$	857.1

## Note 3. Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets

#### Goodwill

The Company allocated the purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values. The excess purchase price over those fair values is recorded as goodwill. The purchase price allocation and goodwill are subject to change due to the release of the amounts held in escrow to secure certain indemnity obligations, additional contingent payments and changes in acquisition related assets and liabilities. Changes in the Company s goodwill are as follows (in millions):

	Three Mont	Six Months Ended June 30,				
	2006	-	2005	2006		2005
		As	Restated		As	Restated
			(1)			(1)
Beginning balance	\$ 4,879.8	\$	4,415.0	\$ 4,879.7	\$	4,409.4
Goodwill acquired during the period			142.5			142.5
Impairment of goodwill	(1,280.0)			(1,280.0)		
Escrow and other additions to existing						
goodwill	27.5			27.6		5.6
Ending balance	\$ 3,627.3	\$	4,557.5	\$ 3,627.3	\$	4,557.5

 See Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, to

## Table of Contents

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of June 30, 2006, the Company concluded that the carrying value of goodwill for the SLT segment was impaired and recorded an impairment charge of \$1,280.0 million which is included in the Company s consolidated statements of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006. The Company made its determination to perform an impairment review in the early May 2006 time frame. A significant portion of the goodwill was initially recorded based on stock prices at the time related merger agreements were executed and announced. The impairment of goodwill was primarily attributable to the decline in the Company s market capitalization that occurred over a period of approximately six months prior to the impairment review and, to a lesser extent, a decrease in the forecasted future cash flows used in the income approach. The first step of the impairment test compared the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value, including the goodwill related to the respective reporting units. At the time the impairment test was performed, the Company determined that it had four reporting units, consisting of Infrastructure and Service which are the same as the respective segments and Security and Application Acceleration which were the two components of the SLT segment at the time of the impairment test. The Company utilized independent external service providers to calculate the fair value of the reporting units using a combination of the market and income approaches. The market approach estimates the fair value of a business based on a comparison of the Company to comparable firms in similar lines of business that are publicly traded or which are part of a public or private transaction. The income approach requires estimates of expected revenue, gross margin and operating expenses in order to discount the sum of future cash flows using each particular reporting unit s weighted average cost of capital. The Company s growth estimates were based on historical data and internal estimates developed as part of its long-term planning process. The Company tested the reasonableness of the inputs and outcomes of its discounted cash flow analysis by comparing these items to available market data. In determining the carrying value of the reporting unit, the Company allocated the fair values of shared tangible net assets to each reporting unit based on revenue. As the fair values of the Security and Application Acceleration reporting units were lower than the allocated book values, the Company performed step two of the goodwill impairment calculation for those two reporting units within the SLT segment.

During the second step of the goodwill impairment review, management estimated the fair value of the Company s tangible and intangible net assets with the assistance of independent external service providers. Identified intangible assets were valued specifically for each reporting unit tested. The difference between the estimated fair value of each reporting unit and the sum of the fair value of the identified net assets results in the residual value of goodwill. Future impairment indicators, including further declines in the Company s market capitalization or changes in forecasted future cash flows, could require additional impairment charges. There was no goodwill impairment during the three and six months ended June 30, 2005.

In the six months ended June 30, 2006 the Company s increased goodwill by \$13.1 million and \$2.0 million related to the resolution of certain indemnity obligations to be paid out of escrow associated with the acquisition of Redline Networks, Inc. (Redline) and Kagoor Networks, Inc. (Kagoor), respectively. Additionally, in the three months ended June 30, 2006, the Company increased goodwill by \$12.4 million related to the resolution of certain indemnity obligations whereby shares of common stock are held in escrow associated with the acquisition of Peribit Networks, Inc. (Peribit). Shares of the Company s common stock held for the Peribit acquisition would be issued at the market value at the time of the escrow settlement. In the six months ended June 30, 2005, the Company adjusted its existing goodwill by \$5.6 million primarily related to the resolution of certain earn-out obligations associated with the acquisition of NetScreen Technologies, Inc. (NetScreen).

Restated year end balances include \$6.0 million and \$18.5 million decreases in goodwill for 2005 and 2004, respectively, related to misclassified tax benefits from deductions from stock options assumed in acquisitions. *Purchased Intangible Assets* 

The following is a summary of the Company s purchased intangibles assets with definite lives (in millions):

	Gross		umulated ortization	Net
As of June 30, 2006:	\$ 270 6	¢	(100.8)	¢ 170 9
Technologies and patents	\$ 379.6	\$	(199.8)	\$ 179.8

Other	68.9	(31.3)	37.6
Total	\$ 448.5	\$ (231.1)	\$217.4
As of December 31, 2005: Technologies and patents Other	\$ 382.4 69.5	\$ (156.3) (25.7)	\$ 226.1 43.8
Total	\$ 451.9	\$ (182.0)	\$ 269.9

In the second quarter ended on June 30, 2006, the Company recorded an impairment charge of \$3.4 million due to a significant decrease in forecasted cash flows associated with its stand-alone session border control (SBC) products.

There were no additions to purchased intangible assets during the three and six months ended June 30, 2006. Amortization expense of purchased intangible assets of \$24.6 million and \$19.9 million were included in operating expenses and cost of product revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$49.1 million and \$38.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The estimated future amortization expense of purchased intangible assets with definite lives for the next five years is as follows (in millions):

Year Ending December 31,	A	nount
2006 (remaining six months)	\$	48.2
2007		91.4
2008		46.2
2009		17.9
2010		4.2
Thereafter		9.5
Total	\$	217.4

#### Note 4. Other Financial Information

#### Investments

The following is a summary of the Company s available-for-sale investments, at fair value (in millions):

	June 30,	As of Do	ecember 31,
	2006		2005
Commercial paper	\$ 9.7	\$	8.0
Government securities	357.1		319.6
Corporate debt securities	697.3		700.7
Asset-backed securities and equity securities	95.1		95.5
Other	0.8		4.9
Total	\$ 1,160.0	\$	1,128.7
Reported as:			
Short-term investments	\$ 548.3	\$	510.4
Long-term investments	611.7		618.3
Total	\$ 1,160.0	\$	1,128.7

### **Restricted Cash**

Restricted cash as of June 30, 2006 consisted of escrow accounts required by certain acquisitions completed in 2005 and the Directors & Officers ( D&O ) trust. Juniper Networks established the D&O trust to secure its indemnification obligations to certain directors and officers arising from their activities as such in the event that the Company does not provide or is financially incapable of providing indemnification. In the first three months of 2006, the Company reduced restricted cash by \$5.9 million as its deposit requirements for standby letters of credits issued for facility leases was removed. During the second quarter of 2006, the Company distributed \$13.1 million of its restricted cash upon the settlement of certain escrow funds associated with the Redline acquisition. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, the Company added \$6.8 million and \$13.2 million to restricted cash for the escrow accounts established in connection with the Kagoor acquisition and the Redline acquisition, respectively.

### Table of Contents

### Minority Equity Investments

As of June 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the carrying values of the Company s minority equity investments in privately held companies of \$16.3 million and \$13.2 million, respectively, were included in other long-term assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, the Company made minority investments of \$3.0 million and \$3.1 million, respectively, in privately-held companies.

### Warranties

As of June 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, warranty reserve was \$35.2 million and \$35.3 million, respectively. Changes in the Company s warranty reserve are as follows (in millions):

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended June 30,				
	,	2006	2	2005	2	2006		2005
Beginning balance	\$	35.8	\$	38.2	\$	35.3	\$	38.9
Provisions made during the period		12.9		5.3		20.5		10.6
Changes in estimates		(1.6)		(0.9)		(3.3)		(1.2)
Actual costs incurred during the period		(11.9)		(6.5)		(17.3)		(12.2)
Ending balance	\$	35.2	\$	36.1	\$	35.2	\$	36.1
Reported as:								
Current	\$	27.8	\$	33.8	\$	27.8	\$	33.8
Non-current		7.4		2.3		7.4		2.3
Ending balance	\$	35.2	\$	36.1	\$	35.2	\$	36.1

# **Deferred** Revenue

Deferred revenue consists of the following (in millions):

		As of		
	June	December 31,		
	30,			
	2006		2005	
Service	\$ 239.8	\$	201.7	
Product	69.5		51.1	
Total	\$ 309.3	\$	252.8	
Reported as:				
Current	\$ 260.2	\$	213.5	
Non-current	49.1		39.3	
Total	\$ 309.3	\$	252.8	

### **Other Charges**

Other charges recognized consist of the following (in millions):

	Three Months Ended June 30,					Six Months Ended June 30,			
	2	006	2	005	2	006	2	2005	
Restructuring charges	\$	0.6	\$	(6.6)	\$	0.6	\$	(6.6)	
Acquisition related charges		1.3				2.7			
Stock option investigation costs		2.5				2.5			

Total

 \$ 4.4
 \$ (6.6)
 \$ 5.8
 \$ (6.6)

### Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges were based on Juniper Networks restructuring plans that were committed to by management. Any changes in the estimates of executing the approved plans will be reflected in the Company s results of operations.

2006 Restructuring Plan. In June 2006, the Company implemented a restructuring plan which provided for a reduction of 33 employees within the Infrastructure segment during the second and third quarters of 2006. Total accrual of \$0.6 million, consisting solely of severance charges, was recognized as restructuring expense in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006. As of June 30, 2006, the Company had related restructuring reserves of \$0.6 million recorded in short-term liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheet.

*Pre-2006 Restructuring Plans.* As of June 30, 2006, the Company had restructuring reserves of \$1.3 million and \$0.6 million pertaining to future facility charges accrued in connection with the discontinuance of the CMTS products and the acquisition of Unisphere Networks, Inc. (Unisphere), respectively. The Company expects to pay out these obligations over the life of the related obligations, which extend through 2009.

#### **Table of Contents**

### Acquisition Related Charges

Acquisition related charges include acquisition related restructuring and bonus expenses. In conjunction with various acquisitions, the Company accrued for acquisition related restructuring charges primarily related to severance and facility charges. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, the Company reversed its existing acquisition related restructuring charges by \$0.2 million in the statements of operations. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, the Company recognized bonus and earn-out compensation expense of \$1.4 million and \$2.8 million, respectively, associated with its acquisitions. As of June 30, 2006, approximately \$5.2 million remained unpaid, of which \$2.2 million was recorded in other long-term liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2005, approximately \$6.9 million remained unpaid, of which \$3.3 million was recorded in other long-term liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheet.

#### Stock Option Investigation Costs

In connection with the stock option investigation, the Company incurred legal and professional fees of \$2.5 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2006. As of June 30, 2006, the investigation was not complete and additional charges were accrued in the remainder of 2006.

#### Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income

Other comprehensive (loss) income consists of the following (in millions):

	Т	hree Months 30,	Six Months Ended June 30,					
		2006		2005 As		2006		2005 As
			Re	stated			Re	estated
Net (loss) income	\$	(1,206.5)	\$	88.2	\$	(1, 130.7)	\$	162.3
Reclassification of net losses on investments realized and included in net income				0.2				0.4
Change in unrealized gains on investments Change in foreign currency translation		(1.0)		2.3		(2.0)		(2.7)
adjustment		1.1		(2.3)		1.9		(2.5)
Total comprehensive (loss) income	\$	(1,206.4)	\$	88.4	\$	(1,130.8)	\$	157.5

#### **Derivatives**

Derivatives used to mitigate transaction gains and losses generated by certain foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are carried at fair value with changes recorded in other expense. Changes in the fair value of these derivatives are largely offset by re-measurement of the underlying assets and liabilities. These foreign exchange forward contracts have maturities between one and two months.

Derivatives used to hedge certain forecasted foreign currency transactions relating to operating expenses are designated as cash flow hedges and have maturities of less than one year. The effective portion of the derivative s gain or loss is initially reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and, upon occurrence of the forecasted transaction, is subsequently reclassified into the consolidated statements of operations line item to which the hedged transaction relates. The Company records any ineffectiveness of the hedging instruments, which was immaterial during the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, in interest and other expense in its condensed consolidated statements of operations.

### Note 5. Net Income per Share

The calculation of basic and diluted net income per share is summarized as follows (in millions, except per share amounts):

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months Ended June 30,			lune 30,
	2006 20 As Re		<b>2005 2006</b> Restated (1)			<b>2005</b> As Restated (1)		
Numerator: Net (loss) income	\$	(1,206.5)	\$	88.2	\$	(1,130.7)	\$	162.3
Denominator: Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding Weighted-average shares subject to repurchase		566.1		546.8 (0.1)		566.0		544.8 (0.2)
Denominator for basic net (loss) income per share Common stock equivalents		566.1		546.7 45.5		566.0		544.6 46.6
Denominator for diluted net income per share		566.1		592.2		566.0		591.2
Consolidated net (loss) income per share: Basic	\$	(2.13)	\$	0.16	\$	(2.00)	\$	0.30
Diluted	\$	(2.13)	\$	0.15	\$	(2.00)	\$	0.28

 See Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 included pre-tax stock-based compensation expense of \$23.2 million and \$46.2 million, respectively. These charges related to employee stock options, RSUs, employee stock purchases under the Company s Employee Stock Purchase Plan and acquisitions reflecting the fair value recognition provisions under SFAS 123R. Net income for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2005 included pre-tax stock-based compensation expense of \$5.2 million and \$10.4 million, respectively, related to employee stock-based compensation and options assumed from past acquisitions. No stock-based compensation expense related to employee stock purchases under the Company s Employee Stock Purchase Plan was included in the results of operations in the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 as the Company adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective

method and, therefore, did not restate its operating results prior to 2006 as if SFAS 123R were applied to the earlier periods. See Note 6 for additional information.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, approximately 85.6 million and 84.0 million common stock equivalents were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect would have been anti-dilutive. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, approximately 27.5 million and 28.0 million common stock equivalents were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect would have been anti-dilutive.

# Note 6. Stockholders Equity

# Stock Repurchase Activities

In July 2004, the Company s Board authorized a stock repurchase program. This program authorized repurchases of up to \$250.0 million of the Company s common stock. During the first six months of 2006, the Company repurchased 10,071,100 common shares at an average price of \$18.51 per share as part of that common stock repurchase program. No shares were repurchased in the second quarter of 2006. As of June 30, 2006, a total of 12,939,700 common shares had been repurchased and retired since the inception of the program, equating to approximately \$250.0 million at an average price of \$18.64 million for the shares of the Company s common stock repurchased during the first six months of 2006 was reflected as a reduction to retained earnings.

# Stock Option Plans

# Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Plan

The Company s Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Plan (the 1996 Plan ) provided for the granting of incentive stock options to employees and non-statutory stock options to employees, directors and consultants. On November 3, 2005, the Board adopted an amendment to the 1996 Plan to add the ability to issue RSUs under the 1996 Plan. RSUs represent an obligation of the Company to issue unrestricted shares of common stock to the grantee only when and to the extent that the vesting criteria of the award are satisfied. In the case of RSUs, vesting criteria can be based on time or other conditions specified by the Board or an authorized committee of the Board. However, until vesting occurs, the grantee is not entitled to any stockholder rights with respect to the unvested shares. The Company had authorized 164,623,039 shares of common stock for issuance under the 1996 Plan. Effective May 18, 2006, additional equity awards under the 1996 Plan have been discontinued and new equity awards are being granted under the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2006 Plan ). Remaining authorized shares under the 1996 Plan that were not subject to outstanding awards as of May 18, 2006 were canceled on May 18, 2006. The 1996 Plan will remain in effect as to outstanding equity awards granted under the plan prior to May 18, 2006.

Under the 1996 Plan, incentive stock options may not be granted at an exercise price less than the fair market value per share of the common stock on the date of grant. The Company has not granted incentive stock options since June 1999. Non-statutory stock options may be granted under the terms of the plan at an exercise price determined by the Board of Directors or a committee

authorized by the Board of Directors. Vesting and exercise provisions were permitted to be determined under the terms of the plan by the Board of Directors, or a committee authorized by the Board. Options granted under the 1996 Plan generally become exercisable over a four-year period beginning on the date of grant and have a maximum term of ten years. Options granted to consultants were in consideration for the fair value of services previously rendered, are not contingent upon future events and were expensed in the period of grant. See Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

The 1996 Plan also provided for the sale of restricted shares of common stock or RSUs to employees and consultants. Shares issued to consultants were for the fair value of services previously rendered and were not contingent upon future events. Shares sold to employees were made pursuant to restricted stock purchase agreements containing provisions established by the Board or a committee authorized by the Board. These provisions give Juniper Networks the right to repurchase the shares at the original sales price upon termination of the employee. This right expires at a rate determined by the Board, generally at the rate of 25% after one year and 2.0833% per month thereafter.

#### 2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan

In July 2000, the Board adopted the Juniper Networks 2000 Non-statutory Stock Option Plan (the 2000 Plan ). The 2000 Plan provided for the granting of non-statutory stock options to employees, directors and consultants. Non-statutory stock options may be granted under the terms of the plan at an exercise price determined by the Board or a committee authorized by the Board. See Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. Vesting and exercise provisions were permitted to be determined under the terms of the plan by the Board or an authorized committee of the Board. Options granted under the 2000 Plan generally become exercisable over a four-year period beginning on the date of grant and have a maximum term of ten years. Options granted to consultants were in consideration for the fair value of services previously rendered, were not contingent upon future events and were expensed in the period of grant. The Company had authorized 90,901,437 shares of common stock for issuance under the 2000 Plan. Effective May 18, 2006, additional equity awards under the 2000 Plan have been discontinued and new equity awards are being granted under the 2006 Plan. Remaining authorized shares under the 2000 Plan that were not subject to outstanding awards as of May 18, 2006 were canceled on May 18, 2006. The 2000 Plan will remain in effect as to outstanding equity awards granted under the plan prior to May 18, 2006.

### 2006 Equity Incentive Plan

On May 18, 2006, the Company s stockholders adopted the 2006 Plan to enable the granting of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, RSUs, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, performance units, deferred stock units or dividend equivalents to the employees and consultants of the Company. The 2006 Plan also provides for the automatic, non-discretionary award of nonstatutory stock options to the Company s non-employee members of the Board (outside directors).

The maximum aggregate number of shares authorized under the 2006 Plan is 64,500,000 shares of common stock, plus the addition of any shares subject to outstanding options under the 1996 Plan and 2000 Plan that subsequently expired unexercised after May 18, 2006 up to a maximum of 75,000,000 additional shares of the common stock. Restricted stock or RSUs with a per share or unit purchase price lower than 100% of market price of the Company s common stock on the day of the grant shall be counted as two and one-tenth shares for every one share. To the extent a 2006 Plan award is settled in cash rather than stock, such cash payment shall not reduce the number of shares available for issuance under the 2006 Plan. No restricted stock, stock appreciation right, performance share, performance unit, deferred stock unit or dividend equivalent has been issued as of June 30, 2006. The Company had issued 1.5 million and 0.1 million of stock options and RSUs, respectively, under the 2006 Plan as of June 30, 2006. In the case of a restricted stock or performance share award, the entire number of shares subject to such award would be issued at the time of grant. Such shares could be subject to vesting provisions based on time or other conditions specified by the Board or an authorized committee of the Board. The Company would have the right to repurchase unvested shares subject to a restricted stock or performance share award if the grantee s service to the Company terminated prior to full vesting of the award. Until repurchased, such unvested shares would be considered outstanding for dividend, voting and other purposes.

Incentive stock options are granted at an exercise price of not less than the fair market value of the Company s common stock on the date such option is granted. The exercise price of an incentive stock option granted to a 10% or greater stockholder may not be less than 110% of the fair market value of the common stock on the grant date. Vesting and exercise provisions are determined by the Board, or an authorized committee of the Board. Stock options granted under the 2006 Plan generally vest and become exercisable over a four year period. Restricted stock, performance shares, RSUs or deferred stock units that vest solely based on continuing employment or provision of services will vest in full no earlier than the three year anniversary of the grant date. In the event vesting is based on factors other than continued future provision of services, such awards will vest in full no earlier than the one year

anniversary of the grant date. Options granted under the 2006 Plan have a maximum term of seven years from the grant date while incentive stock options granted to a 10% or greater stockholder, have a maximum term of five years from the grant date.

The 2006 Plan provides each outside director an automatic grant of an option to purchase 50,000 shares of common stock upon the date on which such individual first becomes an outside director, whether through election by the stockholders of the Company or appointment by the Board to fill a vacancy (the First Option ). In addition, at each of the Company s annual stockholder meetings (i) each outside director who was an outside director on the date of the prior year s annual stockholder meeting shall be automatically granted an option to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock, and (ii) each outside director who was not an outside director on the date of the prior year s annual stockholder meeting a pro-rata portion of the 20,000 shares of the common stock determined by the time elapsed since the individual s First Option grant ( the Annual Option ). The First Option vests monthly over approximately three years from the grant date subject to the outside director s continuous service on the Board. The Annual Option shall vest monthly over approximately one year from the grant date subject to the outside directors have a maximum term of seven years.

#### Plans Assumed Upon Acquisition

In connection with past acquisitions, the Company assumed options and restricted stock under the stock plans of the acquired companies. The Company exchanged those options and restricted stock for Juniper Networks options and, in the case of the options, authorized the appropriate number of shares of common stock for issuance pursuant to those options. During the six months ended June 30, 2006, 333 shares of restricted common stock were repurchased at an average price of \$0.35 per share in connection with employee terminations. No restricted stock was repurchased in the three months ended June 30, 2006. There were 6,291 shares of restricted stock subject to repurchase as of June 30, 2006.

#### Equity Award Activity

In the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, the Company granted 0.3 million and 3.0 million RSUs, respectively, to its employees under the 1996 Plan and the 2006 Plan. Such awards generally vest over a period of three or four years from the date of grant. RSUs do not have the voting rights of common stock and the shares underlying the RSUs are not considered issued and outstanding until vested. The Company expenses the cost of the RSUs, which is determined to be the fair market value of the shares of the Company s common stock at the date of grant, ratably over the period during which the restrictions lapse. In addition to RSUs, the Company granted 3.0 million and 10.0 million employee stock options under the 1996 Plan and the 2006 Plan during the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively. The total grant date fair value was \$23.0 million and \$118.7 million for the RSUs and stock option awards granted during the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively.

The Company's stock award activities and related information as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2006 is summarized as follows:

		Outstanding Options						
					Weighted			
			W	eighted-	Average			
	Shares		A	verage	Remaining			
	Available	Number of	F	Exercise	Contractual	Aggregate		
						Intrinsic		
	For Grant(1)	Shares		Price	Term	Value		
					(In	(In		
	(In thousands)	(In thousands)	(Iı	1 dollars)	years)	thousands)		
Balance at January 1,								
2006	78,478	85,153	\$	17.79				
RSUs granted(4)	(3,087)							
Options granted	(10,049)	10,049		18.25				

RSUs canceled	94				
Options canceled(2)	1,862	(3,093)	16.44		
Options expired(2)	2,264	(2,346)	26.37		
Shares discontinued under	,				
1996 Plan and 2000					
Plan(3)	(70,242)				
Shares authorized under	(70,242)				
	64 500				
2006 Plan	64,500	(0, 200)	7 10		
Options exercised		(8,209)	7.10		
Balance at June 30, 2006	63,820	81,554 \$	18.73	6.8	\$214,738
		·			·
(1) Shares available					
for grant under					
the 1996 Plan,					
the 2000 Plan					
and the 2006					
Plan, as					
applicable.					
applicable.					
(2) Canceled or					
expired options					
under the 1996					
Plan, the 2000					
Plan and the					
stock plans of					
the acquired					
companies are					
no longer					
available for					
future grant					
under such					
plans, except for					
shares subject to					
outstanding					
options under					
the 1996 Plan					
and the 2000					
Plan that					
subsequently					
expired					
unexercised					
after May 18,					
2006, up to a					
maximum of					
75,000,000					
additional					
shares of					
common stock,					
become					
available for					

grant under the 2006 Plan.

- (3) Authorized shares not subject to outstanding awards under the 1996 Plan and the 2000 Plan as of May 18, 2006 were canceled.
- (4) RSUs granted under the 2006 Plan are counted as two and one-tenth shares of common stock for each share subject to such RSU.

The Company s vested or expected-to-vest stock and exercisable options are summarized as follows:

			ghted- erage	Weighted Average Remaining	
	Number of	Exe	ercise	Contractual	Aggregate Intrinsic
	Shares	P	rice	Term (In	Value (In
	(In thousands)	(In d	ollars)	years)	thousands)
Vested or expected-to-vest Options	78,648	\$	18.74	6.8	\$213,223
Exercisable Options	62,697		18.98	6.7	196,142

Aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the Company s closing stock price on the last trading day of the fiscal period, which was \$15.99 as of June 30, 2006, and the exercise price multiplied by the number of related options. The pre-tax intrinsic value of options exercised was \$28.3 million and \$98.7 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively. This intrinsic value represents the difference between the fair market value of the Company s common stock on the date of the exercise and the exercise price of each option.

The following schedule summarizes information about stock options outstanding under all option plans as of June 30, 2006:

		ptions Outstandir /eighted-Average Remaining	•	Exercisable Weighted-	
	Inumber	Contractual	Average Exercise	Number	Average Exercise
Range of Exercise Price	Outstanding (In	Life	Price	Exercisable (In	Price
	thousands)	(In years)	(In dollars)	thousands)	(In dollars)
\$ 0.02 - \$ 5.69	11,524	4.8	\$ 4.14	10,788	\$ 4.25
\$ 5.70 - \$ 10.31	10,939	6.0	9.66	10,261	9.77
\$ 10.54 - \$ 16.39	8,267	6.5	14.96	4,770	14.85
\$ 16.43 - \$ 18.96	10,212	6.9	18.20	1,636	17.82
\$ 19.03 - \$ 22.59	9,728	8.3	21.84	5,525	22.29
\$ 22.97 - \$ 24.02	6,630	9.2	23.51	6,430	23.49
\$ 24.14 - \$ 24.14	9,142	8.2	24.14	9,027	24.14
\$ 24.53 - \$ 29.19	9,032	7.6	26.99	8,180	26.91
\$ 29.93 - \$115.48	6,068	3.5	37.80	6,068	37.80
\$183.06 - \$183.06	12	4.2	183.06	12	183.06
\$ 0.02 - \$183.06	81,554	6.8	\$ 18.73	62,697	\$ 18.98

As of June 30, 2006, the Company had 2.8 million RSUs outstanding which were excluded from the options outstanding balance in the preceding tables.

The following schedule summarizes information about the Company s RSUs as of June 30, 2006:

		Weighted-	
	Weighted-	Average	
	Average	Remaining	Aggregate
	Exercise	Contractual	Intrinsic
Shares	Price	Term	Value

	(In	(In		(In
	thousands)	dollars)	(In years)	thousands)
Outstanding RSUs	2,814		2.2	\$ 44,993
Vested and expected to vest RSUs	2,130		2.1	34,063
None of these RSUs were vested as of June	e 30, 2006, These RSUs h	nave been dedu	cted from the sh	ares available

None of these RSUs were vested as of June 30, 2006. These RSUs have been deducted from the shares available for grant under the Company s stock option plans.

Total fair value of options vested during the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 was \$26.4 million and \$61.5 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2006, approximately \$128.0 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options and RSUs is expected to be vested and recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.8 years and 2.2 years for stock options and RSUs, respectively.

No non-vested restricted stock was granted during the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005. Forfeitures and vesting of the non-vested restricted stock were immaterial during the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005. Total non-vested restricted stock outstanding at June 30, 2006 was immaterial.

### **Employee Stock Purchase Plan**

In April 1999, the Board approved the adoption of Juniper Networks 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the ESPP). The ESPP permits eligible employees to acquire shares of the Company's common stock through periodic payroll deductions of up to 10% of base compensation. Each employee may purchase no more than 6,000 shares in any twelve-month period, and in no event, may an employee purchase more than \$25,000 worth of stock, determined at the fair market value of the shares at the time such option is granted, in one calendar year. The ESPP is implemented in a series of offering periods, each six months in duration, or a shorter period as determined by the Board. The price at which the common stock may be purchased is 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the first day of the applicable offering period or on the last day of the respective offering period. On December 16, 2005, the Board amended the Company's ESPP to eliminate the ability of a participant under the ESPP to increase the rate of his/her payroll deductions during any offering period (as defined in the ESPP). This change was effective beginning with the offering period commencing on February 1, 2006. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, pre-tax compensation expense related to the common stock issued under the ESPP was \$2.6 million and \$5.2 million, respectively. Compensation expense for the ESPP in the same 2005 periods was only required as a footnote disclosure prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R.

## Valuation of Stock-Based Compensation

SFAS No. 123R requires the use of a valuation model to calculate the fair value of stock-based awards. The Company has elected to use the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model, which incorporates various assumptions including volatility, expected term, and risk-free interest rates. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company s common stock over the most recent period commensurate with the estimated expected term of the Company s stock options, adjusted for other relevant factors including implied volatility of market traded options on the Company s common stock. The expected term of an award is based on historical experience and on the terms and conditions of the stock awards granted to employees, as well as the potential effect from options that had not been exercised at the time.

In 2006, the Company began granting stock option awards that have a contractual life of seven years from the date of grant. Prior to 2006, stock option awards generally had a ten year contractual life from the date of grant. As a result, the expected term assumption used in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 reflects the shorter contractual life of the new option awards granted during the period.

The assumptions used and the resulting estimates of weighted-average fair value per share of options granted and for employee stock purchases under the ESPP during those periods are summarized as follows:

	Three Mont	hs Ended June			
		30,	Six Months	Ended June 30,	
	2006	2005	2006	2005	
		As Restated		As Restated	
		(1)		(1)	
Employee Stock Options:					
Dividend yield					
Volatility factor	40.0%	41.0%	38.8%	41.0%	
Risk-free interest rate	5.0%	3.8%	4.7%	3.7%	
Expected life (years)	3.5	4.4	3.5	4.4	
Weighted-average per share fair value of options					
granted during the periods	\$ 5.9	\$ 9.1	\$ 6.3	\$ 9.2	
Employee Stock Purchase Plan:					
Dividend yield					
Volatility factor			33.0%	49.0%	
Risk-free interest rate			3.7%	1.8%	
Expected life (years)			0.5	0.5	
• • ·					

Weighted-average fair value of employee stock purchases during the periods	\$	\$	\$ 5.9	\$ 6.7
Weighted-average per share fair value of RSUs granted during the periods	\$ 17.3	\$	\$18.8	\$
<ul> <li>(1) See Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.</li> </ul>				
			1	
The Company s chief operating decision maker				•
allocate recourses and access norfermanes haved on	financial inform	ation by acta	aming of mucdurate and h	are comercian

allocate resources and assess performance based on financial information by categories of products and by service. The Infrastructure segment includes products from the E-, M- and T-series router product families as well as the circuit-to-packet products and SBC products. Prior to 2006, SBC products were included in the SLT segment which includes security products and

application acceleration reporting units. Beginning in 2007, the Company no longer segregates the two reporting units within the SLT segment. The SLT segment consists primarily of firewall and virtual private network (VPN) systems and appliances, secure sockets layer VPN appliances, intrusion detection and prevention appliances (IDP), application front end platforms, the J-series router product family, Odyssey products and wide area network (WAN) optimization platforms. The Service segment delivers world-wide services to customers of the Infrastructure and the SLT segments.

The primary financial measure used by the management in assessing performance and allocating resources to the segments is management operating income, which includes certain cost of revenues, research and development expenses, sales and marketing expenses, and general and administrative expenses. Direct costs, such as standard costs, research and development, and product marketing expenses, are generally applied to each operating segment. Indirect costs, such as manufacturing overhead and other cost of sales, are allocated based on standard costs. Indirect operating expenses, such as sales, marketing, business development, and general and administrative expenses are generally allocated to each operating segment based on factors including headcount and revenue.

Financial information for each operating segment used by management to make financial decisions and allocate resources is summarized as follows (in millions):

	Three Months Ended June							20	
		30, 2006		<b>2005</b> Restated (1)		Six Months E 2006		<b>2005</b> Restated (1)	
Net Revenues: Infrastructure Service Layer Technologies Service	\$	352.2 116.6 98.7	\$	331.8 91.9 69.3	\$	715.2 227.7 191.3	\$	635.9 180.1 126.1	
Total net revenues	\$	567.5	\$	493.0	\$	1,134.2	\$	942.1	
Operating (loss) income: Management operating income (loss): Infrastructure Service Layer Technologies Service	\$	107.8 (4.2) 23.2	\$	117.4 3.8 17.6	\$	226.8 (8.0) 47.8	\$	224.6 7.6 29.5	
Total management operating income Amortization of purchased intangible assets (2) Stock-based compensation expense In-process research and development Impairment of goodwill and intangibles Other charges, net (3)		126.8 (24.6) (23.2) (1,283.4) (4.4)		138.8 (19.9) (5.2) (1.9) 6.6		266.6 (49.1) (46.2) (1,283.4) (5.8)		261.7 (38.4) (10.4) (1.9) 6.6	
Total operating (loss) income Interest and other income Interest and other expense		(1,208.8) 24.0 (0.8)		118.4 13.4 (1.1)		(1,117.9) 44.8 (1.9)		217.6 24.5 (1.9)	
(Loss) income before income taxes	\$	(1,185.6)	\$	130.7	\$	(1,075.0)	\$	240.2	

 Stock-based compensation expense for the 2005 periods has been restated as a result of the stock option investigation. In addition, prior period amounts have been reclassified to reflect the reorganization of certain research and development activities and changes in allocation methodologies.

(2) Amount

includes amortization expense of purchased intangible assets in operating expenses and in costs of revenues.

(3) Other expense for 2006 and 2005 includes charges such as restructuring, and acquisition related charges.

The Company attributes sales to geographic region based on the customer s ship-to location. The following table shows net revenue by geographic region (in millions):

	Three Months Ended June 30,					Six Months Ended June 30,			
	2006		2005		2006		2005		
Americas:									
United States	\$	239.6	\$	203.4	\$	480.8	\$	389.0	
Other		24.2		25.5		43.0		33.9	
Total Americas		263.8		228.9		523.8		422.9	
Europe, Middle East and Africa		192.5		139.4		394.4		254.7	
Asia Pacific:									
Japan		31.6		64.8		81.3		117.4	
Other		79.6		59.9		134.7		147.1	
Total Asia Pacific		111.2		124.7		216.0		264.5	
Total	\$	567.5	\$	493.0	\$	1,134.2	\$	942.1	

Siemens AG and Verizon Communications, Inc. individually accounted for 15% and 10% of the Company s net revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2006, respectively. Siemens individually accounted for 15% of the Company s net revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2006, and 15% and 14% of the Company s net revenues for

the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively. The revenue attributed to Siemens was derived from the sale of products and services in all three operating segments. The revenue attributed to Verizon was derived from the sale of infrastructure products and services.

The Company tracks assets by physical location. The majority of the Company s assets, including property and equipment, were attributable to its U.S. operations as of June 30, 2006 and 2005. The CODM does not review asset information on a segment basis in order to assess performance and allocate resources. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those applied to the consolidated financial statements.

#### Note 8. Income Taxes

The Company recorded tax provisions of \$20.8 million and \$42.6 million (restated) for the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, or effective tax rates of -2% and 33% respectively. The Company recorded tax provisions of \$55.7 million and \$77.9 million (restated) for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, or effective tax rates of -5% and 32%, respectively. The 2006 rates differ from the federal statutory rate as well as from the rates used in 2005 primarily due to the inability to benefit from a substantial portion of the goodwill impairment charge recorded in the second quarter of 2006. The Company s income taxes currently payable for federal and state purposes have been reduced by the tax benefit from employee stock option transactions. These benefits totaled \$8.4 million for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 and were reflected as an increase to additional paid-in capital. See Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

### Note 9. Commitments and Contingencies

### **Commitments**

The following table summarizes the Company s principal contractual obligations as of June 30, 2006 (in millions):

Total	Total 2006		2007 2008		2010	Thereafte	
\$ 188.6	\$ 19.9	\$38.2	\$ 30.7	\$24.8	\$22.8	\$	52.2
399.9			399.9				
199.4	199.4						
29.4	14.1	15.3					
\$ 817.3	\$ 233.4	\$ 53.5	\$ 430.6	\$24.8	\$22.8	\$	52.2
	\$ 188.6 399.9 199.4 29.4	\$ 188.6 \$ 19.9 399.9 199.4 199.4 29.4 14.1	\$ 188.6 \$ 19.9 \$ 38.2 399.9 199.4 199.4 29.4 14.1 15.3	\$ 188.6       \$ 19.9       \$ 38.2       \$ 30.7         399.9       399.9       399.9         199.4       199.4       15.3	\$ 188.6       \$ 19.9       \$ 38.2       \$ 30.7       \$ 24.8         399.9       399.9       399.9         199.4       199.4       29.4       14.1       15.3	\$ 188.6       \$ 19.9       \$ 38.2       \$ 30.7       \$ 24.8       \$ 22.8         399.9       399.9       399.9         199.4       199.4         29.4       14.1       15.3	\$ 188.6 \$ 19.9 \$ 38.2 \$ 30.7 \$ 24.8 \$ 22.8 \$ 399.9 399.9 199.4 199.4 29.4 14.1 15.3

### **Operating Leases**

Juniper Networks leases its facilities under operating leases that expire at various times, the longest of which expires in 2016. Rent and related expenses paid to a related party was \$1.5 million and \$1.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$2.6 million and \$2.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

### Senior Notes

As of June 30, 2006, the Company s Zero Coupon Convertible Senior Notes (Senior Notes), due on June 15, 2008, had a carrying value of \$399.9 million. Due to the stock option investigation, the Company did not file its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006 by the respective due dates. The Company received a Notice of Default on August 25, 2006 from the Trustee of the Senior Notes alleging that the Company was in violation of certain provisions of the Indenture relating to the Senior Notes as a result of its failure to file and was given a 60-day cure period to file its quarterly reports. The holders of the Senior Notes may have had the right to accelerate the Senior Notes by sending the Company a valid Notice of Acceleration in accordance with the terms of the Indenture so long as the Event of Default was continuing. As of the filing of this report, the Company had not received a Notice of Acceleration. Upon the filing of the Company s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006 the alleged default and Event of Default relating to the late filings of these reports is no longer continuing.

# **Purchase Commitments**

The Company does not have firm purchase commitments with its contract manufacturers. In order to reduce manufacturing lead times and ensure adequate component supply, the contract manufacturers place non-cancelable, non-returnable (NCNR) orders, which were valued at \$199.4 million as of June 30, 2006, based on the Company s build forecasts. The Company does not take ownership of the components and the NCNR orders do not represent firm purchase commitments pursuant to Juniper Networks agreements with the contract manufacturers. The components are used by the contract manufacturers to build products based on purchase orders the Company has received from its customers or its forecast. The Company may incur a liability for products built by the contract manufacturer if the components go unused for specified periods of time and, in the meantime, the Company may be assessed carrying

charges. As of June 30, 2006, the Company had accrued \$22.1 million included in other accrued liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheet based on its estimate of such charges.

### **Other Contractual Obligations**

As of June 30, 2006, other contractual obligations consisted primarily of the escrow amount of \$21.2 million in connection with past acquisitions to secure certain indemnity obligations expiring between July 2006 and June 2007. Earn-out and bonus obligations of \$8.2 million will be payable to certain employees of acquired companies through the fourth quarter of 2007 and recorded as compensation expense ratably over the periods in which the payouts are measured. As of June 30, 2006, the Company had accrued \$3.9 million for such earn-out and bonus obligations in its current and non-current liabilities on its condensed consolidated balance sheet.

In addition, the 1.6 million shares of the Company s common stock with a fair value of \$35.2 million, established as of the acquisition date, held in escrow to secure certain indemnity obligations associated with the Peribit acquisition are not included in the commitments summarized in the preceding table. One-half of the indemnity obligations expired in July 2006 and the remaining one-half expired in January 2007. The release of common shares will be recorded at the current market value upon settlement of the escrow.

# Legal Proceedings

The Company is subject to legal claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business, such as employment or intellectual property claims, including, but not limited to, the matters described below. The outcome of any such matters is currently not determinable. Although the Company does not expect that any such legal claims or litigation will ultimately have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position or results of operations, an adverse result in one or more matters could negatively affect the Company s results in the period in which they occur.

# Stock Option Lawsuits

### Federal Derivative Lawsuits

Between May 24, 2006 and August 17, 2006, seven purported shareholder derivative actions were filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California against the Company and certain of the Company s current and former officers and directors. The lawsuits allege that the Company s officers and directors either participated in illegal back-dating of stock option grants or allowed it to happen. The lawsuits assert causes of action for violations of federal securities laws, violations of California securities laws, breaches of fiduciary duty, aiding and abetting breaches of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, corporate waste, breach of contract, unjust enrichment, gross mismanagement, insider selling and constructive fraud. The actions also demand an accounting and rescission of allegedly improper stock option grants. On October 19, 2006, the Court ordered the consolidation of these actions as *In Re Juniper Derivative Actions*, No. 06-03396, and appointed as the lead plaintiffs Timothy Hill, Employer-Teamsters Local Nos. 175 & 505 Pension Trust Fund, and Indiana State District Council of Laborers and HOD Carriers Pension Fund. The Court ordered lead plaintiffs to file a consolidated complaint no later than January 12, 2007. On February 14, 2007, the parties agreed to extend the deadline for plaintiffs to file a consolidated complaint until thirty days after the Company completes the filing of its restated financial statements with the Securities Exchange Commission and the court approved the stipulation on February 15, 2007.

### State Derivative Lawsuits California

On May 24, 2006 and June 2, 2006, two purported shareholder derivative actions were filed in the Santa Clara County Superior Court in the State of California against the Company and certain of the Company s current and former officers and directors. These two actions were consolidated as *In re Juniper Networks Derivative Litigation*, No. 1:06CV064294, by order dated June 20, 2006. A consolidated complaint was filed on July 17, 2006. The consolidated complaint alleges that certain of the Company s current and former officers and directors either participated in illegal back-dating of stock options or allowed it to happen. The complaint asserts causes of action for unjust enrichment, breach of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste, and violations of California securities laws for insider selling. Plaintiffs also demand an accounting and rescission of allegedly improper stock options grants. On July 28, 2006, the defendants filed a motion to stay all discovery in this action. On August 16, 2006, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss or stay this action in favor of the federal derivative actions pending in the Northern District of California. Plaintiffs have not yet filed their oppositions to those two motions. On November 6, 2006, the parties stipulated that the plaintiffs could file a motion to amend their complaint and a motion to compel responses to discovery no later than thirty days after the Company completes the filing of its restated

financial statements, and that the hearing on the defendants two pending motions will be heard on the same date as the plaintiffs two contemplated motions. On February 15, 2007, the parties agreed that plaintiffs may file an Amended Consolidated Complaint within thirty days after we file our restated financial statements with the Securities Exchange Commission.

### Federal Securities Class Actions

On July 14, 2006, a purported class action complaint styled Garber v. Juniper Networks, Inc., et al., No. C-06-4327 MJJ, was filed in the Northern District of California against us and certain of our officers and directors. The plaintiff filed a Corrected Complaint on July 28, 2006. The Garber class action is brought on behalf of all purchasers of Juniper Networks common stock between September 1, 2003 and May 22, 2006. On August 29, 2006, another purported class action complaint styled Peters v. Juniper Networks, Inc., et al., No. C 06 5303 JW, was filed in the Northern District of California against us and certain of our officers and directors. The Peters class action is brought on behalf of all purchasers of Juniper Networks common stock between April 10, 2003 and August 10, 2006. Both of these purported class actions allege that we and certain of our officers and directors violated federal securities laws by manipulating stock option grant dates to coincide with low stock prices and issuing false and misleading statements including, among others, incorrect financial statements due to the improper accounting of stock option grants. On November 20, 2006, the Court appointed the New York City Pension Funds as lead plaintiffs. The lead plaintiffs filed a Consolidated Class Action Complaint on January 12, 2007. The Consolidated Complaint asserts claims on behalf of all purchasers of, or those who otherwise acquired, Juniper Networks publicly traded securities from April 10, 2003 through and including August 20, 2006. The Consolidated Complaint alleges violations of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 by the Company and certain of its current and former officers and directors. On February 15, 2007, the parties agreed that plaintiffs may file an Amended Consolidated Complaint within thirty days after the Company files its restated financial statements with the Securities Exchange Commission and the court approved the stipulation on February 16, 2007.

### **Other Matters**

# IPO Allocation Case

In December 2001, a class action complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against the Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation, FleetBoston Robertson Stephens, Inc., Royal Bank of Canada (Dain Rauscher Wessels), SG Cowen Securities Corporation, UBS Warburg LLC (Warburg Dillon Read LLC), Chase (Hambrecht & Quist LLC), J.P. Morgan Chase & Co., Lehman Brothers, Inc., Salomon Smith Barney, Inc., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Incorporated (collectively, the

Underwriters ), the Company and certain of the Company s officers. This action was brought on behalf of purchasers of the Company s common stock in the Company s initial public offering in June 1999 and its secondary offering in September 1999.

Specifically, among other things, this complaint alleged that the prospectus pursuant to which shares of common stock were sold in the Company s initial public offering and its subsequent secondary offering contained certain false and misleading statements or omissions regarding the practices of the Underwriters with respect to their allocation of shares of common stock in these offerings and their receipt of commissions from customers related to such allocations. Various plaintiffs have filed actions asserting similar allegations concerning the initial public offerings of approximately 300 other issuers. These various cases pending in the Southern District of New York have been coordinated for pretrial proceedings as *In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation*, 21 MC 92. In April 2002, plaintiffs filed a consolidated amended complaint in the action against the Company, alleging violations of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Defendants in the coordinated proceeding filed motions to dismiss. In October 2002, the Company s officers were dismissed from the case without prejudice pursuant to a stipulation. On February 19, 2003, the court granted in part and denied in part the motion to dismiss, but declined to dismiss the claims against the Company.

In June 2004, a stipulation for the settlement and release of claims against the issuers, including the Company, was submitted to the Court for preliminary approval. The terms of the settlement, if approved, would dismiss and release all claims against participating defendants (including the Company). In exchange for this dismissal, Directors and Officers insurance carriers would agree to guarantee a recovery by the plaintiffs from the underwriter defendants of at least \$1.0 billion, and the issuer defendants would agree to an assignment or surrender to the plaintiffs of certain claims the issuer defendants may have against the underwriters. On August 31, 2005, the Court granted preliminary approval of the settlement. On April 24, 2006, the Court held a fairness hearing in connection with the motion for final approval of the settlement. The Court did not issue a ruling on the motion for final approval at the fairness hearing.

The settlement remains subject to a number of conditions, including final court approval. On December 5, 2006, the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit reversed the Court s October 2004 order certifying a class in the case against the Company, which along with five other issuers, was selected as a test case by the underwriter defendants and plaintiffs in the coordinated proceeding. It is unclear what impact this will have on the settlement and the case against the Company.

### Toshiba Patent Infringement Litigation

On November 13, 2003, Toshiba Corporation filed suit in the United States District Court in Delaware against the Company, alleging that certain of the Company s products infringe four Toshiba patents, and seeking an injunction and unspecified damages. A Markman hearing was held in April 2006, and a ruling favorable to the Company was issued on June 28, 2006. Toshiba stipulated to non-infringement of the four patents and filed a notice of appeal with the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. The Delaware court has removed the trial, previously scheduled for August 2006, from its calendar, pending resolution of the appeal. The Company expects the appeal will not be heard before July 2007.

### IRS Notices of Proposed Adjustments

The IRS has concluded an audit of the Company s federal income tax returns for fiscal years 1999 and 2000. During 2004, the Company received a Notice of Proposed Adjustment (NOPA) from the IRS. While the final resolution of the issues raised in the NOPA is uncertain, the Company does not believe that the outcome of this matter will have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position or results of operations. The Company is also under routine examination by certain state and non-US tax authorities. The Company believes that it has adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable outcome related to these audits.

In conjunction with the IRS income tax audit, certain of the Company s US payroll tax returns are currently under examination for fiscal years 1999 2001, and the Company received a second NOPA in the amount of \$11.7 million for employment tax assessments primarily related to the timing of tax deposits related to employee stock option exercises. The Company responded to this NOPA in February 2005, and intends to dispute this assessment with the IRS. An initial appeals conference was held on January 31, 2006 and October 3, 2006. The appeals process available to the Company has not been concluded. In the event that this issue is resolved unfavorably to the Company, there exists the possibility of a material adverse impact on the Company s results of operations.

#### Note 10. Related Party Transactions

The Company reimburses its CEO, Mr. Scott Kriens, for ordinary operating costs relating to his use of a personal aircraft for business purposes up to a maximum amount per year. The Company incurred \$0.1 million and \$0.2 million in related expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, and \$0.2 million and \$0.3 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively.

# Note 11. Subsequent Events

### Stock Repurchase Program

In July 2006, the Company s Board approved a new stock repurchase program authorizing the Company to repurchase up to \$1.0 billion of Juniper Networks common stock under this program. In February 2007, the Company s Board approved an increase of \$1.0 billion under this new stock repurchase program. Coupled with the prior authorization of \$1.0 billion announced in July 2006, the Company is now authorized to repurchase up to a total of \$2.0 billion of its common stock. Purchases under this plan will be subject to a review of the circumstances in place at the time. Acquisitions under the share repurchase program will be made from time to time as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements. The program may be discontinued at any time.

#### Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Report), including the Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, contains forward-looking statements regarding future events and the future results of the Company that are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts, and projections about the industry in which the Company operates and the beliefs and assumptions of the management of the Company. Words such as expects. anticipates. targets. goals. projects. intends. plans. believes. seeks. estimates. variations similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are only predictions and are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual results may differ materially and adversely from those expressed in any forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in this Report under the section entitled Risk Factors in Item 1A of Part II and elsewhere, and in other reports the Company files with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the 2006 Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC (the 2006 Form 10-K) and the condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-Q. The Company undertakes no obligation to revise or update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason, except as required by law.

The information below has been adjusted to reflect the restatement of our financial results which is more fully described in the Explanatory Note immediately preceding Part I, Item 1 and in Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q.

The following discussion is based upon our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingencies. In the course of operating our business, we routinely make decisions as to the timing of the payment of invoices, the collection of receivables, the manufacturing and shipment of products, the fulfillment of orders, the purchase of supplies, and the building of inventory and spare parts, among other matters. Each of these decisions has some impact on the financial results for any given period. In making these decisions, we consider various factors including contractual obligations, customer satisfaction, competition, internal and external financial targets and expectations, and financial planning objectives. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to sales returns, pricing credits, warranty costs, allowance for doubtful accounts, impairment of long-term assets, especially goodwill and intangible assets, contract manufacturer exposures for carrying and obsolete material charges, assumptions used in the valuation of stock-based compensation, and litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

#### **Overview of the Results of Operations**

To aid in understanding our operating results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, we believe a business overview and a discussion of the nature of our revenue and operating expenses is helpful.

# **Business Overview**

We design and sell products and services that together provide our customers with high performance Internet Protocol (IP) networking solutions. Our purpose-built, high performance IP platforms enable customers to support many different services and applications at scale. Service providers, enterprises, governments and research and education institutions worldwide rely on Juniper Networks to deliver products for building networks that are tailored to the specific needs of their users, services and applications. Our portfolio of networking and security solutions supports the complex scale, security and performance requirements of many of the world s most demanding networks. We sell our products and services through our direct sales organization, value-added resellers and distributors to end-users in the service provider and enterprise markets.

Our operations are organized into three operating segments:

Infrastructure: Our Infrastructure segment primarily offers scalable router products that are used to control and direct network traffic. This control is made more important by the fact that the size and complexity of IP

networks are increasing at a time when service providers are looking to differentiate themselves through value-added service offerings. The Infrastructure segment includes products from the E-, M- and T-series router product families as well as the circuit-to-packet (CTP) products and session border control (SBC) products.

Service Layer Technologies (SLT): Our SLT segment offers solutions that meet a broad array of our customers priorities, from protecting the network itself, and protecting data on the network, to maximizing existing bandwidth and acceleration of applications across a distributed network. Together, our secure networking solutions help enable our customers to convert networks that provide commoditized, best efforts services into more valuable assets that provide differentiation and value and increased reliability and security to end users. The SLT segment includes firewall and virtual private network (VPN) systems and appliances, secure sockets layer (SSL) VPN appliances, Unified Access Control (UAC) products, Steel Belted Radius products, Odyssey products, intrusion detection and prevention appliances (IDP), application front end platforms, the J-series router product family and wide area network optimization platforms.

Service: Our Service segment delivers world-wide services, including technical support and professional services, as well as a number of education and training programs, to customers of the Infrastructure and SLT segments.

We continue to focus on our customers, product innovation and the delivery of product portfolio in order to capture the potential opportunities in the marketplace. During the first six months of 2006, new infrastructure products announced included an intelligent multi-service edge product in the M-series installed base product family and part of our Ethernet strategy providing high density, low cost Ethernet to existing M- and T-series routing platforms. New SLT products included the Secure Services Gateway (SSG) Series, a new line of high-performance firewall/VPN platforms with integrated local-area and wide-area network routing interfaces, our next generation IDP platform as well as the new security management software which enhances application visibility and control across the network.

### Nature of Revenues and Expenses

Of the total net revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, 62% and 63% were attributed to Infrastructure products, respectively, 21% and 20% to SLT products, respectively, and 17% and 17% to Service, respectively. From a geographic perspective, in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, 46% and 46% of the total revenues were generated in the Americas region, respectively, 34% and 35% in the Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) region, respectively, and 20% and 19% in the Asia Pacific region, respectively.

We have direct sales forces and an extensive distribution channel that we use to increase sales and target new customers in the service provider and the enterprise markets.

Most of our manufacturing, repair and supply chain operations are outsourced to independent contract manufacturers. Accordingly, most of our costs of revenues consist of payments to our independent contract manufacturers for product costs. The independent contract manufacturers produce our products using design specifications, quality assurance programs and standards that we establish. Controls around manufacturing, engineering and documentation are conducted primarily at our facilities in Sunnyvale, California and Westford, Massachusetts. Our independent contract manufacturers have facilities primarily in Canada, China, Malaysia and the United States. We generally do not own the components, and title to products transfers from the contract manufacturers to us and then immediately to our customers upon shipment.

The contract manufacturers procure components based on our build forecasts and if actual component usage is lower than our forecasts, we may be, and have been in the past, liable for carrying or obsolete material charges.

Employee related costs have historically been the primary driver of our operating expenses and we expect this trend to continue. Employee related costs include items such as wages, stock-based compensation, commissions, bonuses, vacation, benefits and travel. We increased our headcount from 3,425 employees as of June 30, 2005 to 4,347 employees as of June 30, 2006 primarily due to product innovation efforts, sales force expansions and the growth of our Service business. In addition, the acquisitions completed in the second half of 2005 added approximately 250 individuals to our headcount.

Facility and information technology departmental costs are allocated to other departments based on factors including headcount. These departmental costs have increased in 2006 due to increases in headcount and facility leases resulting from past acquisitions and additional infrastructure and systems to support our growth. Our capital spending increased by \$2.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the same period in 2005 due primarily to additional investment in our test equipment and internal infrastructure. We expect our capital spending to

increase in the future as we continue our product development efforts and revenue growth.

Research and development expenses include employee related costs of developing our products from components to prototypes to finished products, outside services such as certifications of new products and expenditures associated with equipment used for testing. We expense our research and development costs as they are incurred. Several components of our research and development efforts require significant expenditures, such as the development of new components and the purchase of prototype equipment, the timing of which can cause quarterly variability in our expenses. Future research and development expenses are expected to increase in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue during the remainder of 2006 and part of 2007 as we plan to continue our investment in research and development efforts to further advance our competitive advantage.

Sales and marketing expenses include employee related costs as well as costs for promoting our products and services, such as demonstration equipment and advertisements. These costs vary quarter-to-quarter depending on revenues, product launches and marketing initiatives. We have made substantial investments in our distribution channel and in our direct sales force in 2005 and 2006 in an effort to expand and grow our presence in new markets, serving both private and public networks with a full portfolio of networking products. Future sales and marketing expenses are expected to increase in absolute dollars but slightly decrease as a percentage of revenue.

General and administrative expenses include employee related costs as well as professional fees, bad debt provisions and other corporate expenses. Professional fees include legal, audit, tax, accounting and certain corporate strategic services. Future general and administrative expenses are expected to be relatively consistent as a percentage of revenue.

Intangible assets amortization expense includes the amortization of intangible assets acquired from past acquisitions and, to a lesser extent, purchased patents.

Other operating expenses include in-process research and development, restructuring, acquisition related costs, impairment, stock option review and other expenses.

### Significant Events in 2006

#### Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements

In this Form 10-Q, we are restating our condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2005, the related consolidated statements of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, and the related consolidated statement of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2005 as a result of an independent stock option investigation commenced by our Board of Directors and Audit Committee. This restatement is more fully described in Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. In our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 to be filed with the SEC (the 2006 Form 10-K ), we are restating our audited consolidated financial statements and related disclosures for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, and our consolidated statement of operations and consolidated balance sheet data for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002. In addition, we are restating our unaudited quarterly financial information and financial statements for interim periods of 2005, and unaudited condensed financial statements for interim periods of 2005, and unaudited condensed financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2006.

Financial information included in the reports on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q and Form 8-K filed by us prior to August 10, 2006, and the related opinions of our independent registered public accounting firm, and all earnings press releases and similar communications issued by us, prior to August 10, 2006 should not be relied upon and are superseded in their entirety by this Report and other reports on Form 10-Q and Form 8-K filed by us with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or after August 10, 2006.

#### Stock Option Investigation

On May 22, 2006, we issued a press release and Form 8-K announcing that we had received a request for information relating to our stock option granting practices from the U.S. Attorney s Office for the Eastern District of New York. In the same press release and Form 8-K, we announced that our Board of Directors (the Board ) had directed the Board s Audit Committee, comprised of outside directors, to conduct a review of our stock option granting practices. On May 24, 2006, we received a letter from the SEC indicating that the SEC was conducting an inquiry regarding Juniper Networks.

The investigation was conducted with the assistance of independent counsel and forensic accountants (collectively the Investigative Team ). The investigation focused on all stock option grants made to all employees, officers, directors

and consultants during the period following our initial public offering (IPO) on June 24, 1999 to May 23, 2006 (the relevant period). In addition, the Audit Committee investigation involved testing and analyses of our hiring, termination, leave of absence, grant notification and exercise practices regarding stock options and certain issues regarding grants made before the IPO. The scope of the investigation did

### Table of Contents

not include a review of options granted by companies acquired by us. All of the companies acquired by us, with one exception, were privately held companies. None of the acquisitions was accounted for as a pooling of interests. All of the acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase method as provided by Statement of Financial Standards No. 141, *Business Combinations* and its predecessor Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 16, *Business Combinations*.

In connection with the investigation, more than 785,000 physical and electronic documents were reviewed and 35 current and former directors, officers, employees and agents were interviewed.

On December 20, 2006, we announced key findings of the Audit Committee. Key findings of the Audit Committee are:

There were numerous instances in which grant dates were chosen with the benefit of hindsight as to the price of our stock, so as to give favourable exercise prices. In this regard, the Audit Committee identified serious concerns regarding the actions of certain former management in connection with the stock option granting process

Formal documentation of stock option grants often lagged the referenced grant date

Grants were made by persons or committees who did not have the proper authority to make the grants in question

Management failed to exercise sufficient responsibility for the stock option granting process

Our CEO, Scott Kriens, received two stock option awards whose measurement dates for financial accounting purposes differ from the recorded grant dates for such awards. However, both options were exchanged and cancelled unexercised in 2001 as part of a company-wide option re-pricing program. Mr. Kriens has not exercised any stock options since 1998, approximately nine months before our IPO

There were substantial changes to our granting procedures after June 9, 2003 and again in 2005. No grants subsequent to 2004 required new measurement dates

There was no improper conduct by our Compensation Committee or Board of Directors regarding the granting of stock options by those bodies

Our Audit Committee expressed their continuing confidence in Scott Kriens and the current management of the Company

Consistent with the accounting literature and recent guidance from the SEC, we have organized the grants during the relevant period into categories based on grant type and the process by which the grant was finalized. We analyzed the evidence from the Audit Committee s investigation related to each category including, but not limited to, physical documents, electronic documents, underlying electronic data about documents, and witness interviews. Based on the relevant facts and circumstances, we applied the then appropriate accounting standards to determine, for every grant within each category, the proper measurement date. If the measurement date was not the originally assigned grant date, accounting adjustments were made as required, resulting in stock-based compensation expense and related tax effects.

# Grants made by our Board of Directors or Compensation Committee to Officers or Directors

We have concluded that the measurement dates of several grants to executive officers who were reporting persons as that term is defined under Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (Officers) and members of the Board of Directors made between June 1999 and June 2003 were incorrect. In general, during the relevant period, the Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board made grants to Officers and directors. Grants were sometimes approved at meetings of these bodies or by action by unanimous written consent. There were several instances in which grants to Officers or directors were given grant dates (and corresponding exercise prices) prior to

the date on which formal corporate action making the grant was taken. In general, this appears to have been done to make the grant date coincide with either a specific event, such as the appointment or re-election of a director or with the purported date options were granted to non-Officers. In these cases, we have determined that the correct measurement date is the date on which our Board or Compensation Committee took the action to approve the grant. We also identified instances in which grants to Officers were granted effective upon a future event, such as the commencement of employment or closing of an acquisition. In these cases, we have determined that the date of the future event is the correct measurement date for such grants. We also identified instances where grants to Officers were made by a body not authorized by our Board to make grants to Officers and were subsequently ratified by our Board. In those instances, we determined that the correct measurement date that the correct measurement principles, and after accounting for forfeitures, we have adjusted the measurement of compensation cost for options covering 5.6 million shares of common stock resulting in an incremental stock-based compensation expense of \$80.3 million on a pre-tax basis over the respective awards vesting terms.

In addition, there was one other grant to an Officer where approval of such grant was not reflected in minutes of a meeting or an action by unanimous written consent of our Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee. For that grant, the measurement date was determined based on the terms of the Officer s offer letter and the date his employment commenced. With respect to that grant, we have adjusted the measurement of compensation cost for options covering 1.5 million shares of common stock resulting in an

incremental stock-based compensation expense of \$6.5 million on a pre-tax basis over the award s vesting terms after accounting for forfeitures.

# Grants to Non-Officers

We have concluded that the measurement dates of a large number of grants to non-Officers during the period between June 1999 and December 2004 were incorrect. Our practice has been to grant stock options, except where prohibited, to nearly all full-time employees in connection with joining us. To facilitate the granting of options to our rapidly growing workforce, the Board of Directors established a Stock Option Committee to grant options to non-Officer employees. Between June 1999 and June 2003, the dates for a large number of grants made by our Stock Option Committee were chosen with the benefit of hindsight as to the price of our stock, so as to give favorable exercise prices. Moreover, our Stock Option Committee s process for finalizing and documenting these grants was often completed after the originally assigned grant date. Beginning with grants dated June 20, 2003, we implemented a number of new procedures and policies regarding the granting of options to non-Officer employees. After that, we have concluded that the pattern of consciously looking back for the most favorable dates for the employees ceased. However, the documentation and written approvals of grant dates still generally trailed the recorded grant dates. Based on all available facts and circumstances, the originally recorded measurement dates for the grants made by our Stock Option Committee during the period from July 1999 through December 2004 can not be relied upon in isolation as the correct measurement dates. In 2005, we made additional changes to our procedures. No grants in 2005 and 2006 required new measurement dates.

APB 25 defines the measurement date for determining stock-based compensation expense as the first date on which both (1) the number of shares that an individual employee is entitled to receive and (2) the option or purchase price, are known. Throughout the relevant period, the Company s stock administration department entered the option grant information for grants made by the Stock Option Committee into its Equity Edge stock administration system. This system was used to monitor and administer our stock option program. The data in Equity Edge were sent on a regular basis to designated brokers, allowing grantees to view their options information in their accounts via the Internet.

For grants made by the Stock Option Committee between June 1999 and December 2004, where there is no other reliable objective evidence pointing to an earlier single specific date that the number of shares and the individuals entitled to receive them and the price had become final, we have determined the Equity Edge entry date to be the most reliable measurement date for calculating additional stock-based compensation expense under APB 25. Using this measurement date, and after accounting for forfeitures, we have adjusted the measurement of compensation cost for options covering 74.2 million shares of common stock resulting in an incremental stock-based compensation expense of \$636.7 million on a pre-tax basis over the respective awards vesting terms.

In many of the cases where the Equity Edge entry date was used as the measurement date, the formal Stock Option Committee granting documentation (consisting of unanimous written consents or minutes and related lists of recipients, amounts and types of awards) was not created or completed until a later date. Because the awards listed in the formal granting documentation did not differ from the grants entered into Equity Edge, the notice of the awards was made available to employees prior to the creation or completion of the granting documents, and because the completion of the documentation was treated as perfunctory, we determined that the Equity Edge entry date was the proper measurement date under APB 25 rather than the date the Stock Option Committee granting documentation was completed.

In a number of cases, there was reliable objective evidence pointing to a single specific date that the number of shares and the individuals entitled to receive them and the price had become final. Such evidence primarily consisted of electronic data indicating that the granting instrument and schedule were created prior to the Equity Edge entry date. We also relied on other evidence such as emails or written agreements to determine the date certain options became final. Such evidence was used to determine the measurement dates for options for which we have adjusted the measurement of compensation cost for options covering 27.9 million shares of common stock resulting in incremental stock-based compensation expense of \$141.2 million on a pre-tax basis over the respective awards vesting terms.

We also concluded that there were instances in which clerical errors or omissions regarding the persons to receive an award or the number of options to be granted were corrected after the date of award. In the case of most additions

made to correct omissions and other corrections that were not reflected on the grant documentation at the time of the applicable grant date or in documentation existing at the time of grant, we have determined that a new measurement date should be established. We considered whether certain of such changes or additions should give rise to variable accounting treatment and concluded that such treatment was not appropriate because the grants represented independent decisions or events rather than a continuation or modification of the other grants. We believe that the correct measurement date for these grants is the date Stock Administration entered the correction or addition into Equity Edge, except where objective evidence identifies an earlier date on which the correction was approved. After accounting for

37

forfeitures, we have adjusted the measurement of compensation cost for options covering 1.3 million shares of common stock resulting in incremental stock-based compensation of \$11.9 million on a pre-tax basis over the respective awards vesting terms.

### Stock Option Grant Modifications Connected with Terminations or Leaves of Absences and Other Matters

Compensation expense was also recognized as a result of modifications that were made to certain employee option grant awards in connection with certain employees terminations or leaves of absence. Typically such modifications related to extensions of the time employees could exercise options following their termination of employment or that enabled the employee to vest in additional shares in relation to a leave of absence. For example, in connection with reductions in work force in 2001 and 2002, we increased the period for affected employees to exercise their options from 30 days to 90 days. We have incremental stock-based compensation expense associated with such terminations or leaves of absence of \$20.0 million on a pre-tax basis in the period of modification.

Compensation expense of \$0.2 million on a pre-tax basis was also recognized as a result of non-employee grants to consultants in exchange for services and other matters.

### Judgment

In light of the significant judgment used in establishing revised measurement dates, alternate approaches to those used by us could have resulted in different compensation expense charges than those recorded by us in the restatement. We considered various alternative approaches. For example, in those cases where the formal documentation of a grant was completed after the date the grant was entered in Equity Edge, an alternative measurement date to using the Equity Edge entry date could be the creation date of the documentation. Changing the measurement dates for grants made by our Stock Option Committee from the Equity Edge entry date to the later of the electronic data creation date of the unanimous written consent or the related schedule of grants would cause the pre-tax compensation charges of \$636.7 million discussed above to increase by approximately \$10.6 million. Conversely, where we established a new measurement date prior to the Equity Edge entry date for grants made by our Stock Option Committee from a the electronic data indicating the initial creation date of the granting instrument and schedule, an alternative measurement date could be the Equity Edge entry date. Changing the measurement dates for these grants by the Stock Option Committee from a date prior to Equity Edge entry date to the Equity Edge entry date to the Equity Edge entry date to the Equity Edge entry date. Changing the measurement dates for these grants by the Stock Option Committee from a date prior to Equity Edge entry date to the Equity Edge entry would increase the \$141.2 million of the pre-tax compensation charges discussed above by approximately \$37.7 million. We believe that the approaches we used were the most appropriate under the circumstances.

### Summary of Stock-Based Compensation Adjustments

We adjusted the measurement dates for options covering a total of 110.5 million, or 76%, of the 146.0 million shares of common stock covered by options granted during the relevant period.

The incremental impact from on the condensed consolidated statement of operations from recognizing stock-based compensation expense through December 31, 2005 resulting from the investigation is summarized as follows (in millions):

Fiscal Year	Pre-Tax Expense		After Tax Expense
1998	\$	\$	
1999	15.3	3	15.3
2000	283.	3	201.6
2001	513.	L	488.1
2002	48.0	)	48.0
2003	19.4	ł	8.6
2004	10.9	)	7.5
2005	4.7	7	3.3
Total	\$ 894.	7 \$	772.4

In addition to the \$894.7 million recognized through fiscal 2005, \$2.1 million of unamortized deferred compensation remained as of December 31, 2005, bringing the total incremental impact from the investigation to approximately \$896.8 million. As required by SFAS 123R, which was adopted on January 1, 2006, the unamortized deferred compensation of \$2.1 million has been reclassified to additional paid-in capital, along with the unamortized deferred compensation for stock options assumed from past acquisitions, in our consolidated balance sheet. Beginning in 2006, the incremental amortization resulting from the investigation is included in stock-based compensation expense under the provisions of SFAS 123R. The incremental expense from the restatement of employee stock options is insignificant for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006.

38

# Other Matters

After considering all available evidence, primarily the then current 2005 operating projections of future income, which remain appropriate, we have concluded that the previously recorded valuation allowance related to the tax benefit of stock options deductions should have been reversed in the fourth quarter of 2005. Accordingly, we decreased the valuation allowance as of December 31, 2005 by \$158.0 million with a corresponding credit to additional paid in capital. The remaining valuation allowance balance of \$40.6 million relates to capital losses which will carry forward to offset future capital gains.

Additionally, we misclassified the tax benefit from deductions from stock options assumed in acquisitions. Accordingly, we have reduced additional paid-in capital for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 by \$6.0 million and \$18.5 million, respectively, with a corresponding decrease to goodwill. The total reduction to both additional paid-in capital and goodwill as of December 31, 2005 was \$24.5 million.

Because virtually all holders of options issued by us were not involved in or aware of the incorrect pricing, we have taken and intend to take actions to deal with certain adverse tax consequences that may be incurred by the holders of certain incorrectly priced options. The primary adverse tax consequence is that incorrectly priced stock options vesting after December 31, 2004 may subject the option holder to a penalty tax under IRC Section 409A (and, as applicable, similar penalty taxes under California and other state tax laws). We expect to incur future charges to resolve the adverse tax consequences of incorrectly priced options.

We misclassified the gains and losses from the retirement of our treasury shares in fiscal 2004. Accordingly, we reduced our retained earnings (accumulated deficit) as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 by \$63.6 million with a corresponding increase to additional paid-in capital.

The effect of restatement adjustments on each component of stockholders equity at the end of each year is summarized as follows (in millions):

	Common Stock & Additional Paid-In		erred ock	Acc	umulated	t Impact to ockholders
Fiscal Year	Capital	Compe	nsation	]	Deficit	Equity
1998	\$	\$		\$		\$
1999	215.3		(200.0)		(15.3)	
2000	479.6		(278.0)		(201.6)	
2001	74.9		413.2		(488.1)	
2002	21.5		26.5		(48.0)	
2003	(10.6)		19.2		(8.6)	
2004	41.3		11.3		(71.1)	(18.5)
2005	204.6		5.7		(3.3)	207.0
Total	\$ 1,026.6	\$	(2.1)	\$	(836.0)	\$ 188.5

# NASDAQ Listing Status

In August 2006, we received a NASDAQ Staff Determination letter stating that, as a result of the delayed filing of our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006 (the Second Quarter Form 10-Q), we were not in compliance with the filing requirements for continued listing as set forth in Marketplace Rule 4310(c)(14) and were therefore subject to delisting from the NASDAQ Global Select Market. In November 2006, we received an additional letter from NASDAQ of similar substance related to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 (the

Third Quarter Form 10-Q). In December 2006, the NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Panel granted our request for continued listing, provided that we file a written summary of our audit committee s findings with NASDAQ as well as the Second Quarter Form 10-Q, the Third Quarter Form 10-Q and any required restatements with the SEC on or

before February 12, 2007. In January 2007, we received a notice from the NASDAQ Listing and Hearings Review Council which advised us that any delisting determination by the NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Panel has been stayed pending further review by the Review Council. We have been given until March 30, 2007 to submit additional information to assist the Review Council in their assessment of our listing status. On February 20, 2007, we filed a written summary of our Audit Committee s findings with NASDAQ. In addition, on March 9, 2007, we filed the Second Quarter Form 10-Q and the Third Quarter Form 10-Q with the SEC. We consider that the filing of these materials has remedied our non-compliance with Marketplace Rule 4310(c)(14), subject to NASDAQ is affirmative completion of its compliance protocols and its notification to us accordingly. However, if NASDAQ disagrees with our position or if the SEC disagrees with the manner in which we have accounted for and reported, or not reported, the financial

39

impact of past stock option grants, there could be further delays in filing subsequent SEC reports or other actions that might result in delisting of our common stock from the NASDAQ Global Select Market.

# Impairment of Goodwill

We recorded a \$1,280.0 million non-cash goodwill impairment charge in the second quarter of 2006 in our consolidated statements of operations within the SLT segment to adjust the estimated carrying value of our goodwill for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006. The impairment of goodwill was primarily attributable to the decline in the Company s market capitalization that occurred over a period of approximately six months prior to the impairment review and, to a lesser extent, a decrease in the forecasted future cash flows used in the income approach. Future impairment indicators, including further declines in our market capitalization or a decrease in revenue or profitability levels, could require additional impairment charges to be recorded.

# Stock-Based Compensation

We adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), *Share-Based Payment* (SFAS 123R) effective January 1, 2006, using the modified prospective transition method and, therefore, have not revised prior periods results. During the first six months of 2006, we issued stock options to the members of our Board (outside directors) and stock options, restricted stock units (RSUs) and shares of common stock pursuant to equity incentive plans. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, our Board of Directors approved the acceleration of the vesting of certain unvested and out-of-the-money stock options that had an exercise price per share equal to or greater than \$22.00, all of which were previously granted under our stock option plans and that were outstanding on December 16, 2005. The options accelerated excluded options previously granted to certain employees, including all of the executive officers and the Board of Directors of Juniper Networks. Under SFAS 123R, we recorded pre-tax stock-based compensation expense of \$23.2 million and \$46.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to \$5.2 million and \$10.4 million for the same periods in 2005 (as restated), respectively, when we recognized stock-based compensation expense under the intrinsic value recognition provisions of APB Opinion No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees* (APB 25).

Beginning in May 2006, we have adopted the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (2006 Plan) which provides for a maximum term of seven years from the grant date for non-statutory stock options and for incentive stock options (except that the maximum term is five years from the grant date for incentive stock options granted to a holder of more than 10% of the Company s stock). The 2006 Plan also provides for a defined option granting schedule for our outside directors. Details of the 2006 Plan are described in Note 6, Stockholders Equity, in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q.

### Stock Repurchase Activities

In July 2004, our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program. This program authorized repurchases of up to \$250.0 million of our common stock. In the first quarter of 2006, we repurchased and retired 10,071,100 shares of common stock at an average price of \$18.51 per share as part of our Common Stock Repurchase Program. No shares were repurchased after the three months ended March 31, 2006. As of June 30, 2006, a total of 12,939,700 common shares had been repurchased and retired since the inception of the program, equating to approximately \$250.0 million at an average price of \$19.32 per share.

In July 2006, our Board authorized a new stock repurchase program under which we are authorized to repurchase up to \$1.0 billion of our Company s common stock. In February 2007, our Board approved an increase of \$1.0 billion under this new share repurchase program. Coupled with the original \$1.0 billion approved in July 2006, we are now authorized to repurchase up to \$2.0 billion of our common stock. Purchases under this plan will be subject to a review of the circumstances in place at the time. Acquisitions under the share repurchase program will be made from time to time as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements. The program may be discontinued at any time.

# **Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates**

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of net revenue and expenses in the reporting period. We regularly evaluate our estimates and assumptions. We base our estimates and assumptions on current facts and historical experience that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making

judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Our actual results may differ materially and adversely from our estimates. To the extent there are material differences between our estimates and the actual results, our future operating results will be affected.

We believe the following critical accounting policies require us to make significant judgments and estimates in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements:

Revenue Recognition;

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts;

Contract Manufacturer Liabilities;

Warranty Reserve;

Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets;

Stock-Based Compensation;

Income Taxes;

Litigation and Settlement Costs; and

#### Loss Contingencies.

We believe that, other than the adoption of SFAS 123R, there have been no significant changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates during the six months ended June 30, 2006. Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2006 Form 10-K, which is to be filed with the SEC, describes the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

#### Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R, using the modified prospective transition method, and therefore have not restated prior periods results in our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. In accordance with SFAS 123R, we recognize compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, for all stock-based awards, including stock options and Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) as well as common stock issued under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), granted after January 1, 2006 and prior to but not vested as of January 1, 2006.

Under SFAS 123R, stock-based compensation cost for stock options is estimated at the grant date based on the award s fair value as calculated by the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model and is recognized as expense, net of estimated forfeitures, ratably over the requisite service period. The Black-Scholes-Merton model requires various highly judgmental assumptions including expected option life and volatility. In anticipation of adopting SFAS 123R, we refined the methodology of estimating the expected term to be more representative of future exercise patterns in 2005. We also refined our computation of expected volatility by considering the volatility of publicly traded options to purchase our common stock and their historical stock volatility.

If any of the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes-Merton model or the estimated forfeiture rate changes significantly, stock-based compensation expense may differ materially in the future from that recorded in the current period. Given our employee stock options have certain characteristics that are significantly different from traded options and, because changes in the subjective assumptions can materially affect the estimated value, in our opinion, the existing valuation models may not provide an accurate measure of the fair value of our employee stock options. Although we determine the fair value of employee stock options in accordance with SFAS 123R and SAB 107 using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model, that value may not be indicative of the fair value observed between a willing buyer and a willing seller in a market transaction.

In addition to stock options, we also granted RSUs during 2006. Stock-based compensation cost for RSUs is estimated at the grant date based on the market price of our common stock and is recognized as expense, net of estimated forfeitures, ratably over the requisite service period.

During 2005, in anticipation of adopting SFAS 123R, our Board of Directors approved the acceleration of the vesting of certain unvested and out-of-the-money stock options that had an exercise price per share equal to or greater than \$22.00, all of which were previously granted under Juniper Networks stock option plans and that were outstanding on December 16, 2005 were accelerated. The options accelerated excluded options previously granted to certain employees, including all of the executive officers and the Board of Directors of Juniper Networks.

# **Results of Operations**

The following table illustrates certain statement of operations data expressed as a percentage of net revenues for the periods indicated:

	Three Months	-	Six Months Ended June 30,		
	2006	2005 Restated	2006	2005 Restated	
		(1)		(1)	
Net revenues	100%	100%	100%	100%	
Cost of revenues	33%	32%	33%	32%	
Gross margin	67%	68%	67%	68%	
Operating expenses:					
Research and development	20%	17%	20%	17%	
Sales and marketing	24%	21%	23%	21%	
General and administrative	4%	3%	4%	4%	
Amortization of purchased intangible assets	4%	4%	4%	4%	
Impairment of goodwill and intangibles	226%		113%		
In-process research and development					
Other charges	1%	-1%	1%	-1%	
Total operating expenses	279%	44%	165%	45%	
(Loss) income from operations	-212%	24%	-98%	23%	

(1) See Note 2,

Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net revenues increases in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, compared to the same periods in 2005, were attributable to revenue increases in the Infrastructure, SLT and Service businesses as well as the inclusion of net revenue from the companies acquired in 2005. The increases in cost of revenues and operating expenses in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, compared to the same periods in 2005, were primarily attributable to an increase in headcount, increases in stock-based expense from the adoption of SFAS 123R, increases in amortization of purchased intangible assets from acquisitions completed in 2005, restructuring and acquisition related charges, stock option investigation costs and the inclusion of the operating expenses from the companies acquired in 2005. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, we incurred non-cash impairment charges as we wrote down our existing goodwill and intangible assets.

# Net Revenues

The following table illustrates net product and service revenues (in millions except percentages):

	Th	ree Months <b>E</b>	Inded Jun	ie 30,	Six Months Ended June 30,				
	% of % of			% of		% of			
		Net		Net	Net			Net	
	2006	Revenues	2005	Revenues	2006	Revenues	2005	Revenues	
Net revenues:									
Product	\$468.8	83%	\$423.7	86%	\$ 942.9	83%	\$816.0	87%	
Service	98.7	17%	69.3	14%	191.3	17%	126.1	13%	
Total net revenues	\$ 567.5	100%	\$ 493.0	100%	\$1,134.2	100%	\$ 942.1	100%	

*Net Product Revenues.* Net product revenues increased \$45.1 million and \$126.9 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2005, primarily due to the overall revenue increases in the Infrastructure and SLT businesses. Net revenues from Infrastructure products were \$352.2 million and \$715.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, a \$20.4 million and \$79.3 million increase compared to the same periods in 2005. Net revenues from SLT products were \$116.6 million and \$227.7 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, a \$24.7 million and \$47.6 million increase compared to the same periods in 2005. Demands for higher-end infrastructure products, firewalls and J-series products were driven by the adoption and expansion of secure IP networks by our customers. To a lesser extent, the addition of certain SLT product families through our 2005 acquisitions also contributed to the net revenue increases in the 2006 periods. An analysis of the change in revenue by Infrastructure and SLT segments and the change in product units can be found below in the section titled Segment Information.

*Net Service Revenues*. Net service revenues increased \$29.4 million and \$65.2 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2005, primarily due to the growth in support services business and increases in professional service revenue. A majority of our net service revenues was earned from customers who purchased our products and entered into service contracts. Support service revenue, representing 87% and 88% of the net service revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, increased by \$24.0 million and \$56.1 million in the 2006 periods, respectively, compared to the same periods a year-ago. The growth in support service revenue in the 2006 periods was primarily attributable to increased

42

technical support service contract initiations associated with renewals and higher product sales, which have resulted in increased renewal and a larger installed base of equipment being serviced. We recognize revenue from service contracts as the services are completed or ratably over the period of the obligation. These contracts are typically for one-year renewable periods for services such as 24-hour customer support, non-specified updates and hardware repairs. Professional service revenue increased for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the 2005 periods due primarily to growth in on-site engineering services as well as additional consulting projects in 2006. In addition to support services and professional services, we also provide educational services.

*Total Net Revenues by Geographic Region and Principal Customers.* The following table shows total net revenues by geographic region (in millions, except percentages):

	Three Months Ended June 30,20062005			Six Months Ended June 30, 2006 2005				
Americas:								
United States	\$ 239.6	42%	\$ 203.4	41%	\$ 480.8	3 42%	\$ 389.0	41%
Other	24.2	4%	25.5	5%	43.0	) 4%	33.9	4%
Total Americas	263.8	46%	228.9	46%	523.8	3 46%	422.9	45%
EMEA	192.5	34%	139.4	28%	394.4	4 35%	254.7	27%
Asia Pacific:								
Japan	31.6	6%	64.8	13%	81.3	3 7%	117.4	12%
Other	79.6	14%	59.9	13%	134.7	12%	147.1	16%
Total Asia Pacific	111.2	20%	124.7	26%	216.0	) 19%	264.5	28%
Total	\$ 567.5	100%	\$ 493.0	100%	\$ 1,134.2	2 100%	\$ 942.1	100%

Net revenue in the United States as a percentage of total net revenue slightly increased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in 2005 primarily due to increases in our core and edge router product sales to the service provider market as our customers continue to focus on increasing network performance, reliability and scale. In addition, demands for SSL products, J-series products and the inclusion of companies acquired in 2005 contributed to the higher net revenue in the United States during the 2006 periods. Net revenue in EMEA as a percentage of total net revenue increased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in 2005 primarily due to strength across the region driven by Internet Protocol Television (IPTV) demands and Next Generation Networks (NGNs) build-outs. Increased demands for firewall products also contributed to the higher net revenue, in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in 2005 primarily due to a pause in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in 2005 primarily due to a pause in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in 2005 primarily due to a pause in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in 2005 primarily due to a pause in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in 2005 primarily due to a pause in the build out of certain NGNs and associated purchase decisions, particularly in Japan, as major carriers prepare for the next stage of bandwidth and services expansion.

Siemens AG and Verizon Communications, Inc. individually accounted for 15% and 10%, respectively, of the Company s net revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2006. Siemens individually accounted for 15% of the Company s net revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 15% and 14% of the Company s net revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively. The revenue attributed to Siemens was derived from the sale of products and services in all three operating segments. The revenue attributed to Verizon was derived from the sale of infrastructure products and services.

# Cost of Revenues

The following table shows cost of product and service revenues and the related gross margin ( GM ) percentages (in millions, except percentages):

	Th	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended June 30,				
	2006	GM %	2005	GM %	2006	GM %	2005	GM %	
			As Res	tated (1)	Asl			lestated (1)	
Cost of revenues:									
Product	\$139.4	70%	\$ 121.5	71%	\$ 280.4	70%	\$ 234.2	71%	
Service	49.5	50%	34.2	51%	93.5	51%	65.4	48%	
Total cost of revenues	\$ 188.9	67%	\$ 155.7	68%	\$ 373.9	67%	\$ 299.6	68%	
(1) See Note 2,									
Restatement of									
Condensed									
Consolidated									
Financial Statements in									
Statements, in Notes to the									
Condensed									
Consolidated									
Financial									
Statements.									
			4	-3					

*Cost of Product Revenues.* Cost of product revenues increased \$17.9 million and \$46.2 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2005. The increase was due primarily to volume driven increases in the cost of our products from our contract manufacturers in connection with the increase in product volume. Also contributing to the increases in the 2006 quarter-to-date and year-to-date periods were incremental stock-based compensation charges of \$0.3 million and \$0.6 million, respectively, pertaining to stock-based compensation expense from the adoption of SFAS 123R and the amortization of purchased technologies of \$1.4 million and \$2.7 million, respectively. Product gross margin fell by one percentage point to 70% for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the same 2005 periods. The one percentage point product margin decrease was primarily attributable to the timing of new product introductions in both the infrastructure and security markets along with the incremental stock-based compensation expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 was \$0.5 million and \$1.0 million, respectively, compared to the \$0.2 million and \$0.4 million for the same 2005 periods (as restated).

As we have expanded our market share and entered more markets, we have experienced increased competition. However, product gross margin increased in absolute dollars due to product volume and increased headcount, partially offset by our focus on decreasing sales expenses and reducing manufacturing related costs. As of June 30, 2006 and 2005, we employed 140 and 110 people, respectively, in our manufacturing and operations organization who primarily manage relationships with our contract manufacturers, manage our supply chain, and monitor and manage product testing and quality.

*Cost of Service Revenues.* Cost of service revenues increased \$15.3 million and \$28.1 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2005. Service gross margin decreased one percentage point to 50% for the three months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the 2005 period due primarily to our increased investment in spare components in the second quarter of 2006. Service gross margin increased three percentage points for the six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the same period in 2005 due primarily to achieving improved economies of scale despite the increased operating costs in absolute dollars. In absolute dollars, personnel related expenses, consisting primarily of salaries, wages, bonuses and fringe benefits, increased \$5.5 million and \$9.7 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the 2005 periods, due to increases in service related headcount from 396 to 529 people. The increase in headcount was attributable primarily to the growth in the service business due to the increased installed base and, in part, to the acquisitions completed in 2005. Additionally, spares expense and outside services increased by \$6.7 million and \$11.1 million in total for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to \$0.3 million additional service contracts. The adoption of SFAS 123R resulted in stock-based compensation expense of \$1.5 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to \$0.3 million and \$0.9 million in the corresponding periods in 2005 (as restated) for the Service segment.

# **Operating Expenses**

Operating expenses were as follows (in millions, except percentages):

	Thr	ee Months E	nded June	e <b>30</b> ,	Six Months Ended June 30,			
		% of		% of		% of		% of
		Net		Net		Net		Net
	2006	Revenues	2005	Revenues	2006	Revenues	2005	Revenues
			As Res	stated (1)			As Res	tated (1)
Research and								
development	\$ 116.2	20%	\$ 84.1	17%	\$ 229.9	20%	\$162.9	17%
Sales and								
marketing	136.0	24%	103.9	21%	265.4	23%	196.7	21%
General and								
administrative	24.2	4%	15.7	3%	47.3	4%	31.5	4%
Amortization of	23.2	4%	19.9	4%	46.4	4%	38.5	4%
purchased								

intangible assets Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets In-process research	1,283.4	226%			1,283.4	113%		
and development			1.9				1.9	
Other charges, net	4.4	1%	(6.6)	(1%)	5.8	1%	(6.6)	(1%)
<ul> <li>See Note 2, Restatement of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, in Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial</li> </ul>								
Statements.		D	1 11	1 (		11 000 1	.11. 1	
Research and Deve				•	•	•		
\$67.0 million in the th				-	• •		-	
primarily due to increa	ises in person	mer related ex	cpenses, sup	oport costs,	and stock-bas	eu compensa	mon expens	е.

primarily due to increases in personnel related expenses, support costs, and stock-based compensation expense. Personnel related charges, consisting of salaries, bonuses, and fringe benefits expenses, increased \$16.1 million in the second quarter of 2006 and \$31.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2006 due primarily to an increase in headcount from 1,395 to 1,780 people in the engineering organization across the Infrastructure

44

segment and the SLT segment to support product innovation and integration intended to capture potential future NGN infrastructure growth and other opportunities in the enterprise market and the service provider market. The increase in headcount was also attributable, in part, to the acquisitions in 2005. To a lesser extent, the increases in personnel charges were attributable to merit-based salary increases in the second quarter of 2006. Additionally, engineering project expenses, facilities, information technology, depreciation and equipment expenses increased \$6.7 million and \$14.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, to support these engineering efforts. The adoption of SFAS 123R resulted in stock-based compensation expense of \$9.4 million and \$19.4 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the \$2.9 million and \$5.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively.

*Sales and Marketing Expenses.* Sales and marketing expenses increased \$32.1 million and \$68.7 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2005 primarily due to increases in personnel related expenses, marketing expenses, and stock-based compensation expense. Personnel related charges, consisting of salaries, commissions, bonuses, and fringe benefits expenses, increased \$14.9 million and \$26.5 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2005, due to an increase in headcount, from 1,184 to 1,510 people in our worldwide sales and marketing organizations to support additional products, customers and countries. The increase in headcount was also attributable, in part, to the acquisitions in 2005. Additionally, marketing and related expenses increased \$1.5 million and \$10.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2005, as we focused on introducing new products, increasing brand awareness and expanding our presence in the enterprise market. The adoption of SFAS 123R resulted in stock-based compensation expense for sales and marketing of \$8.5 million and \$16.1 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively, compared to \$1.6 million and \$3.0 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively.

*General and Administrative Expenses.* General and administrative expenses increased \$8.5 million and \$15.8 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2005 primarily due to an increase in personnel related expenses, outside professional services, and additional stock-based compensation expense. Personnel related charges, consisting of salaries, bonuses, and fringe benefits expenses, increased \$1.4 million and \$2.8 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2005, due to an increase in headcount, from 193 to 217 people, in our worldwide general and administrative functions to support the overall growth in the business. The increase in headcount was also attributable, in part, to the acquisitions in 2005. Outside professional services, which include accounting, tax, and legal fees, increased primarily as a result of patent litigation expenses in the three months ended June 30, 2006. The adoption of SFAS 123R resulted in stock-based compensation expense for general and administrative of \$3.3 million and \$6.9 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the \$0.3 million and \$0.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively.

*Amortization of Intangible Assets.* Amortization of intangible assets increased \$3.3 million and \$7.9 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the 2005 periods due to the additional intangible assets acquired from acquisitions completed in 2005.

*Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets.* Impairment of goodwill and intangibles was \$1,283.4 million in both the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively. Due primarily to the decline in the Company s market capitalization that occurred over a period of approximately six months prior to the impairment review and, to a lesser extent, a decrease in the forecasted future cash flows used in the income approach, we evaluated the carrying value of our goodwill and reduced the goodwill within the SLT segment by \$1,280.0 million. In addition, we recorded a \$3.4 million impairment expense pertaining to a write-down of intangible assets as a result of a decrease in forecasted revenue for the SBC stand-alone products during the second quarter of 2006. There were no impairment charges in the three and six months ended June 30, 2005. Future impairment indicators, including further declines in our market capitalization, could require additional impairment charges.

*In-Process Research and Development Expense.* There were no new acquisitions in the 2006 periods. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, we completed two acquisitions and wrote off \$1.9 million of in-process research and development during the periods.

*Other Charges.* Other charges include restructuring costs, acquisition related charges, and stock option investigation costs.

S Restructuring and acquisition related charges of \$1.9 million and \$3.3 million were recognized in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively. We recorded restructuring charges of \$0.6 million due to a reorganization plan initiated in the second quarter of 2006 in connection with the discontinuation of certain standalone products. Acquisition related charges during the 2006 periods pertained primarily to the accrual of acquisition related bonus and earn-out payments and adjustments to the acquisition related restructuring reserves. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, we

# 45

reduced our acquisition related restructuring accruals by \$6.6 million primarily due to our re-occupation of a portion of the former NetScreen facility that was previously included in the acquisition related restructuring reserve.

§ For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, stock option investigation costs of \$2.5 million were incurred for the independent review of our stock option practices. In May 2006, our audit committee, with the assistance of independent legal counsel and outside accounting experts, commenced a review of our stock option practices and accounting. As of June 30, 2006, the investigation was not complete and additional stock option investigation costs of \$18.0 million were incurred in the remainder of 2006.

### **Other Income and Expenses**

The following table shows other income and expenses (in millions):

	Three Mor	Six Months Ended June 30,		
	Jun			
	2006	2005	2006	2005
Interest and other income	\$24.0	\$13.4	\$44.8	\$24.5
Interest and other expenses	\$ (0.8)	\$ (1.1)	\$ (1.9)	\$ (1.9)

*Interest and Other Income.* Interest and other income increased by \$10.6 million and \$20.3 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2005 as a result of higher cash, cash equivalents and investment balances compared to a year ago. Interest rate increases during 2006 and the second half of 2005 also contributed to the higher interest income in 2006.

*Interest and Other Expenses.* Interest and other expenses decreased by \$0.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006, compared to the same 2005 period, due primarily to decreases in foreign exchange losses, partially offset by increases in other expenses such as bank fees during 2006. Interest and other expenses remained the same for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005.

# **Provision for Income Taxes**

We recorded tax provisions of \$20.8 million and \$42.6 million (restated) for the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, or effective tax rates of -2% and 33%, respectively. We recorded tax provisions of \$55.7 million and \$77.9 million (restated) for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, or effective tax rates of -5% and 32%, respectively. The 2006 rates differ from the federal statutory rate, as well as from the rates used in 2005, primarily due to the inability to benefit from a substantial portion of the goodwill impairment charge recorded in the second quarter of 2006.

# **Segment Information**

We began to track financial information by our three operating segments during 2005 as our management structure and responsibilities began to measure the business based on product and service profitability. Financial information for each operating segment used by management to make financial decisions and allocate resources is as follows (in millions):

	Three Months Ended June				Six Months Ended June 30				
	30, 2006			<b>2005</b> Restated (1)		Six Months E 2006		<b>2005</b> Restated (1)	
Net Revenues:	¢	252.2	¢	221.0	¢	715.0	¢	(25.0	
Infrastructure	\$	352.2	\$	331.8	\$	715.2 227.7	\$	635.9 180.1	
Service Layer Technologies Service		116.6 98.7		91.9 69.3		191.3		180.1	
Scivice		90.7		09.5		191.5		120.1	
Total net revenues	\$	567.5	\$	493.0	\$	1,134.2	\$	942.1	
Operating (loss) income: Management operating income (loss):									
Infrastructure	\$	107.8	\$	117.4	\$	226.8	\$	224.6	
Service Layer Technologies	Ψ	(4.2)	Ψ	3.8	Ψ	(8.0)	Ψ	7.6	
Service		23.2		17.6		47.8		29.5	
Total management operating income		126.8		138.8		266.6		261.7	
Amortization of purchased intangible assets (2)		(24.6)		(19.9)		(49.1)		(38.4)	
Stock-based compensation expense		(23.2)		(5.2)		(46.2)		(10.4)	
Impairment of goodwill and intangibles		(1,283.4)				(1,283.4)		(1.0)	
In-process research and development		(A, A)		(1.9)		( <b>5</b> , <b>0</b> )		(1.9)	
Other charges, net (3)		(4.4)		6.6		(5.8)		6.6	
Total operating (loss) income		(1,208.8)		118.4		(1,117.9)		217.6	
Interest and other income		24.0		13.4		44.8		24.5	
Interest and other expense		(0.8)		(1.1)		(1.9)		(1.9)	
(Loss) income before income taxes	\$	(1,185.6)	\$	130.7	\$	(1,075.0)	\$	240.2	

(1) Stock-based compensation expense for the 2005 periods has been restated as a result of the stock option investigation. In addition, prior period amounts have been reclassified to reflect the reorganization of certain research and development activities and changes in allocation methodologies.

(2) Amounts

include amortization expense of purchased intangible assets in operating expenses and in costs of revenues.

(3) Other expense for 2006 and 2005 includes charges such as restructuring, acquisition related charges and patent related charges. *Infrastructure Operating Segment*

Infrastructure net revenues increased \$20.4 million and \$79.3 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2005 due primarily to increases in revenue from higher-end infrastructure products. We track infrastructure chassis revenue units and ports shipped to analyze customer trends and indicate areas of potential network growth. Our infrastructure product platforms are essentially modular, with the chassis serving as the base of the platform. Each chassis has a certain number of slots that are available to be populated with components we refer to as modules or interfaces. The modules are the components through which the router receives incoming packets of data from a variety of transmission media. The physical connection between a transmission medium and a module is referred to as a port. The number of ports on a module varies widely depending on the functionality and throughput offered by the module. Chassis revenue units represent the number of chassis on which revenue was recognized during the period. The following table shows infrastructure revenue units and ports shipped:

	Three Month				
	3	0,	Six Months Ended June 30		
	2006	2005*	2006	2005*	
Infrastructure chassis revenue units	2,632	2,447	4,968	4,865	
Infrastructure ports shipped	38,715	40,259	74,594	77,783	

\* Prior period information has been revised for comparative purposes.

Chassis revenue units in 2006 increased primarily due to the sales of higher-end T-series and M-series products and the inclusion of the chassis units related to a 2005 acquisition, partially offset by decreases in sales of lower-end E-series and M-series products. Sales of higher-end chassis units increased as our customers continued to adopt and expand IP networks in order to reduce total operating costs and to be able to offer multiple services over a single network. Port shipment units decreased compared to the 2005 periods primarily driven by the lower port capacity in the CTP-series chassis units despite the increase in ports shipped for the higher-end chassis revenue units during the 2006 periods. The inclusion of revenue from the 2005 acquisitions also contributed, in part, to the net revenue increases in the 2006 periods.

Infrastructure management operating income decreased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 as compared to the same periods in 2005. Gross margin percentages for the Infrastructure segment in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 were

47

consistent with that in the same 2005 periods. Revenue increases in the three and six months of June 30, 2006 was offset by higher personnel related costs primarily associated with product innovation and sales and marketing efforts for core and edge Infrastructure products.

SLT Operating Segment

The SLT operating segment consists of security products and application acceleration products. The following table shows SLT revenue units recognized:

	<b>Three Months</b>				
	30,		Six Months Ended June 30,		
	2006	2005	2006	2005	
Service Layer Technologies revenue units	45,600	36,000	89,100	74,000	

SLT net revenues increased \$24.7 million and \$47.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, as compared to the 2005 periods, primarily due to the inclusion of products from acquisitions completed in 2005 and increased demands for firewalls and J-series products in both the enterprise and service provider markets.

SLT management operating income decreased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in 2005. Gross margin percentages for the SLT segment declined in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the same 2005 periods due primarily to product mix prior to the introduction of the new integrated products. Although revenue and gross margin increased during the 2006 periods, such increases were offset by higher product and personnel related costs. In addition, the acquisitions in the second half of 2005 also contributed, in part, to the decreases in SLT s management operating income in the 2006 periods compared to a year ago. Personnel related costs primarily related to the headcount growth in order to support product innovation, product sales and a larger customer base.

### Service Operating Segment

Net service revenues increased \$29.4 million and \$65.2 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2005 primarily due to the growth in support services and, to a lesser extent, the growth in professional services. The growth in support services was largely due to increased technical support service contracts associated with higher product sales, which have resulted in an increased installed base of equipment being serviced. The growth in professional services was mainly due to resident engineering professional services and special consulting projects during the first six months of 2006. Service management operating income increased \$5.7 million and \$18.6 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2005, reflecting improved economies of scale achieved by faster revenue growth experienced in the Infrastructure segment and the SLT segment compared to the increases in operating expenses. In absolute dollars, employee related expenses increased in the 2006 periods as a result of increased service related headcount from 396 to 529 individuals. Expenses associated with spare components also increased in 2006 as a result of revenue growth.

# Liquidity and Capital Resources

# Overview

We have funded our business by issuing securities and through our operating activities. The following table shows our capital resources (in millions):

	December           June 30,         31,           2006         2005		31,
Working capital	\$ 1,393.5	\$	1,261.4
Cash and cash equivalents Short-term available-for-sale investments Long-term available-for-sale investments	\$ 1,087.6 548.3 611.7	\$	918.4 510.4 618.3

Total cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale investments

\$ 2,247.6 \$ 2,047.1

Working capital increased in the six months ended June 30, 2006 primarily due to cash provided by operations as well as the issuance of common stock through employee stock option exercises and through our Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The significant

components of our working capital are cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and accounts receivable, reduced by accounts payable, accrued liabilities and deferred revenue.

Based on past performance and current expectations, we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments, together with cash generated from operations and from the exercise of employee stock options and the purchase of common stock through our Employee Stock Purchase Plan, will satisfy our working capital needs, capital expenditures, commitments, repurchases of our common stock, and other liquidity requirements associated with our existing operations through at least the next 12 months. However, it is possible that we may need to raise additional funds to finance our activities beyond the next 12 months or to consummate acquisitions of other businesses, assets, products or technologies. We could raise such funds by selling equity or debt securities to the public or to selected investors, or by borrowing money from financial institutions. In addition, even though we may not need additional funds, we may still elect to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain credit facilities for other reasons.

There are no transactions, arrangements, and other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other persons that are reasonably likely to materially affect liquidity or the availability of our requirements for capital resources, except the \$2.0 billion stock repurchase program approved by the Board of Directors as described below. If we were to purchase \$2.0 billion of our common stock, we would significantly reduce our working capital and we may elect to obtain additional debt or credit facilities to fund the repurchases.

Our future capital requirements may vary materially from those now planned depending on many factors, including:

the overall levels of sales of our products and gross profit margins;

our business, product, capital expenditure and research and development plans;

the market acceptance of our products;

repurchase of our common stock;

issuance and repayment of debt;

litigation expenses, settlements and judgments;

volume price discounts and customer rebates;

the levels of accounts receivable that we maintain;

acquisitions of other businesses, assets, products or technologies;

changes in our compensation policies;

capital improvements for new and existing facilities;

technological advances;

our competitors responses to our products;

our relationships with suppliers and customers;

expenses related to our future restructuring plans, if any;

legal and professional service fees associated with our stock option investigation activities;

tax expense associated with stock-based awards;

issuance of stock-based awards and the related payment in cash for withholding taxes in the current year and possibly during future years;

the level of exercises of stock options and stock purchases under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan; and

general economic conditions and specific conditions in our industry and markets, including the effects of recent international conflicts and related uncertainties.

# Cash Requirements

In July 2006, our Board authorized a new stock repurchase program under which we are authorized to repurchase up to \$1.0 billion of our Company s common stock. In February 2007, our Board approved an increase of \$1.0 billion under this new share repurchase program. Coupled with the original \$1.0 billion approved in July 2006, we are now authorized to repurchase up to \$2.0 billion of our common stock. Purchases under this plan will be subject to a review of the circumstances in place at the time. Acquisitions under the share repurchase program will be made from time to time as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements. The program may be discontinued at any time.

In May 2006, our audit committee commenced an independent review of our stock option practices and related accounting. The audit committee was assisted by independent legal counsel and accounting experts. We had recognized \$2.5 million of expense for legal and other professional services associated with this stock option review through June 30, 2006 and \$18.0 million of additional fees and other costs in the remainder of 2006. In addition, we incurred tax related charges of \$10.1 million in the third and fourth quarters of 2006. We expect to incur additional fees and other costs in 2007.

#### **Contractual Obligations**

Our principal commitments consist of obligations outstanding under operating leases, the Zero Coupon Convertible Senior Notes due June 15, 2008 (Senior Notes), purchase commitments, escrow payments, bonus and earn-out obligations.

Our contractual obligations under operating leases, which extend through 2016, primarily pertain to our facilities. Future minimum payments under our non-cancelable operating leases totaled \$188.6 million as of June 30, 2006.

The Senior Notes were issued in June 2003 and are senior unsecured obligations, rank on parity in right of payment with all of our existing and future senior unsecured debt, and rank senior to all of our existing and future debt that expressly provides that it is subordinated to the notes. The Senior Notes bear no interest, but are convertible into shares of our common stock, subject to certain conditions, at any time prior to maturity on June 15, 2008, or their prior repurchase by Juniper Networks. The conversion rate is 49.6512 shares per each \$1,000 principal amount of convertible notes, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. This is equivalent to a conversion price of approximately \$20.14 per share. As of June 30, 2006, the carrying value of the Senior Notes was \$399.9 million. Due to the stock option investigation, the Company did not file its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006 by the respective due dates. The Company received a Notice of Default on August 25, 2006 from the Trustee of the Senior Notes alleging that the Company was in violation of certain provisions of the Indenture relating to the Senior Notes as a result of its failure to file and was given a 60-day cure period to file its quarterly reports. The holders of the Senior Notes may have had the right to accelerate the Senior Notes by sending the Company a valid Notice of Acceleration in accordance with the terms of the Indenture so long as the Event of Default was continuing. As of the filing of this report, the Company had not received a Notice of Acceleration. Upon the filing of the Company s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006 the alleged default and Event of Default relating to the late filings of these reports is no longer continuing.

We do not have firm purchase commitments with our contract manufacturers. In order to reduce manufacturing lead times and ensure adequate component supply, our contract manufacturers place non-cancelable, non-returnable (NCNR) orders, which were valued at \$199.4 million as of June 30, 2006, based on our build forecasts. We do not take ownership of the components and the NCNR orders do not represent firm purchase commitments pursuant to our agreements with the contract manufacturers. The components are used by the contract manufacturers to build products based on purchase orders we have received from our customers or our forecast. We may incur a liability for products built by the contract manufacturer if the components go unused for specified periods of time and, in the meantime, we may be assessed carrying charges. As of June 30, 2006, we had accrued a total of \$22.1 million based on our estimate of such charges.

As of June 30, 2006, other contractual obligations consisted primarily of the escrow obligations of \$21.2 million in connection with past acquisitions for indemnity obligations expiring between July 2006 and June 2007. Earn-out and bonus obligations of \$8.2 million may be payable to certain employees from our past acquisitions through the fourth quarter of 2007 and recorded as compensation expense ratably over the periods in which the payouts are measured.

In addition, 1.6 million shares of the Company s common stock with a fair value of \$35.2 million, established as of the acquisition date, were held in escrow to secure certain indemnity obligations associated with the Peribit acquisition. One-half of the indemnity obligations expired in July 2006 and the remaining one-half expired in January 2007. The escrow shares less amounts necessary to satisfy claims, if any, will be issued at the current market price upon settlement of the escrow.

### Summary of Cash Activities

In the first six months of 2006, we generated net cash flows of \$169.2 million from our operations. Cash provided by operating activities totaled \$356.5 million, which was partially offset by the \$74.0 million used in investing activities and \$113.3 million in financing activities.

#### **Operating Activities**

Net cash provided by operating activities was \$356.5 million and \$300.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Net cash generated from operating activities increased by \$56.0 million in the 2006 period compared to a year ago primarily due to customer payments and decreases in accounts receivable, partially offset by the timing of our vendor payments, additional stock option investigation costs associated with our stock

option investigation and bonus payments in the period, as well as the classification of tax benefit of employee stock options changed from operating activities to financing activities. Cash provided by operating activities for each period was driven by our net income adjusted by:

Non-cash charges of \$1,411.6 million and \$139.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, were attributable to depreciation and amortization expenses, stock-based compensation and amortization of debt issuance costs. Non-cash charges in the six months ended June 30, 2006 also included a \$1,280.0 million goodwill impairment and a \$3.4 million intangible asset impairment whereas there were no impairment charges in the six months ended June 30, 2005. Non-cash charges of \$63.7 million related to tax benefit from employee stock options was included in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2005. As a result of the adoption of SFAS 123R, gross tax benefits of \$3.8 million from tax deductions in excess of the stock-based compensation expense recognized for the six months ended June 30, 2006 were presented as a financing activity and the operating cash flows for the same period were reduced by the corresponding amount in the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows.

Changes in operating assets and liabilities of \$75.5 million and \$(1.8) million for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, were generated in the normal course of business. Net cash increased in the 2006 period which was primarily attributable to the increases in deferred revenue of \$56.4 million and decreases in net accounts receivable of \$18.6 million, increases in other accrued liabilities of \$21.2 million and decreases in prepaid expenses and other assets of \$13.3 million, partially offset by decreases in accounts payable of \$28.8 million and decreases in accrued compensation of \$5.0 million. Increases in deferred revenue were primarily attributable to the payments received from a customer. Decreases in net accounts receivable were primarily attributable to collections. Increases in other accrued liabilities were primarily attributable to a decrease in deferred tax liability and the reclassification of gross tax benefits from tax deductions to financing activities. The increases in prepaid, other current assets and other long-term assets were attributable to the additional deferred tax assets. Decreases in accounts payable were attributable to the timing of payments. Decreases in accrued compensation were primarily due to the bonus payments to employees. Net cash used during the six months ended June 30, 2005 was primarily attributable to increases in prepaid expenses and other assets of \$23.4 million, decreases in other accrued liabilities of \$22.2 million, increases in accounts receivable of \$13.1 million, decreases in accrued compensation of \$9.3 million, partially offset by increases in deferred revenue of \$66.8 million.

# Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was \$74.0 million and \$232.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Investing activities included purchases, sales and maturities of available-for-sale securities, capital expenditures, purchase and sale of minority equity investments, changes in restricted cash requirements and acquisition of businesses. Net investment in available-for-sale securities increased by \$5.4 million in the six months ended June 30, 2006, compared to the 2005 period, as additional funds were maintained in available-for-sale securities accounts. Capital expenditures increased by \$2.8 million in the first six months of 2006 compared to the same period in 2005 mainly due to increases in equipment purchases during the 2006 period. Restricted cash decreased by \$18.9 million in the first six months of 2006 period. Another contributing factor to the decrease in restricted cash in 2006 was the reduction in deposit requirements of \$6.2 million pertaining to letters of credit for facility leases. Net cash payments related to the Kagoor and Redline acquisitions in the first six months of 2005 were \$155.3 million.

# Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was \$113.3 million in the six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to the \$75.3 million generated in the six months ended June 30, 2005. Net cash used in the 2006 period increased primarily due to common stock repurchases, offset in part by the classification of tax benefits related to employee option exercises as financing cash flows upon the adoption of SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006. Tax deductions in excess of the expense recognized for employee stock options were previously included in cash flows from operations prior to 2006. In the six months ended June 30, 2006, we repurchased 10,071,000 shares of our common stock at an average price of \$18.51 per share, or a total of \$186.4 million. The cash outflow was partially offset by proceeds of \$69.3 million from employee option exercises and tax benefits of \$3.8 million from tax deductions in excess of the expense recognized for employee stock options. In the six months ended June 30, 2005, \$75.3 million was provided

by the issuance of common stock related to employee option exercises and Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Factors That May Affect Future Results

A description of risk factors associated with our business is included under Risk Factors in Item 1A of Part II of this report.

# Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our market risk profile has not changed significantly during the six months ended June 30, 2006. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the 2006 Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC and the condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-Q.

# **Interest Rate Risk**

We maintain an investment portfolio of various holdings, types and maturities. These securities are generally classified as available-for-sale and, consequently, are recorded on the condensed consolidated balance sheet at fair value with unrealized gains or losses reported as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

At any time, a rise in interest rates could have a material adverse impact on the fair value of our investment portfolio. Conversely, declines in interest rates could have a material impact on interest earnings of our investment portfolio. We do not currently hedge these interest rate exposures. We recognized no material net gains or losses related to the sales of our investments during the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005.

# Foreign Currency Risk and Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts

It is our policy to use derivatives to partially offset our market exposure to fluctuations in foreign currencies. We do not enter into derivatives for speculative or trading purposes.

We use foreign currency forward contracts to mitigate transaction gains and losses generated by certain foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities. These derivatives are carried at fair value with changes recorded in other income (expense). Changes in the fair value of these derivatives are largely offset by re-measurement of the underlying assets and liabilities. These foreign exchange contracts have maturities between one and two months.

Periodically, we use foreign currency forward and/or option contracts to hedge certain forecasted foreign currency transactions relating to operating expenses. These derivatives are designated as cash flow hedges and have maturities of less than one year. The effective portion of the derivative s gain or loss is initially reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and, upon occurrence of the forecasted transaction, is subsequently reclassified into the consolidated statements of operations line item to which the hedged transaction relates. We record any ineffectiveness of the hedging instruments, which was immaterial during the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, in other income (expense) on our condensed consolidated statements of operations.

# **Investments In Privately Held Companies**

From time to time, we make minority equity investments in privately held companies. These investments are strategic in nature and are typically made in companies that are in their early stages of development. As such, these investments carry the risk associated with new ventures. We monitor the progress of these companies and their financial viability on a quarterly basis and ascertain if there is any impairment to our carrying cost of these investments.

As of June 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the carrying value of our minority equity investments in privately held companies was \$16.3 million and \$13.2 million, respectively. There were no impairment charges against our minority equity investments in the three and nine months ended ended June 30, 2006. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, we made minority investments of \$3.0 million and \$3.1 million, respectively, in privately-held companies.

# Item 4. Controls and Procedures

# **Stock Option Grant Practices and Restatement**

As discussed in Note 2 in Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q, during 2006, an independent investigation related to our historical stock option granting practices was carried out by the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors. As a result of the investigation, we reached a conclusion that incorrect measurement dates were used for financial accounting purposes for certain stock option grants made in prior periods. Therefore, we have recorded additional non-cash stock-based compensation expense and related tax effects with regard to past stock option grants, substantially all of which relate to options granted between June 9, 1999 and December 31, 2003. We are restating previously filed financial statements in the quarterly reports

on Form 10-Q for June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006 and in the annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.

# Remediation of Past Material Weaknesses in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

As a result of this investigation, we identified certain material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting related to our stock option granting practices and the related accounting in periods ending prior to June 30, 2006.

Before 2003, we did not have sufficient safeguards in place to monitor our control practices regarding stock option pricing and related financial reporting, the result of which is discussed in Item 1, Note 2 of this report. From 2003 through 2006 we implemented improvements to procedures, processes, and systems to provide additional safeguards and greater internal control over our financial reporting processes including, but not limited to, the stock option granting and administration function, in compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX) and evolving accounting guidance. These improvements included, but were not limited to:

- § In response to the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, documenting accounting policies, processes and procedures; and assessing the design and operation effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting. These efforts led to segregating responsibilities, adding reviews and reconciliations, and redefining roles and responsibilities.
- Solution Committee approval as the grant and measurement date for stock option grants.
- S Also in response to the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, establishing a confidential hotline for use by employees to report actual or suspected wrongdoing and to answer questions about business conduct. Reports may be made anonymously, and all reports are investigated. Information about this hotline is available on our internal websites.
- S Additionally in response to certain of the reporting requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which requires executive officers to report stock option grants within two business days, implementing new procedures for stock option grants that were designed to provide reasonable assurance that stock options were priced on the actual grant date.
- Seffective January 1, 2006, adopting SFAS No. 123R and added controls in our stock administration, human resources and finance functions to ensure that stock-based compensation expenses are recorded correctly.
- S Obtaining additional resources with responsibilities for financial reporting, internal controls, compliance and stock accounting and administration.
- § Upgrading systems and system controls that support the stock option granting processes.
- S Establishing in 2003 an internal audit function that reports functionally to the Audit Committee. The internal audit function is chartered with evaluating the adequacy of risk management, control, and governance processes and determining whether these processes are functioning in a manner to ensure our financial statements are accurate, reliable and fairly presented.

We believe that these changes remediated the past material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting related to our stock option granting practices and the related accounting and reduced to remote the likelihood that any incorrect measurement dates or any material error in accounting.

In addition to the significant improvements implemented between 2003 and 2006 discussed above, we will adopt other measures identified by the Board of Directors to enhance the oversight of the stock option granting and administration function and the review and preparation of financial statements, including, but not limited to, the following:

- **§** We will develop an equity award granting process to provide a more regular schedule for when grants are made.
- **§** Our Compensation Committee will perform periodic reviews of our equity award granting policies.
- S The Stock Option Committee will be expanded to include the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and a non-management member of the Board of Directors.
- S The authority of the Stock Option Committee to approve equity awards will be limited to a maximum number of shares per recipient.
- S The Stock Option Committee will deliver quarterly reports summarizing granting activity to the Board of Directors.
- **§** We will implement cross-functional training for persons involved in the equity award process and accounting.
- **§** We will introduce additional controls related to the equity award granting and administration process where necessary.

# **Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures**

Attached as exhibits to this report are certifications of our CEO and CFO, which are required in accordance with Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. This Controls and Procedures section includes information concerning the controls

and controls evaluation referred to in the certifications, and it should be read in conjunction with the certifications for a more complete understanding of the topics presented.

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the CEO and CFO, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Based upon that evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded that, as of the end of the period covered in this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the company in reports that it files under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that material information relating to our consolidated operations is made known to our management, including the CEO and CFO, particularly during the period when our periodic reports are being prepared.

# **Changes in Internal Controls**

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the second quarter of 2006 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

# PART II OTHER INFORMATION

# Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to legal claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business, such as employment or intellectual property claims, including the matters described below. The outcome of any such matters is currently not determinable. Although we do not expect that such legal claims and litigation will ultimately have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations, an adverse result in one or more matters could negatively affect our results in the period in which they occur.

# Stock Option Lawsuits

# Federal Derivative Lawsuits

Between May 24, 2006 and August 17, 2006, seven purported shareholder derivative actions were filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California against us and certain of our current and former officers and directors. The lawsuits allege that our officers and directors either participated in illegal back-dating of stock option grants or allowed it to happen. The lawsuits assert causes of action for violations of federal securities laws, violations of California securities laws, breaches of fiduciary duty, aiding and abetting breaches of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, corporate waste, breach of contract, unjust enrichment, gross mismanagement, insider selling and constructive fraud. The actions also demand an accounting and rescission of allegedly improper stock option grants. On October 19, 2006, the Court ordered the consolidation of these actions as *In Re Juniper Derivative Actions*, No. 06-03396, and appointed as lead plaintiffs Timothy Hill, Employer-Teamsters Local Nos. 175 & 505 Pension Trust Fund, and Indiana State District Council of Laborers and HOD Carriers Pension Fund. The Court ordered lead plaintiffs to file a consolidated complaint no later than January 12, 2007. On February 14, 2007, the parties agreed to extend the deadline for plaintiffs to file a consolidated complaint until thirty days after we complete the filing of our restated financial statements with the Securities Exchange Commission, and the court approved the stipulation on February 15, 2007.

# State Derivative Lawsuits California

On May 24, 2006 and June 2, 2006, two purported shareholder derivative actions were filed in the Santa Clara County Superior Court in the State of California against us and certain of our current and former officers and directors. These two actions were consolidated as *In re Juniper Networks Derivative Litigation*, No. 1:06CV064294, by order dated June 20, 2006. A consolidated complaint was filed on July 17, 2006. The consolidated complaint alleges that certain of our current and former officers and directors either participated in illegal back-dating of stock options or allowed it to happen. The complaint asserts causes of action for unjust enrichment, breach of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste, and violations of California securities laws for insider selling. Plaintiffs also demand an accounting and rescission of allegedly improper stock options grants. On July 28, 2006, the defendants filed a motion to stay all discovery in this action. On August 16, 2006, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss or stay this action in favor of the federal derivative actions pending in the Northern District of California.

Plaintiffs have not yet filed their oppositions to those two motions. On November 6, 2006, the parties stipulated that the plaintiffs could file a motion to amend their complaint and a motion to compel responses to discovery no later than thirty days after we complete the filing of our restated financial

statements, and that the hearing on the defendants two pending motions will be heard on the same date as the plaintiffs two contemplated motions.

Federal Securities Class Actions

On July 14, 2006, a purported class action complaint styled Garber v. Juniper Networks, Inc., et al.,

No. C-06-4327 MJJ, was filed in the Northern District of California against us and certain of our officers and directors. The plaintiff filed a Corrected Complaint on July 28, 2006. The Garber class action is brought on behalf of all purchasers of Juniper Networks common stock between September 1, 2003 and May 22, 2006. On August 29, 2006, another purported class action complaint styled Peters v. Juniper Networks, Inc., et al., No. C 06 5303 JW, was filed in the Northern District of California against us and certain of our officers and directors. The Peters class action is brought on behalf of all purchasers of Juniper Networks common stock between April 10, 2003 and August 10, 2006. Both of these purported class actions allege that we and certain of our officers and directors violated federal securities laws by manipulating stock option grant dates to coincide with low stock prices and issuing false and misleading statements including, among others, incorrect financial statements due to the improper accounting of stock option grants. On November 20, 2006, the Court appointed the New York City Pension Funds as lead plaintiffs. The lead plaintiffs filed a Consolidated Class Action Complaint on January 12, 2007. The Consolidated Complaint asserts claims on behalf of all purchasers of, or those who otherwise acquired, Juniper Networks publicly traded securities from April 10, 2003 through and including August 20, 2006. The Consolidated Complaint alleges violations of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 by us and certain of our current and former officers and directors. On February 15, 2007, the parties agreed that plaintiffs may file an Amended Consolidated Complaint within thirty days after we file our restated financial statements with the Securities Exchange Commission, and the court approved the stipulation on February 16, 2007.

# **Other Matters**

# IPO Allocation Case

In December 2001, a class action complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against the Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation, FleetBoston Robertson Stephens, Inc., Royal Bank of Canada (Dain Rauscher Wessels), SG Cowen Securities Corporation, UBS Warburg LLC (Warburg Dillon Read LLC), Chase (Hambrecht & Quist LLC), J.P. Morgan Chase & Co., Lehman Brothers, Inc., Salomon Smith Barney, Inc., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Incorporated (collectively, the Underwriters ), our Company and certain of our officers. This action was brought on behalf of purchasers of our

common stock in our initial public offering in June 1999 and our secondary offering in September 1999.

Specifically, among other things, this complaint alleged that the prospectus pursuant to which shares of common stock were sold in our initial public offering and our subsequent secondary offering contained certain false and misleading statements or omissions regarding the practices of the Underwriters with respect to their allocation of shares of common stock in these offerings and their receipt of commissions from customers related to such allocations. Various plaintiffs have filed actions asserting similar allegations concerning the initial public offerings of approximately 300 other issuers. These various cases pending in the Southern District of New York have been coordinated for pretrial proceedings as *In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation*, 21 MC 92. In April 2002, plaintiffs filed a consolidated amended complaint in the action against us, alleging violations of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Defendants in the coordinated proceeding filed motions to dismiss. In October 2002, our officers were dismissed from the case without prejudice pursuant to a stipulation. On February 19, 2003, the court granted in part and denied in part the motion to dismiss, but declined to dismiss the claims against us.

In June 2004, a stipulation for the settlement and release of claims against the issuer defendants, including us, was submitted to the Court for approval. The terms of the settlement, if approved, would dismiss and release all claims against participating defendants (including us). In exchange for this dismissal, Directors and Officers insurance carriers would agree to guarantee a recovery by the plaintiffs from the underwriter defendants of at least \$1.0 billion, and the issuer defendants would agree to an assignment or surrender to the plaintiffs of certain claims the issuer defendants may have against the underwriters. On August 31, 2005, the Court confirmed preliminary approval of the settlement. On April 24, 2006, the Court held a fairness hearing in connection with the motion for final approval of the settlement. The Court did not issue a ruling on the motion for final approval at the fairness hearing. The settlement

remains subject to a number of conditions, including final court approval. On December 5, 2006, the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit reversed the Court s October 2004 order certifying a class in the case against us, which along with five other issuers, was selected as a test case by the underwriter defendants and plaintiffs in the coordinated proceeding. It is unclear what impact this will have on the settlement and the case against us.

#### Toshiba Patent Infringement Litigation

On November 13, 2003, Toshiba Corporation filed suit in the United States District Court in Delaware against us, alleging that certain of our products infringe four Toshiba patents, and seeking an injunction and unspecified damages. A Markman hearing was held in April 2006, and a ruling favorable to us was issued on June 28, 2006. Toshiba stipulated to non-infringement of the four patents and filed a notice of appeal with the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. The Delaware court has removed the trial, previously scheduled for August 2006, from its calendar, pending resolution of the appeal. We expect the appeal will not be heard before July 2007.

### IRS Notices of Proposed Adjustments

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has concluded an audit of our federal income tax returns for fiscal years 1999 and 2000. During 2004, we received a Notice of Proposed Adjustment (NOPA) from the IRS. While the final resolution of the issues raised in the NOPA is uncertain, we do not believe that the outcome of this matter will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations. We are also under routine examination by certain state and non-US tax authorities. We believe that we have adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable outcome related to these audits.

In conjunction with the IRS income tax audit, certain of our US payroll tax returns are currently under examination for fiscal years 1999 2001, and we received a second NOPA in the amount of \$11.7 million for employment tax assessments primarily related to the timing of tax deposits related to employee stock option exercises. We responded to this NOPA in February 2005, and intend to dispute this assessment with the IRS. An initial appeals conference was held on January 31, 2006 and October 3, 2006. The appeal process available to us has not been concluded. In the event that this issue is resolved unfavorably to us, there exists the possibility of a material adverse impact on our results of operations.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

The risk factors included herein include any material changes to and supersedes the description of the risk factors associated with our business previously disclosed in Item 1A to Part I of our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Investments in equity securities of publicly traded companies involve significant risks. The market price of our stock reflects a higher multiple of expected future earnings than many other companies. Accordingly, even small changes in investor expectations for our future growth and earnings, whether as a result of actual or rumored financial or operating results, changes in the mix of the products and services sold, acquisitions, industry changes or other factors, could trigger significant fluctuations in the market price of our common stock. Investors in our securities should carefully consider all of the relevant factors, including, but not limited to, the following factors, that could affect our stock price.

# Matters related to the investigation into our historical stock option granting practices and the restatement of our financial statements may result in additional litigation, regulatory proceedings and government enforcement actions.

Our historical stock option granting practices and the restatement of our financial statements have exposed us to greater risks associated with litigation, regulatory proceedings and government enforcement actions. For more information regarding our current litigation and related inquiries, please see Part II, Item 1- Legal Proceedings as well as the other risk factors related to litigation set forth in this section. We have provided the results of our internal review and independent investigation to the SEC and the United States Attorney s Office for the Northern District of California, and in that regard we have responded to formal and informal requests for documents and additional information. We intend to continue to cooperate with these governmental agencies. No assurance can be given regarding the outcomes from litigation, regulatory proceedings or government enforcement actions relating to our past stock option practices. The resolution of these matters will be time consuming, expensive, and may distract management from the conduct of our business. Furthermore, if we are subject to adverse findings in litigation, regulatory proceedings, we could be required to pay damages or penalties or have other remedies imposed, which could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In addition, while we believe that we have made appropriate judgments in determining the correct measurement dates for our stock option grants, the SEC may disagree with the manner in which we accounted for and reported, or not reported, the corresponding financial impact. Accordingly, there is a risk that we may have to further restate our

prior financial statements, amend prior filings with the SEC, or take other actions not currently contemplated.

Also, in August 2006, we received a NASDAQ Staff Determination letter stating that, as a result of the delayed filing of our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006 (the Second Quarter Form 10-Q), we were not in compliance with the filing requirements for continued listing as set forth in Marketplace Rule 4310(c)(14) and were therefore subject to delisting from the NASDAQ Global Select Market. In November 2006, we received an additional letter from NASDAQ of similar substance

related to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 (the Third Quarter Form 10-Q). In December 2006, the NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Panel granted our request for continued listing, provided that we file a written summary of our audit committee s findings with NASDAQ as well as the Second Quarter Form 10-Q, the Third Quarter Form 10-Q and any required restatements with the SEC on or before February 12, 2007. In January, we received a notice from the NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Panel has been stayed pending further review by the Review Council. We have been given until March 30, 2007 to submit additional information to assist the Review Council in their assessment of our listing status. On February 20, 2007, we filed a written summary of our audit committee s findings with NASDAQ. In addition, on March 9, 2007, we filed the Second Quarter Form 10-Q and the Third Quarter Form 10-Q with the SEC. We consider that the filing of these materials has remedied our non-compliance with Marketplace Rule 4310(c)(14), subject to NASDAQ s affirmative completion of its compliance protocols and its notification to us accordingly. However, if NASDAQ disagrees with our position or if the SEC disagrees with the manner in which we have accounted for and reported, or not reported, the financial impact of past stock option grants, there could be further delays in filing subsequent SEC reports or other actions that might result in delisting of our common stock from the NASDAQ Global Select Market.

# Fluctuating economic conditions make it difficult to predict revenues for a particular period and a shortfall in revenues may harm our operating results.

Our revenues depend significantly on general economic conditions and the demand for products in the markets in which we compete. Economic weakness, customer financial difficulties and constrained spending on network expansion have previously resulted (for example, in 2001 and 2002), and may in the future result, in decreased revenues and earnings and could negatively impact our ability to forecast and manage our contract manufacturer relationships. Economic downturns may also lead to restructuring initiatives and associated expenses and impairment of investments. In addition, our operating expenses are largely based on anticipated revenue trends and a high percentage of our expenses are, and will continue to be, fixed in the short-term. Uncertainty about future economic conditions makes it difficult to forecast operating results and to make decisions about future investments. Future economic weakness, customer financial difficulties and reductions in spending on network expansion could have a material adverse effect on demand for our products and consequently on our results of operations and stock price. *Our quarterly results are inherently unpredictable and subject to substantial fluctuations and, as a result, we may fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts and investors, which could adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.* 

Our revenues and operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter due to a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control and any of which may cause our stock price to fluctuate.

The factors that may affect the unpredictability of our quarterly results include, but are not limited to, limited visibility into customer spending plans, changes in the mix of products sold, changing market conditions, including current and potential customer consolidation, competition, customer concentration, long sales and implementation cycles, regional economic and political conditions and seasonality. For example, many companies in our industry experience adverse seasonal fluctuations in customer spending patterns, particularly in the first and third quarters.

As a result, we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of operating results are not necessarily a good indication of what our future performance will be. It is likely that in some future quarters, our operating results may be below the expectations of securities analysts or investors, in which case the price of our common stock may decline. Such a decline could occur, and has occurred in the past, even when we have met our publicly stated revenue and/or earnings guidance.

# We sell our products to customers that use those products to build networks and IP infrastructure and, if the demand for network and IP systems does not continue to grow, then our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

A substantial portion of our business and revenue depends on the growth of secure IP infrastructure and on the deployment of our products by customers that depend on the continued growth of IP services. As a result of changes in the economy and capital spending or the building of network capacity in excess of demand, all of which have in the past particularly affected telecommunications service providers, spending on IP infrastructure can vary, which could

have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results. In addition, a number of our existing customers are evaluating the build out of their next generation network, or NGN. During the decision making period when the customers are determining the design of those networks and the selection of the equipment they will use in those networks, such customers may greatly reduce or suspend their spending on secure IP infrastructure. Such pauses in purchases can make it more difficult to predict revenues from such customers, can cause fluctuations in the level of spending by these customers and, even where our products are ultimately selected, can have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

## A limited number of our customers comprise a significant portion of our revenues and any decrease in revenue from these customers could have an adverse effect on our net revenues and operating results.

A substantial majority of our net revenues depend on sales to a limited number of customers and distribution partners. Siemens and Verizon each accounted for greater than 10% of our net revenues during the three months ended June 30, 2006. Siemens also accounted for greater than 10% of our net revenues during the six months ended June 30, 2006 and for greater than 10% of our net revenues during the three and six months ended June 30, 2005. This customer concentration increases the risk of quarterly fluctuations in our revenues and operating results. Any downturn in the business of our key customers or potential new customers could significantly decrease sales to such customers, which could adversely affect our net revenues and results of operations. In addition, there has been and continues to be consolidation in the telecommunications industry (for example, the acquisitions of AT&T Inc., MCI, Inc. and BellSouth Corporation) and consolidation among the large vendors of telecommunications equipment and services (for example, the combination of Alcatel S.A. and Lucent Technologies Inc. and the acquisition of Redback Networks, Inc. by Ericsson). Such consolidation may cause our customers who are involved in these acquisitions to suspend or indefinitely reduce their purchases of our products or have other unforeseen consequences that could harm our business and operating results.

# We rely on value-added resellers and distribution partners to sell our products, and disruptions to, or our failure to effectively develop and manage, our distribution channel and the processes and procedures that support it could adversely affect our ability to generate revenues from the sale of our products.

Our future success is highly dependent upon establishing and maintaining successful relationships with a variety of value-added reseller and distribution partners. The majority of our revenues are derived through value-added resellers and distributors, most of which also sell competitors products. Our revenues depend in part on the performance of these partners. The loss of or reduction in sales to our value-added resellers or distributors could materially reduce our revenues. During 2006, Alcatel, a competitor of ours, acquired Lucent, one of our largest value-added resellers. In addition, our largest customer, Siemens, has announced that it will be transferring its telecommunications business to a joint venture between Siemens and Nokia. Our competitors may in some cases be effective in providing incentives to current or potential resellers and distributors to favor their products or to prevent or reduce sales of our products. If we fail to maintain relationships with our partners, fail to develop new relationships with value-added resellers and distributors in new markets or expand the number of distributors and resellers in existing markets, fail to manage, train or motivate existing value-added resellers and distributors effectively or if these partners are not successful in their sales efforts, sales of our products may decrease and our operating results would suffer.

In addition, we recognize a portion of our revenue based on a sell-through model using information provided by our distributors. If those distributors provide us with inaccurate or untimely information, the amount or timing of our revenues could be adversely impacted.

Further, in order to develop and expand our distribution channel, we must continue to scale and improve our processes and procedures that support it, and those processes and procedures may become increasingly complex and inherently difficult to manage. Our failure to successfully manage and develop our distribution channel and the processes and procedures that support it could adversely affect our ability to generate revenues from the sale of our products.

# Traditional telecommunications companies and other large companies generally require more onerous terms and conditions of their vendors. As we seek to sell more products to such customers, we may be required to agree to terms and conditions that may have an adverse effect on our business or ability to recognize revenue.

Traditional telecommunications companies and other large companies, because of their size, generally have had greater purchasing power and, accordingly, have requested and received more favorable terms, which often translate into more onerous terms and conditions for their vendors. As we seek to sell more products to this class of customer, we may be required to agree to such terms and conditions, which may include terms that affect the timing of our ability to recognize revenue and have an adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

For example, many customers in this class have purchased products from other vendors who promised certain functionality and failed to deliver such functionality and/or had products that caused problems and outages in the networks of these customers. As a result, this class of customers may request additional features from us and require

substantial penalties for failure to deliver such features or may require substantial penalties for any network outages that may be caused by our products. These additional requests and penalties, if we are required to agree to them, would affect our ability to recognize the revenues from such sales, which may negatively affect our business and our financial condition. For example, in April 2006, we announced that we would be required to defer a large amount of revenue from a customer due to the contractual obligations required by that customer.

For arrangements with multiple elements, vendor specific objective evidence of fair value is required in order to separate the components and to account for elements of the arrangement separately. Vendor specific objective evidence of fair value is based on the price charged when the element is sold separately. However, customers may require terms and conditions that make it more difficult or impossible for us to maintain vendor specific objective evidence of fair value for the undelivered elements to a similar group of customers, the result of which could cause us to defer the entire arrangement fees for a similar group of customers (product, maintenance, professional services, etc.) and recognize revenue only when the last element is delivered or if the only undelivered element is maintenance revenue would be recognized ratably over the contractual maintenance period which is generally one year. *We face intense competition that could reduce our revenues and adversely affect our financial results.* 

Competition is intense in the markets that we address. The IP infrastructure market has historically been dominated by Cisco Systems, Inc. with other companies such as Alcatel-Lucent, Ericsson, Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd., and Nortel Networks Corporation providing products to a smaller segment of the market. In addition, a number of other small public and private companies have products or have announced plans for new products to address the same challenges that our products address.

In the service layer technologies market, we face intense competition from a broader group of companies including appliance vendors such as Cisco, Fortinet, Inc., F5 Networks, Inc., Nortel and Riverbed Technology, Inc., and software vendors such as CheckPoint Software Technologies, Ltd. In addition, a number of other small public and private companies have products or have announced plans for new products to address the same challenges that our products address.

In addition, actual or speculated consolidation among competitors, or the acquisition of our partners and resellers by competitors, can increase the competitive pressures faced by us. In this regard, Alcatel has recently combined with Lucent and Ericsson has recently acquired Redback. A number of our competitors have substantially greater resources and can offer a wider range of products and services for the overall network equipment market than we do. If we are unable to compete successfully against existing and future competitors on the basis of product offerings or price, we could experience a loss in market share and revenues and/or be required to reduce prices, which could reduce our gross margins, and which could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. *If we do not successfully anticipate market needs and develop products and product enhancements that meet those needs, or if those products do not gain market acceptance, we may not be able to compete effectively and our ability to generate revenues will suffer.* 

We cannot guarantee that we will be able to anticipate future market needs or be able to develop new products or product enhancements to meet such needs or to meet them in a timely manner. If we fail to anticipate the market requirements or to develop new products or product enhancements to meet those needs, such failure could substantially decrease market acceptance and sales of our present and future products, which would significantly harm our business and financial results. Even if we are able to anticipate, develop and commercially introduce new products and enhancements, there can be no assurance that new products or enhancements will achieve widespread market acceptance. Any failure of our products to achieve market acceptance could adversely affect our business and financial results.

# We are a party to lawsuits, which are costly to investigate and defend and, if determined adversely to us, could require us to pay damages, any or all of which could harm our business and financial condition.

We and certain of our current and former officers and current and former members of our board of directors are subject to various lawsuits. For example, the SEC and U.S. Attorney soffice have inquired regarding our stock option pricing practices, and we have been served with lawsuits related to the alleged backdating of stock options and other related matters, a description of which can be found above in Part II, Item 1- Legal Proceedings. There can be no assurance that these or any actions that have been or may be brought against us will be resolved in our favor. Regardless of whether they are resolved in our favor, these lawsuits are, and any future lawsuits to which we may become a party will likely be, expensive and time consuming to investigate, defend and/or resolve. Such costs of investigation and defense, as well as any losses resulting from these claims, could significantly increase our expenses and adversely affect our profitability and cash flow.

# If we fail to accurately predict our manufacturing requirements, we could incur additional costs or experience manufacturing delays which would harm our business.

We provide demand forecasts to our contract manufacturers. If we overestimate our requirements, the contract manufacturers may assess charges or we may have liabilities for excess inventory, each of which could negatively affect our gross margins. Conversely,

because lead times for required materials and components vary significantly and depend on factors such as the specific supplier, contract terms and the demand for each component at a given time, if we underestimate our requirements, the contract manufacturers may have inadequate time or materials and components required to produce our products, which could delay or interrupt manufacturing of our products and result in delays in shipments and deferral or loss of revenues.

## If we fail to adequately evolve our financial and managerial control and reporting systems and processes, our ability to manage and grow our business will be negatively affected.

Our ability to successfully offer our products and implement our business plan in a rapidly evolving market depends upon an effective planning and management process. We will need to continue to improve our financial and managerial control and our reporting systems and procedures in order to manage our business effectively in the future. If we fail to continue to implement improved systems and processes, our ability to manage our business and results of operations may be negatively affected.

#### Our ability to develop, market and sell products could be harmed if we are unable to retain or hire key personnel.

Our future success depends upon our ability to recruit and retain the services of key executive, engineering, sales, marketing and support personnel. The supply of highly qualified individuals, in particular engineers in very specialized technical areas, or sales people specializing in the service provider and enterprise markets, is limited and competition for such individuals is intense. None of our officers or key employees is bound by an employment agreement for any specific term. The loss of the services of any of our key employees, the inability to attract or retain key personnel in the future or delays in hiring required personnel, particularly engineers and sales people, and the complexity and time involved in replacing or training new employees, could delay the development and introduction of new products, and negatively impact our ability to market, sell or support our products.

# Our reported financial results could suffer if there is an additional impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets with indefinite lives.

We are required to annually test, and review on an interim basis, our goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives, including the goodwill associated with past acquisitions and any future acquisitions, to determine if impairment has occurred. If such assets are deemed impaired, an impairment loss equal to the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the assets would be recognized. This would result in incremental expenses for that quarter which would reduce any earnings or increase any loss for the period in which the impairment was determined to have occurred. For example, such impairment could occur if the market value of our common stock falls below certain levels for a sustained period or if the portions of our business related to companies we have acquired fail to grow at expected rates or decline. In the second quarter of 2006, this impairment evaluation resulted in a reduction of \$1,280.0 million to the carrying value of goodwill on our balance sheet for the SLT operating segment, primarily due to the decline in the Company s market capitalization that occurred over a period of approximately six months prior to the impairment review and, to a lesser extent, a decrease in the forecasted future cash flows used in the income approach. Further declines in our stock prices in the future as well as any marked decline in our level of revenues or gross margins increase the risk that goodwill and intangible assets may become impaired in future periods. We cannot accurately predict the amount and timing of any impairment of assets.

# Litigation or claims regarding intellectual property rights may be time consuming, expensive and require a significant amount of resources to prosecute, defend or make our products non-infringing.

Third parties have asserted and may in the future assert claims or initiate litigation related to patent, copyright, trademark and other intellectual property rights to technologies and related standards that are relevant to our products. For example, in 2003, Toshiba Corporation filed a lawsuit against us, alleging that our products infringe certain Toshiba patents. The asserted claims and/or initiated litigation may include claims against us or our manufacturers, suppliers or customers, alleging infringement of their proprietary rights with respect to our products. Regardless of the merit of these claims, they can be time-consuming, result in costly litigation and may require us to develop non-infringing technologies or enter into license agreements. Furthermore, because of the potential for high awards of damages or injunctive relief that are not necessarily predictable, even arguably unmeritorious claims may be settled for significant amounts of money. If any infringement or other intellectual property claim made against us by any third party is successful, if we are required to settle litigation for significant amounts of money, or if we fail to develop

non-infringing technology or license required proprietary rights on commercially reasonable terms and conditions, our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

# The long sales and implementation cycles for our products, as well as our expectation that some customers will sporadically place large orders with short lead times, may cause our revenues and operating results to vary significantly from quarter to quarter.

A customer s decision to purchase certain of our products involves a significant commitment of its resources and a lengthy evaluation and product qualification process. As a result, the sales cycle may be lengthy. In particular, customers making critical decisions regarding the design and implementation of large or next-generation networks may engage in very lengthy procurement processes that may delay or impact expected future orders. Throughout the sales cycle, we may spend considerable time educating and providing information to prospective customers regarding the use and benefits of our products. Even after making the decision to purchase, customers may deploy our products slowly and deliberately. Timing of deployment can vary widely and depends on the skill set of the customer, the size of the network deployment, the complexity of the customer s network environment and the degree of hardware and operating system configuration necessary to deploy the products. Customers with large networks usually expand their networks in large increments on a periodic basis. Accordingly, we may receive purchase orders for significant dollar amounts on an irregular basis. These long cycles, as well as our expectation that customers will tend to sporadically place large orders with short lead times, may cause revenues and operating results to vary significantly and unexpectedly from quarter to quarter.

# We are dependent on sole source and limited source suppliers for several key components, which makes us susceptible to shortages or price fluctuations in our supply chain and we may face increased challenges in supply chain management in the future.

With the current demand for electronic products, component shortages are possible and the predictability of the availability of such components may be limited. Growth in our business and the economy is likely to create greater pressures on us and our suppliers to accurately project overall component demand and to establish optimal component levels. If shortages or delays persist, the price of these components may increase, or the components may not be available at all. We may not be able to secure enough components at reasonable prices or of acceptable quality to build new products in a timely manner and our revenues and gross margins could suffer until other sources can be developed. For example, throughout the first quarter of 2006 we experienced component shortages that resulted in delays of shipments of product until late in the quarter and in an increase in our day sales outstanding. We currently purchase numerous key components, including application-specific integrated circuits ( ASICs ), from single or limited sources. The development of alternate sources for those components is time consuming, difficult and costly. In addition, the lead times associated with certain components are lengthy and preclude rapid changes in quantities and delivery schedules. In the event of a component shortage or supply interruption from these suppliers, we may not be able to develop alternate or second sources in a timely manner. If, as a result, we are unable to buy these components in quantities sufficient to meet our requirements on a timely basis, we will not be able to deliver product to our customers, which would seriously impact present and future sales, which would, in turn, adversely affect our business.

In addition, the development, licensing or acquisition of new products in the future may increase the complexity of supply chain management. Failure to effectively manage the supply of key components and products would adversely affect our business.

# We are dependent on contract manufacturers with whom we do not have long-term supply contracts, and changes to those relationships, expected or unexpected, may result in delays or disruptions that could cause us to lose revenue and damage our customer relationships.

We depend primarily on independent contract manufacturers (each of whom is a third party manufacturer for numerous companies) to manufacture our products. Although we have contracts with our contract manufacturers, those contracts do not require them to manufacture our products on a long-term basis in any specific quantity or at any specific price. In addition, it is time consuming and costly to qualify and implement additional contract manufacturer relationships. Therefore, if we should fail to effectively manage our contract manufacturer relationships or if one or more of them should experience delays, disruptions or quality control problems in our manufacturing operations, or if we had to change or add additional contract manufacturers or contract manufacturing sites, our ability to ship products to our customers could be delayed. Also, the addition of manufacturing locations or contract manufacturers would increase the complexity of our supply chain management. Moreover, an increasing portion of our manufacturing is

performed in China and other countries and is therefore subject to risks associated with doing business in other countries. Each of these factors could adversely affect our business and financial results. *Integration of past acquisitions and future acquisitions could disrupt our business and harm our financial condition and stock price and may dilute the ownership of our stockholders.* 

We have made, and may continue to make, acquisitions in order to enhance our business. In 2005 we completed the acquisitions of Funk, Acorn, Peribit, Redline and Kagoor. Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including problems combining the purchased operations, technologies or products, unanticipated costs, diversion of management s attention from our core businesses, adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers, risks associated with entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience and potential loss of key employees. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully integrate any businesses, products, technologies or personnel that we might acquire. The integration of businesses that we have acquired has

61

been, and will continue to be, a complex, time consuming and expensive process. For example, although we completed the acquisition of NetScreen in April 2004, integration of the NetScreen products is a continuing activity and will be for the foreseeable future. Acquisitions may also require us to issue common stock that dilutes the ownership of our current stockholders, assume liabilities, record goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets that will be subject to impairment testing on a regular basis and potential periodic impairment charges, incur amortization expenses related to certain intangible assets, and incur large and immediate write-offs and restructuring and other related expenses, all of which could harm our operating results and financial condition.

In addition, if we fail in our integration efforts with respect to any of our acquisitions and are unable to efficiently operate as a combined organization utilizing common information and communication systems, operating procedures, financial controls and human resources practices, our business and financial condition may be adversely affected. *We expect gross margin to vary over time and our recent level of product gross margin may not be sustainable.* 

Our product gross margins will vary from quarter to quarter and the recent level of gross margins may not be sustainable and may be adversely affected in the future by numerous factors, including product mix shifts, increased price competition in one or more of the markets in which we compete, increases in material or labor costs, excess product component or obsolescence charges from our contract manufacturers, increased costs due to changes in component pricing or charges incurred due to component holding periods if our forecasts do not accurately anticipate product demand, warranty related issues, or our introduction of new products or entry into new markets with different pricing and cost structures.

# We are required to expense equity compensation given to our employees, which has reduced our reported earnings, will significantly harm our operating results in future periods and may reduce our stock price and our ability to effectively utilize equity compensation to attract and retain employees.

We historically have used stock options as a significant component of our employee compensation program in order to align employees interests with the interests of our stockholders, encourage employee retention, and provide competitive compensation packages. The Financial Accounting Standards Board has adopted changes that require companies to record a charge to earnings for employee stock option grants and other equity incentives. We adopted this standard effective January 1, 2006. By causing us to record significantly increased compensation costs, such accounting changes have reduced, and will continue to reduce, our reported earnings, will significantly harm our operating results in future periods, and may require us to reduce the availability and amount of equity incentives provided to employees, which may make it more difficult for us to attract, retain and motivate key personnel. Moreover, if securities analysts, institutional investors and other investors adopt financial models that include stock option expense in their primary analysis of our financial results, our stock price could decline as a result of reliance on these models with higher expense calculations. Each of these results could materially and adversely affect our business.

### Our ability to process orders and ship products is dependent in part on our business systems and upon interfaces with the systems of third parties such as our suppliers or other partners. If our systems, the systems of those third parties or the interfaces between them fail, our business processes could be impacted and our financial results could be harmed.

Some of our business processes depend upon our information technology systems and on interfaces with the systems of third parties. For example, our order entry system feeds information into the systems of our contract manufacturers, which enables them to build and ship our products. If those systems fail, our processes may function at a diminished level or not at all. This could negatively impact our ability to ship products or otherwise operate our business, and our financial results could be harmed. For example, although it did not adversely affect our shipments, an earthquake in late December of 2006 disrupted communications with China, where a significant part of our manufacturing occurs.

### Our products are highly technical and if they contain undetected errors, our business could be adversely affected and we might have to defend lawsuits or pay damages in connection with any alleged or actual failure of our products and services.

Our products are highly technical and complex, are critical to the operation of many networks and, in the case of our security products, provide and monitor network security and may protect valuable information. Our products have

contained and may contain one or more undetected errors, defects or security vulnerabilities. Some errors in our products may only be discovered after a product has been installed and used by end customers. Any errors or security vulnerabilities discovered in our products after commercial release could result in loss of revenues or delay in revenue recognition, loss of customers and increased service and warranty cost, any of which could adversely affect our business and results of operations. In addition, we could face claims for product liability, tort or breach of warranty. Defending a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, is costly and may divert management s attention. In addition, if our business liability insurance coverage is inadequate or future coverage is unavailable on acceptable terms or at all, our financial condition could be harmed.

62

# A breach of network security could harm public perception of our security products, which could cause us to lose revenues.

If an actual or perceived breach of network security occurs in the network of a customer of our security products, regardless of whether the breach is attributable to our products, the market perception of the effectiveness of our products could be harmed. This could cause us to lose current and potential end customers or cause us to lose current and potential value-added resellers and distributors. Because the techniques used by computer hackers to access or sabotage networks change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques.

# If our products do not interoperate with our customers networks, installations will be delayed or cancelled and could harm our business.

Our products are designed to interface with our customers existing networks, each of which have different specifications and utilize multiple protocol standards and products from other vendors. Many of our customers networks contain multiple generations of products that have been added over time as these networks have grown and evolved. Our products will be required to interoperate with many or all of the products within these networks as well as future products in order to meet our customers requirements. If we find errors in the existing software or defects in the hardware used in our customers networks, we may have to modify our software or hardware to fix or overcome these errors so that our products will interoperate and scale with the existing software and hardware, which could be costly and negatively impact our operating results. In addition, if our products do not interoperate with those of our customers networks, demand for our products could be adversely affected, orders for our products could be cancelled or our products could be returned. This could hurt our operating results, damage our reputation and seriously harm our business and prospects.

# Due to the global nature of our operations, economic or social conditions or changes in a particular country or region could adversely affect our sales or increase our costs and expenses, which could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition.

We conduct significant sales and customer support operations directly and indirectly through our distributors and value-added resellers in countries throughout the world and also depend on the operations of our contract manufacturers and suppliers that are located inside and outside of the United States. Accordingly, our future results could be materially adversely affected by a variety of uncontrollable and changing factors including, among others, political or social unrest, natural disasters, epidemic disease, war, or economic instability in a specific country or region, trade protection measures and other regulatory requirements which may affect our ability to import or export our products from various countries, service provider and government spending patterns affected by political considerations and difficulties in staffing and managing international operations. Any or all of these factors could have a material adverse impact on our revenue, costs, expenses, results of operations and financial condition.

# We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates which could negatively affect our financial results and cash flows.

Because a majority of our business is conducted outside the United States, we face exposure to adverse movements in non-US currency exchange rates. These exposures may change over time as business practices evolve and could have a material adverse impact on our financial results and cash flows.

The majority of our revenues and expenses are transacted in US Dollars. We also have some transactions that are denominated in foreign currencies, primarily the Japanese Yen, Hong Kong Dollar, British Pound and the Euro, related to our sales and service operations outside of the United States. An increase in the value of the US Dollar could increase the real cost to our customers of our products in those markets outside the United States where we sell in US Dollars, and a weakened dollar could increase the cost of local operating expenses and procurement of raw materials to the extent we must purchase components in foreign currencies.

Currently, we hedge only those currency exposures associated with certain assets and liabilities denominated in nonfunctional currencies and periodically will hedge anticipated foreign currency cash flows. The hedging activities undertaken by us are intended to offset the impact of currency fluctuations on certain nonfunctional currency assets and liabilities. If our attempts to hedge against these risks are not successful, our net income could be adversely impacted.

# Our products incorporate and rely upon licensed third-party technology and if licenses of third-party technology do not continue to be available to us or become very expensive, our revenues and ability to develop and introduce new products could be adversely affected.

We integrate licensed third-party technology into certain of our products. From time to time, we may be required to license additional technology from third parties to develop new products or product enhancements. Third-party licenses may not be available

or continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms. Our inability to maintain or re-license any third-party licenses required in our products or our inability to obtain third-party licenses necessary to develop new products and product enhancements, could require us to obtain substitute technology of lower quality or performance standards or at a greater cost, any of which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. *Our success depends upon our ability to effectively plan and manage our resources and restructure our business through rapidly fluctuating economic and market conditions.* 

Our ability to successfully offer our products and services in a rapidly evolving market requires an effective planning, forecasting, and management process to enable us to effectively scale our business and adjust our business in response to fluctuating market opportunities and conditions. In periods of market expansion, we have increased investment in our business by, for example, increasing headcount and increasing our investment in research and development and other parts of our business. Conversely, during 2001 and 2002, in response to downward trending industry and market conditions, we restructured our business and reduced our workforce. Many of our expenses, such as real estate expenses, can not be rapidly or easily adjusted as a result of fluctuations in our business or numbers of employees. Moreover, rapid changes in the size of our workforce could adversely affect the ability to develop and deliver products and services as planned or impair our ability to realize our current or future business objectives. *We are subject to risks arising from our international operations.* 

We derive a majority of our revenues from our international operations, and we plan to continue expanding our business in international markets in the future. As a result of our international operations, we are affected by economic, regulatory and political conditions in foreign countries, including changes in IT spending generally, the imposition of government controls, changes or limitations in trade protection laws, unfavorable changes in tax treaties or laws, natural disasters, labor unrest, earnings expatriation restrictions, misappropriation of intellectual property, acts of terrorism and continued unrest in many regions and other factors, which could have a material impact on our international revenues and operations. In particular, in some countries we may experience reduced intellectual property protection. Moreover, local laws and customs in many countries differ significantly from those in the United States. In many foreign countries, particularly in those with developing economies, it is common for others to engage in business practices that are prohibited by our internal policies and procedures or United States regulations applicable to us. Although we implement policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with these laws and policies, there can be no assurance that all of our employees, contractors or agents could result in financial reporting problems, fines, penalties, or prohibition on the importation or exportation of our products and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

# While we believe that we currently have adequate internal control over financial reporting, we are exposed to risks from legislation requiring companies to evaluate those internal controls.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires our management to report on, and our independent auditors to attest to, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. We have an ongoing program to perform the system and process evaluation and testing necessary to comply with these requirements. We have and will continue to incur significant expenses and devote management resources to Section 404 compliance on an ongoing basis. In the event that our chief executive officer, chief financial officer or independent registered public accounting firm determine in the future that our internal controls over financial reporting are not effective as defined under Section 404, investor perceptions may be adversely affected and could cause a decline in the market price of our stock.

#### Governmental regulations affecting the import or export of products could negatively affect our revenues.

The United States and various foreign governments have imposed controls, export license requirements and restrictions on the import or export of some technologies, especially encryption technology. In addition, from time to time, governmental agencies have proposed additional regulation of encryption technology, such as requiring the escrow and governmental recovery of private encryption keys. Governmental regulation of encryption technology and regulation of imports or exports, or our failure to obtain required import or export approval for our products, could harm our international and domestic sales and adversely affect our revenues.

#### Regulation of the telecommunications industry could harm our operating results and future prospects.

The telecommunications industry is highly regulated and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected by the changes in the regulations relating to the telecommunications industry. Currently, there are few laws or regulations that apply directly to access to or commerce on IP networks. We could be adversely affected by regulation of IP networks and commerce in any country where we operate. Such regulations could address matters such as voice over the Internet or using Internet Protocol, encryption technology, and access charges for service providers. In addition, regulations have been adopted with respect to environmental matters, such as the Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) and Restriction of the Use of Certain Hazardous Substances in Electrical and Electronic Equipment (RoHS) regulations adopted by the European Union, as well as regulations prohibiting government entities from purchasing security products that do not meet specified local certification criteria. Compliance with such regulations may be costly and time-consuming for us and our suppliers and partners. The adoption and implementation of such regulations could decrease demand for our products, and at the same time could increase the cost of building and selling our products as well as impact our ability to ship products into affected areas and recognize revenue in a timely manner, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

# Changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income or other tax returns could adversely affect our results.

Our future effective tax rates could be adversely affected by earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where we have lower statutory rates and higher than anticipated earnings in countries where we have higher statutory rates, by changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, or by changes in tax laws or interpretations thereof. In addition, we are subject to the continuous examination of our income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities. We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes. There can be no assurance that the outcomes from these continuous examinations will not have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

#### Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

The annual meeting of stockholders of Juniper Networks, Inc. was held on May 18, 2006 at 1220 N. Mathilda Ave., Sunnyvale, California. The results of the voting on the matters submitted to the stockholders are as follows:

1. To elect three members of the Company s Board of Directors.

	Votes For	Withheld
Scott Kriens	475,527,212	20,224,555
Stratton Sclavos	352,088,449	143,683,318
William R. Stensrud	450,035,369	45,736,398
		1.

2. To ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent auditors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2006.

Votes for:	488,338,997
Votes against:	7,203,385
Abstain:	229,383
3 To approve the Juniper Networks Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan including approx	val of its material terms

3. To approve the Juniper Networks, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, including approval of its material terms and performance goals for purposes of Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m).

Votes for:		321,800,004
Votes against:		76,103,624
Abstain:		260,399
	65	

## Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit			
Number	Description of Document		
3.1	Juniper Networks, Inc. Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2001)		
3.2	Amended and Restated Bylaws of Juniper Networks, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2003)		
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934		
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934		
32.1	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002		
32.2	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002		
66			

### SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant had duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Juniper Networks, Inc. March 9, 2007

By: /s/ Robert R.B. Dykes Robert R.B. Dykes Chief Financial Officer (Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 67

## **Exhibit Index**

Exhibit	
Number	Description of Document
3.1	Juniper Networks, Inc. Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2001)
3.2	Amended and Restated Bylaws of Juniper Networks, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2003)
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
32.1	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002